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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

Statements contained in this Report on FormKl€egarding our expectations, beliefs, estimatesgentions c
strategies are forwardoking statements within the meaning of SectioA &7 the Securities Act and Section 21E
the Exchange Act and include statements regardurgptans to conduct trials of our IP voice teleph@ervice
offering with follow- on video capabilities; our research and developrm&ms for our various product groups;
expectation concerning the adequacy of our fagdjtiour estimates of litigation exposure and oliefseabout th
sufficiency of our manufacturing arrangements. falward{ooking statements included in this Report are tham
information available to us on the date hereof, amdassume no obligation to update any such fornlcaking
statements. You should not place undue reliancéhese forwardeoking statements. Actual results could di
materially from those anticipated in these forwkooking statements as a result of a number of factacluding
shifting of internal research and development fdzased on changes in the market or adequacy oinfgina failure o
customers to adopt iPBX systems due to concernata¥olP technology or advances in competing systemns
business may grow in an unanticipated manner cgusinto require different types of facilities; ardry cours
litigation may cause a greater than anticipatedaichmlue to factual matters or issues beyond outr@prand ou
ability to source our products may be interruptedur manufacturers cease operations or no longsiral to d
business with us. Please also see the sectiotedrtftactors That May Affect Future Results" foddinal risks the
may impact our business.

8x8, Inc., or 8x8, and its subsidiaries (collediyyehe Company) develop and market telecommurdoatiechnolog
for Internet Protocol, or IP, telephony and vidgplecations. The Company has three product linegcevand vide
semiconductors and related software; softwareithpliements the functionality of a private branclcleenge, or PB>
over data networks; and videophones, telephones@mndunication services that work over broadbardowks. The
Company has two primary subsidiaries, Netergy Mitzotronics, Inc., or Netergy, and Centile, Inc.Centile, the
comprise two of its three product lines. In Febyu2002, we announced that we were beginning a it ¢o adc
video capabilities to Netergy's existing family wice-overtP, or VolP, semiconductors, along with softwarel
systems support for the latest compression staadardideo.

Netergy, formed in December 2000, provides voicg ideo semiconductors and related communicatidtwace tc
original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, of thtapes, terminal adapters, and other endpoint conuatior



devices and to other semiconductor companies. fesetechnologies are used to make IP telephorgsnadia huk
and to voiceenable cable and digital subscriber line, or DSlgdems, wireless devices, and other broad
technologies. Netergy's video semiconductors aesl s applications such as communication termiii@siuding
videophones, telephones and room videoconferensysgems) that allow video communication over tetey
networks, a company's internal networks (e.g.callarea network, or LAN) and the Internet.

Centile, formed in March 2001, develops and marketsted iPBX solutions that allow service provideroffer, tc
small and mediunsized businesses over broadband networks, therésaand functions found in a typical busir
phone system. A hosted iPBX solution is a softwapplication that implements the functionality obasiness phot
system over the same data connection that a bgsuses for connection to the Internet. The phoseery softwar
runs on servers that are located at a centraladater so that the only phone system equipmentighraguired at tf
customer site are telephones. Centile's hosted iRBtion was commercially released and becamergiynavailable
in March 2001.

At the parent company level, 8x8 is developinghiisd product line that includes consumer video@mrelephone
and communication software and services that wor&r doroadband networks. In January 2002, the Cow
announced two new consumer products, the DV324toleskdeophone, a videophone for analog phone liaed th:
BehindU privacy peripheral for personal computers. In Blmber 2001, 8x8 announced its enhanced Service
Execution Environment, or eSLEE, a highrformance service logic and execution engine ghatides a framewo
for deploying scalable telecommunications applamai The eSLEE succeeds the service creation emvent, o
SCE, technology that 8x8 acquired as a result efatquisition of U|Force, Inc. in fiscal 2001. Imam2002, 8x
announced that it was developing an end-to-endrnetbased voice and video communications platform andice
the Packet8 IP telephony platform and service,dapen 8x8's eSLEE and related technology.

The Company was founded as Integrated Informatechiology, Inc. in 1987 and completed its initiabjic offering
on July 2, 1997 under the name 8x8, Inc. In Au@@§l0, the Company changed its name to Netergy Nksyinc.
but subsequently changed it back to 8x8, Inc. in 2001.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

Traditional telecommunication networks use a fiedekctrical path that travels through a series afches across ti
network. These networks were designed solely toydamw-fidelity audio signals with a high level of relidiby.
Although these networks are indeed reliable foir tingially intended use, these networks are netl\wuited to servic
the explosive growth of digital communications apgions.

Traditional networks transmit data at very low saad resolutions, making them poorly suited fdivdeng high-
fidelity audio, entertainmerguality video or other rich multimedia content. diteonal networks are also expensivi
build because each subscriber's telephone musidbadually connected to the central office switethich is usuall
several miles away from a typical subscriber's tiooa The digital component of the traditional tmenmunication
infrastructure is also less efficient than modeetworks because it allots fixed bandwidth throughtbe duration ¢
each call, whether or not voice is actually beirmnsmitted. Further, it is difficult for telecommioation servic
providers to provide new or differentiated servioegunctions, like video communications, that tretwork was nc
designed to accommodate.

In contrast to the traditional telecommunicationfdstructure or public switched telephone netw(®&STN), dat
networks -- such as the Internet or a corporate LANilize a "packeswitched" system in which information betw
two communicating terminals (for example, a PC doading a page from a web server) is transmittetthénform o
small data packets that travel through a serieswofches, routers, and hubs across the networkkeRawitchec
networks have been built mainly for carrying noal#teme data. The advantages of such networks are éffeiency
flexibility, and scalability. Bandwidth is only ceamed when needed. Networks can be built in a tyad
configurations to suit the number of users, clester application requirements and desired avbilabf bandwidth
Furthermore, many terminals can share the sameection to the network. The exponential growth @& thternet i
recent years has proven the scalability of thestenying packet networks. The most common protacsd fo
communicating on these packet networks is IntePnetocol, or IP.

As broadband connectivity has become more availabteless expensive, it is now possible for serpiceiders ti



offer voice and video services that run over thi&saetworks to businesses and consumers. Provgling service
has the potential to both substantially lower tlostof telephone and equipment costs to these rogstoand t
increase the breadth of features available to tioeuser. Services like full-motion, tweay video are now suppori
by the bandwidth spectrum commonly available toaland customers, whether business or resideta¢nabl
such new products to take hold, service and equipswgpliers need semiconductor products and softteaconnes
input and output devices to the networks and thiewace that runs on the network that enables theget/outpu
devices to be easily installed, operated, and nethags well as to replace common functionalitieghef legac
switched network, such as billing and operatorfdogy assistance.

TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCTS

The Company has developed a broad range of comationictechnologies, including semiconductors, erdbe
software, system designs, telephony call manages@ftware, and consumer voice and video systemntseitnabl
communication services over IP networks.

The Company has leveraged its technologies to dpvile following product lines: semiconductors @mdbedde
software designed for IP telephony and videoconfang applications, developed and marketed by Ngidnoste:
iPBX solutions, developed and marketed by Cengite consumer systems and communication softwarsemetes
developed and marketed by 8x8.

SEMICONDUCTORS AND EMBEDDED SOFTWARE

Netergy develops and markets a range of techngboggucts, including semiconductors, embedded soéwsyster
software, and reference designs, that allow telesonication equipment OEMSs to: i) build voice andeo IP phone
i) build IP-to-analog phone adapter products, and iii) add Ipke&lry functions to DSL, cable, and wireless mod
Additionally, Netergy provides semiconductors amibedded software for use in videoconferencing appbns. Th
following sections describe Netergy's technology products in more detail.

Technology

SEMICONDUCTOR ARCHITECTURE --Netergy's semiconductors are based on programmplieessc
architectures that enable implementation of IPptebmy and videoconferencing applications in a lyigéfficient
manner. Netergy's semiconductor architectures em@@-bit reduced instruction set computer, or RI
microprocessor cores, which execute the embeddplicajions software. Some of Netergy's semicondsctisc
employ a 64bkit Single Instruction Multiple Data, or SIMD, dtgl signal processor, or DSP, to accelerate thelgi
of signal processing intensive operations. FurtleeenNetergy's Audacity2 and T2U semiconductors benefit fr
the unique feature of not requiring any externaA&FRor DRAM to operate.

Netergy's RISC processor cores use a proprietatyuiction set specifically designed for multimed@mmunicatio
applications. The RISC cores control the overalb dperation and manage the input/output interthceugh a variet
of specialized ports that connect the chip direttlyexternal host, audio, and network subsystemg. dores ai
programmable in the C programming language anavatiosstomers to add their own features and funclitynia@ the
device software provided by Netergy. Netergy's D&Re architecture is a SIMD processor that implas
computationally intensive video, audio, and graphicocessing routines as well as certain digitahrooinicatiol
protocols. The DSP cores are programmable withoprg@tary instruction set consisting of variablagéh 32bit anc
64-bit microcode instructions that provide the flektyito improve algorithm performance, enhance auaid vide
guality, and maintain compliance with changing @ibaudio, video, graphics, and communication prokstandard
The DSP cores access their instructions throughngamnal bus that interfaces to on-chip SRAM anddrenly
memory, or ROM, that is pre-programmed with vided audio processing subroutines.

EMBEDDED SOFTWARE -Netergy has developed a broad range of embedg#itatmpn software that runs on
semiconductor products. Netergy's application safénallows the use of its semiconductors in systiaitsconform t
various emerging and established internationaptelay standards for audio and video encoders anddees (als
known as codecs) and call signaling protocols. &yning its software, Netergy can enhance quabiydress ne
standards, and add significant features and fumglity to systems that contain the semiconductadpcts. i
addition, certain customers have licensed sourde tmwhich they add proprietary features and castaerfaces an



in some cases, port to other semiconductor or peacearchitectures.

Call signaling protocol stacks are complex softwan@grams required to make voice calls over IP pdtg; including
the Internet. Codecs format and compress digitdlcaand video signals so they can be representddetiitiently
transmitted in a digital form. Developing functiénéIP and video software and obtaining interopéitgbwith other
VoIP and video systems requires significant devalept time, which is why many OEMs choose to licehsasteac
Netergy's protocol stacks support the four mostroomly deployed VolP protocols, along with sevenexsd

Netergy is also developing new video compressigorahm technology that is based on the H.26L stathdThe
H.26L standard is a new algorithm being jointly gfied by standards bodies in the Internationale€ehferencin
Union, or ITU, and the Motion Pictures Expert Grpop MPEG, with the goal of improving video comsies ratio:
by a factor of two against any current video aldjon specification at any bit rate. For a givenraie, implementatiol
of the new H.26L video codec are expected to imgrive picture quality of video streaming, telephoamc
entertainment applications beyond the quality ofipes that are available today from either the KBFEEor MPEG4
algorithms.

SYSTEM DESIGN --Netergy has developed expertise in integratingetsiconductors and software with peripr
components to produce complete IP telephony andimedia communication systems. Netergy's systemnigogy
consists of modular subsystems that can be comlainddearranged to interface to various networkdsh(ss analc
telephone, ISDN, Ethernet LAN, wireless, and horagwvorks) and to various telephony devices, sucthasanalo
phones in a home or FAX machines in an office emrirent.

Products

AUDACITY-T2 IP TELEPHONY PROCESSOR -- The Audacity* semiconductor performs the digital proces
functions required to build an IP phone, includiogmatting digital audio data for transmission opacket network
(such as Ethernet, the Internet, DSL links andtaligiable systems). The chip can also be used arptwt analo
telephone terminal adapters or gateway applications

AUDACITY-T2U IP TELEPHONY PROCESSOR -- The AudacitU semiconductor has all of the functionality
the Audacity-T2 processor but runs at faster preingsspeeds, features more @rip memory, and contains an €.
interface for connecting the chip to interfaces onwmnly found on DSL modem chipsets. The additionaiclip
memory and higher processing speed enable the Auddl) to address more advanced products, sudhigherenc
IP phones and four-port terminal adapters or gagewa

VERACITY SOFTWARE --The Veracity software suite is a comprehensivekage of VolP call control protoco
standard network protocols, and audio processingtions. Veracity software stacks can run on either Audacit
family of semiconductors or on thiqgharty VolP processors. These stacks are desigrmedoii competitive, hic
quality applications, including VolP/VoDSL gatewaydhernet PBXs, and IP phones.

VP7 AUDIO COMPRESSION ENGINE -The VP7 audio compression engine, or VP7, is dhggizable core th
can be integrated into custom semiconductor des@madd voice compression capability (e.qg., teleghapplications
For example, the VP7 has been integrated into Srhdlictronics’ STV0397 semiconductor. The VP7 iseldasr
Netergy's proprietary DSP architecttL

REFERENCE DESIGN KITS -Netergy currently supplies the following referertssign kits for its semiconduc
products:

e The Media Hub MH2 reference design is a two-line|R/gateway based on the Audacity-T2 processor. It
supports two analog telephone interfaces, a 10¥IG)@s Ethernet port, and a simple LCD display.

o The IP phone reference design includes plastiggadd display, and handset and is based on thecRydE2
processor.

e The Media Hub MHXx reference design is similar te MiH2; however, it is based on the Audacity-T2U
processor and supports up to four analog telephmedaces.

Netergy's reference design kits are intended teesas prototype system products and allow a custoémnkeverag



Netergy's system design expertise to acceleratetine to market with new products. Each referenesigh it
provided with schematics, bills of materials, or B§ documentation, embedded software, and a sd
development environment that enables a customaldanew features and otherwise customize the sedtwa

VIDEOCONFERENCING SEMICONDUCTORS -Netergy's family of videoconferencing semicondustmclude
the VCP, LVP, VPIC, and VCPex. These semiconductmesused in H.323, H.320, and H.324 videoconfeng
applications, including group videoconferencing teyss, personal computer, or PC, videophone iaddeards
consumer videophones, and video monitoring systérhese semiconductors are based on Netergy's etap
architecture, which combines a custom RISC microgseor, a high performance DSP core, SRAM, andrigtapy
software on a single chip. The integrated semicotmis perform the core processing functions reguivg LAN,
ISDN, and analog telephor&sed video communication and other digital vidppliaations. Revenues derived fr
the sale of videoconferencing semiconductor praduere $4.1 million, $9.5 million and $11.3 millidor the fisca
years ended March 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respbctiRevenues derived from videoconferencing tetdgy
licenses and related maintenance revenues, agsvedlyalties earned under such licenses, the magdrivhich wer:
non+ecurring in nature, were $3.6 million, $3.1 milli@and $4.3 million for the fiscal years ended Magdh 200z
2001 and 2000, respectively.

HOSTED IPBX SOLUTIONS

Centile has developed and markets a hosted iPBXwh a softwaradriven telephony solution that allows netw
service providers and PBX resellers to offer PBKctionality as a business communication service bv@adband |
networks. The following sections describe Centtiethnology and products in more detail.

Technology

Typically, today's businesses require an individphbne for each office worker. The phones includeious
productivity functions, such as voicemail, transéad hold capability, and other services. Small aredliumsizec
enterprises will generally deploy dozens of sucbnas. Until recently, there were two ways that hesses cou
obtain this type of phone service: i) subscribeCentrex services from their local telephone compamyii) buy ¢
dedicated piece of hardware that operates as adassPBX system. In a Centrex service, the telepltompan
provides a telephone line from its central offieetsh for each "extension" and associates all eflihes with a centr
number assigned to the business. Centrex, howsealges poorly for both regulatory and architectueasons. It
expensive on a per-line basis when compared tormrgeowned PBXs, which typically deliver additiol
functionality as well. In addition, Centrex senga@o not offer the ability for easy integrationtwg@omputer progranm
require long lead times to implement service changed are difficult to manage.

Rather than subscribe to individual telephone lifteseach employee (as with Centrex), most comgapigchase
dedicated PBX system, a telephone switch that alldezens or hundreds of employees to share a f@ming an:
outgoing telephone lines, resulting in a more @fit use of those lines. Traditional PBXs use dirswitchec
technology and must be installed on the enterpisenise because every phone is connected to inbpdividua
cable. These systems are expensive (from $20,02@0,000 or more, depending on the number of eidan)
difficult to manage, maintain, and use, typicaltguire vendospecific telephones and cannot be easily integnatt
data processing systems. Suppliers have recerityedf versions of these dedicated PBXs that rum av@mpany
LAN. Often, these offerings have the same costsdaadbacks of the legacy PBX systems.

With the availability of broadband IP connectivily businesses, however, a third alternative hasrgade hoste
iIPBX services. In this model, the service providelivers PBX functionality over an IP connectioigh reduces tt
scaling problems by allowing many extensions toreske single connection. This solution also offer@ngnof the
advantages of an enterprisemed PBX and further enables integration with gaise data processing systems
support of call centers, while eliminating the talpiand maintenance investments required for dezticansite
hardware that provides the PBX functionality.

TELEPHONY CALL MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE --Centile's telephony call management software (X
server software, hosted iIPBX, or iPBX) uses an &work for its switching fabric and media conneatip ani
provides the call routing, setup, and teardown s&agy to establish a connection between two tetmioa an Il
network. It also provides a variety of more complRX features such as call transfers, -based control, voic



message retrieval, and conferencing.

The iPBX software runs on a cluster of cargeade server platforms that are located in a datdec. A cluste
typically consists of both active and backup sesvBiach active server runs several copies or ‘ies& of the iPB.
software simultaneously. Each instance is dedictieal particular enterprise end customer. The saruster in th
data center is linked to customer sites with aaedd broadband IP link such as a T1 line. On tstomer premis
terminal adapters or IP telephones are connectttett link via an IP router and Ethernet hubswitches. Termini
adapters connect standard analog telephones amdafetxines to the IP network.

To address scalability and reliability issues, @entses a modular and distributed architectureéHeriPBX system. |
this architecture, a single instance of the iPBXeesoftware provides complete PBX functional®ysingle instanc
is designed to support approximately 100 extensidimss limitation minimizes both the processing aeipy anc
memory requirements of the server platform, allgniess powerful, less expensive servers to be Ueltiple iPBX
instances can be run on each server and largempeaés can be served by combining instances tegeéthform
single larger PBX. The system can be scaled inadivestpacity by adding more servers.

Much of the flexibility of the iPBX is due to these of abstraction layers between the core iPBXrengnd th
devices with which it interfaces and controls. Tiow it to interface to a variety of different t@leone sets, PST1
gateways, and softswitches, the iPBX uses softdavers that support various industry standard paghrietary ca
setup and teardown protocols. Currently, the iPBEp®rts session initiation protocol, or SIP, meghdeway contr(
protocol, or MGCP, H.323v2, and a variety of thparty proprietary protocols.

To allow easy integration with computer programesnfputer telephony integration, or CTI), the iPBXpparts Su
Microsystems' Java Telephony Application Prograterface, or JTAPI, version 1.3 for telephony calhtol. JTAP
provides an industry standard series of functidls ¢a allow computer programs to control PBXs framore than or
manufacturer. Computer programs interfaced to 8% Right provide a graphical user interface to mékeasier t
transfer calls or initiate conference calls, orythmight connect a company's customer relationshgnagemei
software directly to the phone system, displayingtemer information on a computer screen whendhstomer call
for support.

The iPBX solution was designed to address the stimings of traditional Centrex service offeringsaimumber ¢
ways as described below:

e The use of an IP network allows the iPBX to scalatively easily and economically because subsigiban
add additional extensions without adding a newecédnl each extension. Client devices such as Ilrghand
media hubs can be plugged into a company's exik#i

e The iPBX uses an IP network instead of a circuiitc&ved one so it can be located in the serviceiges'\s data
center which may be miles away from the customegrprise premise and connected to it by only alsing
broadband IP link.

¢ The redundancies built into the system increaseliability, particularly when compared to entesprowned
PBXs.

Products

IPBX SERVER SOFTWARE -The Centile iPBX server software runs on a clusfdive Sun Microsystems carr
grade server platforms and provides software PBiXtianality over IP networks. The iPBX software wdesigne
specifically to allow service providers to delivessted iPBX services to small and medisized business custome
The Centile iPBX allows service providers to suppgr to eighty discrete iPBXs per cluster, eachicidd to a
individual customer, and up to five thousand tetdknsions.

The server clusters running the iPBX server sofwae located in a service provider's data cehtey.connected i
the customer's premise using any broadband IP ctonethough deployments to date have generallized a T1
connection. For telephone sets, customers careuséntal adapters to adapt standard analog teleghori® service «
they can use IP phones. The iPBX server softwaneexis to the PSTN and the lordistance IP backbone throug
gateway



Service providers control and configure the iIPBXvee software via a Web interface, allowing the tey:
administrator to manage the iPBX from any locatising any workstation with a browser. The admiaistr interfac
is designed to provide control of phone number blassignments, dial plans, service provisioninggdidial phon
number assignments, iPBX status, and bandwidth gement. The iPBX supports voicemail, interactivace
response, automatic call distribution, auto attetsjadirectory service, unified messaging moduées] operatiol
service, and support, or OSS, integration.

MULTIPBX - Introduced in May 2002, the MultiPBX combines tRBX server software with a complete packac
VoIP and data equipment suited for a building owmbko desires to offer converged voice and datases\through
multi-tenant building. The product can support thousaidsser extensions in its standard configuratiod ean b
located anywhere within the building. Regular PSgines can be used with the MultiPBX and all reg@&TN
functions are supported with these phones: messageng indicator, caller ID, transfer, conferenaed others. |
phones can also be used to enable the more advleataces of the system at the user's desktopMihPBX is able
to place and receive local and long distance aa#isa PSTN gateway integrated with the producterisffice ant
telecommuter calls can be carried directly via g0él Private Network, or VPN, or directly acrobe tinternet, tht
offsetting communication costs for distant offieesl remote facilities.

MH4 & MH16 MEDIA HUBs -- Terminal adapters and media hubs are customeriggeeguipment that ad:
conventional telephony equipment, such as analegphenes and fax machines, for IP service. CentN&44 anc
MH16 media hub products support four and sixteealagnlines, or ports, respectively. Centile curiyenses its MH.
and MH16 products, along with certain IP phones tanohinal adapters developed by third partiestsrhosted iPB:
and MultiPBX business communication service deplegts.

Each media hub supports as many simultaneous coome@s it has analog lines, and multiple mediashcan b
used in an IP telephony system to provide as maeyg bs required. Because it uses a standard tonefhtelephone
both its audio and user interface, media hub-basestems are both reliable and ceffective, especially whe
compared to proprietary digital PBX telephones.

MH4 and MH16 media hubs support the MGCP IP telagisiandard with Centile extensions for adiscovery an
configuration. All media hubs deployed by Centitearporate FLASH memory for remote upgrade capglsb tha
the Centile iPBX server software can, as requinpdrade media hubs automatically via the network.

IPBX USER INTERFACE SOFTWARE €entile has announced three user interface apipisafor its hosted iPB
solution: ComCenter, Switchboard, and Administrafdl of these applications are designed to harrleegyraphic:
capabilities of personal computers and workstattoneake the hosted iPBX easy to use.

The Centile ComCenter software with Call Announsettesigned for the end users of the iPBX. It pitesiCaller IC
call transfers, conference call setup,smneen directories, contact management, and aglirlg. It also lets users
up and control their voicemail, listen to messages,call forwarding numbers and filters, and geparsonal spe:
dial numbers.

The Centile Switchboard software, or Switchboasdthe attendant interface for the IPBX. Switchboamds on

personal computer or workstation to allow attengldntroute incoming calls to an enterprise withosnpandelick
interface. Switchboard provides caller ID for mplé incoming calls, extension status, telack call transfer:
corporate voice mailbox management, and naitendant support. Its graphical interface minimizeining an
improves attendant productivity.

With the iPBX, customers control their own movesid® and changes using the Centile Administrato
Administrator. To add additional lines, the custorsienply connects an additional media hub to theéRvork. Th
Centile Auto Discovery mechanism automatically egunfes the media hub. The customer then uses Adtrator tc
assign extension numbers, associate user names;raatdk a voicemail account for each line. Admiaistr als:
allows the customer to define hunt groups, set psemissions, define phone button functions, artdvegemai
parameters, all with a point-and-click interface.

CONSUMER SYSTEMS AND COMMUNICATION SOFTWARE PLATFORM AND SERVICES



Technology

COMMUNICATION SERVICES --In order to scale IP communication networks tgdéanumbers of customers,
software that controls the communication networledse to incorporate the same infrastructure andchuag
components that have enabled the Internet to szatie current level of deployment. Whereas thetieiPBX systen
incorporates all of the configuration, network mgement, dial plans, and messaging facilities ne¢dexperate tr
system in a single coherent package appropriatea f@BX system, an IP communication network thatesc&
millions and millions of users should use standapgn services that are widely deployed today. Sechices incluc
the Internet Message Access Protocol, or IMAP, asaging interface that is used bynail clients; Domain Nan
Server, or DNS, for resolving names and addressed; Lightweight Directory Access Protocol, or LDAfRY
directory functions.

8x8 is developing a distributed service platform #® communication networks called Packet8. Packettogethe
these standard Internet services with a colleadfomultimedia endpoints, including Windows XP mexger clients
SIP phones, SIP-based 3G mobile phonestogeboxes, and legacy video devices such as H.8d3Ha324 vide
endpoints. Packet8 is built on Linux servers thiat3x8's eSLEE software and is composed of a ¢aleof softwar:
packages running on the eSLEE that serve as préowdinking Internet network resources togetherfaom an IF
communications network. These proxies are basatie@®ession Initiation Protocol, or SIP, and ineldidnctions fo
call routing, registration, messaging, firewallimetk address translation, or NAT, traversal, 91l leandling, billing
and media and gateway services. This distributeditecture also has the advantage that the softmamees ca
manage the signaling traffic between endpointhernternet infrastructure and enable endpointswoald otherwis
be unable to communicate with each other to beaperable. The distributed proxy structure alsovedl signaling ar
media traffic that would otherwise be blocked by Nér firewall configurations to traverse those obstions withou
requiring any changes to the physical NAT or firdvmaechanisms. Thus, a consumer broadband subsailte &
home gateway, who would otherwise be unable tosscZelP or video telephony media without constngt Virtua
Private Network, or VPN, to encapsulate the hontevork private IP addresses, can now connect arhti?e to th
home network without any special configuration andhediately access media services via the translatervices (
8x8's proxy architecture. Packet8 is being desigttedcomply with applicable emergency (911), eavegpmnc
(CALEA), and other regulatory requirements needgdriy broad-based communications network.

The Packet8 architecture is designed to enablesbeof video media in addition to VolIP traffic andludes a vide
voicemail function built into the SIP proxy thatncprocess video messages left by video-enabledoamdp

CONSUMER SYSTEMS -- 8x8 is reselling privateanded analog videophones and is planning tolr#sglhones
some of which are manufactured by some of Neter@¥81 semiconductor customers. These phones incaig
certain unique software modifications to the protand application code that enable them to takesiige of 8x8
Packet8 distributed IP services platform. The aagjdesign of the videophone and IP phone systsiibased on sor
of Netergy's semiconductor reference designs.

8x8 has also developed a motion detection peripht@@aBehindy workstation alert system, that can be used toa
a personal computer or other device to detect mewerand convey that information to the computingicke The
Behind-U system does not use any of Netergy's serdicctor products.

Products

DV324 DESKTOP VIDEOPHONE -8x8's DV324 product is a videophone with an inaed display and camera t
is compatible with the H.324 standard, and theeefoorks over standard analog phone lines. The pit@ee can als
be used to make a normal audio PSTN call. Contmolthe videophone and the sareen menu system enable the
to adjust the quality of the video that is sent aadeived, electronically pan/tilt/zoom the nead-end farenc
cameras, take a higlesolution snapshot image, and turn on privacy ntod#ock outgoing video. The phone supp
two sets of audio/video inputs (for connecting exié cameras, camcorders or digital cameras) aedaodio/vide
output port (for connecting an external TV or othdesplay device) and supports caller-ID, aatswer (so the pho
can be used as a monitoring device), and 10 caowfidel speed-dial numbers.

BEHIND-U WORKSTATION ALERT SYSTEM -- The Behint} system consists of an infrared motion sensoil
plugs into the keyboard port on a personal compatetr associated software. The Be-U monitors an area f



motion and relays the motion information to thetwafe application running on the PC. The softwaaa b«
configured to notify the PC user that motion hasrbdetected, or can be used to temporarily hidanfoematior
currently displayed on the computer screen.

SIP IP PHONE -- 8x8 is working with several parthéo privatelabel an IP phone that is intended to be so
conjunction with the Packet8 IP voice telephonyieess offering. The phone specifications includatfiees to suppc
multiple "virtual" lines of IP telephony, an integed Ethernet interface, speakerphone capabilitygrpmmabl
feature buttons and on-hook dialing. The phoneegghed to be compatible with other SIP protocoiabes.

PACKETS8 IP VOICE TELEPHONY SERVICE OFFERING 8x8 is planning to conduct initial trials of itaékets
voice telephony service offering, with plans tcemptate video capabilities into the service at erldate.

CUSTOMERS AND MARKETING
SEMICONDUCTORS AND EMBEDDED SOFTWARE
Customers

Netergy sells its IP telephony semiconductors, eldbd software, and reference designs to OEMs of Vari(
VoDSL products, such as Alcatel Microelectronicsl.ibDk, Ericsson and Telsey. Netergy has also seplgritense:
a VolP semiconductor core and embedded VolP soétwmBTMicroelectronics.

Netergy sells its video semiconductors and referdmmard designs to OEMs of videoconferencing systéan the
business, consumer, and video monitoring markeish s GE Interlogix, Leadtek Research, MitsubiBlolycom
Sony, and VCON Telecommunications. Leadtek Researuwh GE Interlogix represented 13% and 12% o
Company's fiscal 2002 revenues, respectively.

Sales and Marketing

Netergy markets its semiconductor, embedded saftweand reference design products through its owectdsale
force and thirdparty sales representatives. Netergy supportsoitsedtic and international direct sales efforts fiits
headquarters in Santa Clara, California and a Eaopoffice in Marlow, United Kingdom. Netergy's esalani
marketing personnel typically provide support toNDE&ustomers through its application engineeringrntead periodi
training sessions. Netergy sells its products siamers on an order-to-order basis and has temg-agreements wi
only a limited number of customers. As such, ollsleklog at any given time generally is not sigr@ifitand may n
be a reliable indicator of future revenues.

Competition

Netergy competes with both manufacturers of dig#ggjnal processing semiconductors and software yote
developed for the OEM VolP marketplace. Netergyo atompetes with manufacturers of videoconferer
semiconductors and related firmware. Intense coitpet declining average selling prices, and rafgdhnologice
changes characterize the markets for Netergy'supted The principal competitive factors in the nedrkor IF
telephony and videoconferencing semiconductorseanbedded software include product definition, poidiesigr
system integration, chip size, code size, functipnatime-todnarket, adherence to industry standards, price
reliability. Netergy has a number of competitorstiims market including: Agere Systems, Analog DesicAtmel
Broadcom, DSP Group, Motorola, Radvision, Texasrimsents/Telogy Networks, TriMedia Technologiesndond
and Zarlink Semiconductor.

HOSTED IPBX SOLUTIONS
Customers

At the beginning of 2001, we decided that the ldrgls and time-tanarket constraints of the CLEC and ser
provider market, as well as the decreasing avéiihalof cash to certain competitive local excharmgeriers, or CLEC



in the North American market, required that we paeva hosted business communication service ofetionPBX
resellers in addition to its existing service pdwmri offering. In March 2001, Centile was formedcdonduct th
operations of the hosted iPBX business and indi#ite service in conjunction with Dialink, a CLE@d®d in the S:
Francisco Bay Area. Centile is still actively markg the product to service providers in EuropeiaAsnd Nortl
America. Centile has announced licensing agreemeititsSong Networks AB, formerly Telel Europe HolgiAB,
and Oy Datatie AB, an ELISA group company.

Sales and Marketing

Centile markets the hosted iPBX software produeiugh a direct sales force. In addition, Centikermals to establi
relationships with PBX and other system integrathi can serve as resellers. The sales force tegefiaam th
Company's headquarters in Santa Clara, Califormdafram its European office in Sophia-AntipolisaRce.

Competition

Centile currently competes with suppliers of triaxtial PBXs, Centrex equipment, and newer generdfdrased PB.
or Centrex solutions that seek to sell such pradtactelecommunication service providers or todtmall and medium-
size enterprise marketplace. The main competiticiudes Avaya, Commworks Corporation, Mitel, Noftkdtworks
and several other providers of traditional and megeneration IRased solutions, such as Broadsoft, Inc., (
Systems, Shoreline Communications, Syndeo Corpora8ylantro, VocalData, Inc., Vocaltec Communimagi, an
Vertical Networks.

As an IPbased solution, the hosted iPBX product competds\mraging the innate efficiencies of IP architees an
combining those efficiencies with certain requiréshtures from competitive legacy products. The qpal
competitive factors in the market for hosted iPBXusions include product reliability, product feegparity, interfac
design, scalability, time-to-market, adherencaaodards, price, functionality, and IP network dety/design.

CONSUMER SYSTEMS AND COMMUNICATION SOFTWARE PLATFORM AND SERVICES
Customers

In May 2001, 8x8 announced the first customer keeaf its service creation technologies to Luckndanuary 200:
8x8 introduced the DV324 Desktop Videophone andimkbl products and announced that these products was
sold direct to endisers from 8x8's website. 8x8 has also announe@dvithigan State University has ordered DV
Desktop Videophones for its mental health and luespatients. 8x8 plans to engage in early trialgsoPacket8 |
communication software platform and services ofigifior which no customers have been announced.

Sales and Marketing

8x8 markets its consumer systems through its dsalets force and third-party resellers. Sales efpttoducts to end-
users are also conducted from the 8x8's websit pans to market its Packet8 IP communicationisesvoffering
via its own direct sales force and through thirdypeesellers.

Competition

8x8's consumer systems products compete with giheviders of videophones and videoconferencing esys
including Innomedia, MotionMedia, and various sates offerings that implement videophone functidgabn
personal computer, such as @deMe and Intel's videophone software that is shdlith their webcam offering
The main competitors for the Company's eSLEE andni@onication Services product line are deltaTt
Dynamicsoft, Inc., GoBeam, Nortel Networks, Pageyglantro Systems, Tekelec, Telcordia, Telsis, UlhygBoftware
and Vonage. This market is characterized by rapithriological change, intense competition, and -firgvel
advantage. Principal competitive factors in the kaafor 8x8's products include product feature tgarinterface
design, product reliability, performance, timea@rket, adherence to standards, price, functignand IP networ
delivery/design



MANUFACTURING

Netergy outsources the manufacturing of its sendaotors to independent foundries, and its primamisonductc
wafer supplier is Taiwan Semiconductor Manufactyri@orporation, or TSMC. Netergy also relies on was
independent third party companies for the asserabdy/testing of its semiconductors. Our reliancewverseas waf
fabrication, sort, assembly and test contractord @m maintenance of inventories at contractorsilifi@s entail
certain political and economic risks, including ipcal instability and expropriation, currency cools and exchan
fluctuations, and changes in tariff and freighesat~urthermore, in the event overseas wafer fatowit, sort, assemkt
or test operations, or air transportation to onfrimreign foundries or contractors, were disrudtadany reason, o
operations could be severely harmed.

The principal raw materials utilized in the semidoator production process are polished silicon veafaltrapure
metals, chemicals and gases. Encapsulation matéhiad enclose the chip and provide the externahecting leac
are provided by the independent assembly contsc&inortages could occur in various essential matggedue t
interruption of supply or due to increased demamithé industry. Shortages have occurred in ouotyisind order lee
times have been extended in the industry on occasithout significantly harming us. However, futwsbortages,
any, could severely harm our operations. Neterggsdaot have lontgerm purchase agreements with its con
manufacturers or its component suppliers.

Centile outsources the manufacturing of its mediashand 8x8 outsources the manufacturing of iteoptiones |
third-party manufacturers, who are generally also serdigctor customers of Netergy. Neither Centile no8 &ave
longterm purchase agreements with their contract matwkrs. We may not be able to obtain altern.
manufacturing sources if our current subcontractbegcome unavailable. If we are able to find altéve
subcontractors, a switchover to a new supplier ditakke time and might result in an interruptiorsates.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development expenses in the fisced geaing March 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 were $dfllén,
$18.7 million, and $11.9 million, respectively. Thevelopment of new products and the enhancemeskisfing
products by the Company and its subsidiaries arengigl to their success.

The Company's current and future research and aewvent efforts relate primarily to VolP semicondust ant
embedded software, video semiconductors and embesoliéware, hosted IPBX systems, and telecommuait
services technologies, including the developmemtest endpoints. Areas of emphasis will include:asrded versior
of Netergy's Audacity semiconductor family and aestture to provide higher performance, enhancedtfanality
and further integration of certain essential systiemctions and interfaces; enhanced versions of's8x&lec
communication processor technology to provide supfmy H.26L and other new video compression akions
enhanced versions of Centile's hosted iPBX busioessnunication service to include additional calhtol feature:
system management capabilities, additional protacadl telephony device support, and new graphical underfac
and webbased applications; and enhanced versions of 8&'&E platform and Packet8 telecommunication set
offering. Future developments may also focus onrgimg audio and video telephony standards and potgpquality
and performance enhancements to multimedia compresggorithms, and additional features supporttigof the
Company's products.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

Our ability to compete depends, in part, on oulitghbio obtain and enforce intellectual propertyotaction for ou
technology in the United States and internationallie currently rely primarily on a combination oade secret
patents, copyrights, trademarks and licenses ttegraur intellectually property. At this time weave fortyhine
United States patents and a number of United Ssatédoreign patents pending, none of which we idencritical tc
our business. Our patents expire on dates rangamy 2012 to 2018. We cannot predict whether oudpgnpater
applications will result in issued patents. Duerapid technological change, we believe that factush as tr
technological and creative skills of our personnelw product developments and enhancements tanexistoduct
are more important than the various legal protestiof our technology to establishing and maintagjrtechnolog
leadership



To protect our trade secrets and other propriatdoymation, we require our employees to sign agr@as providin
for the maintenance of confidentiality and also #ssignment of rights to inventions made by thenilenim oui
employ. There can be no assurance that our megm®igfcting our proprietary rights in the Unitect8s or abroe
will be adequate or that competition will not in@éeplently develop technologies that are similarupesior to ou
technology, duplicate our technology or design adoany of our patents. We are also subject to itk of advers
claims and litigation alleging infringement of timellectual property rights of others. The semuhactor and softwa
industries are subject to frequent litigation relyag patent and other intellectual property rigitsaddition, the law
of foreign countries in which our products are @ynbe sold do not protect our intellectual propeigirts to the san
extent as do the laws of the United States. Olur&ito protect our proprietary information coulause our busine
and operating results to suffer.

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwared software, licensed from third parties. Theaa@ be n
assurance that the technology licensed by us wiiticue to provide competitive features and funwiay or tha
licenses for technology currently utilized by usotiner technology which we may seek to licensénenftiture will b
available to us on commercially reasonable termat @ll. The loss of, or inability to maintain etig licenses cou
result in shipment delays or reductions until eglémnt technology or suitable alternative producisld be develope
identified, licensed and integrated, and could haum business. These licenses are on standard cmmamrm:
made generally available by the companies provittiegicenses. The cost and terms of these licendesdually are
not material to our business.

LICENSING AND DEVELOPMENT ARRANGEMENTS

The Company has entered into licensing and devedoprarrangements with its customers to promotedtsign
development, manufacture, and sale of the Companythicts.

In order to encourage the use of its semiconductdetergy has licensed portions of its systemsneldyy ant
software object code for its semiconductors touwilly all of its semiconductor customers. Moreoverany o
Netergy's OEM customers have licensed portionh@fsbftware source code for its semiconductorsefggtintend
to continue to license its semiconductor, softwarej systems technology to other companies, manyhath are
current or potential competitors. Such arrangememay enable these companies to use Netergy's tegyntc
produce products that compete with the Companytsléphony and video products.

Netergy has also licensed the right to manufactentain of its videoconferencing and IP telephoagnigonductc
products to several original equipment manufacsjrer OEMs. These licenses generally provide ferghyment c
royalties; however, royalty obligations under atise of our video compression technology to ES®iA@ogy, Inc
that provided 13% of our revenues in fiscal 2002ehaow expired. Only certain of these OEM licensewy sel
semiconductors based on the licensed technologlyirib parties, including STMicroelectronics, or STRhd Alcate
Microelectronics, while other licensees are limiténl sales of such semiconductors as part of mutlia
communication systems or ssigstems. Item 13 of this Report provides furthéorimation regarding the Compar
license and other arrangements with STM.

Centile may, in the future, license its source clmigortions or all of the hosted iPBX technoldgyother companie
Such arrangements may enable these companies tbhaussrhnology to produce products that competie @entile"
products.

In March 2002, 8x8 licensed certain Very Long lastron Word, or VLIW, microprocessor cores, relatedls an
MPEG4 video compression firmware from STM for use the Company's Internet protocol, or IP, vi
communication processor development initiativesdifdnally, 8x8 agreed to license STM certain &f éixisting an
future H.263 and H.26L firmware implementations éige with STM's semiconductor products. The licersse non-
exclusive, non-transferable and nassignable and provide for the sharing of updatdssahancements to the licen
technology, subject to certain limitations. Theemgnent includes provisions that allow the Compangnanufactur
semiconductor devices that contain the ST200 do&d & or at other thirgearty fabrication facilities. The Company
required to pay STM parnit royalties based upon shipments of products itirporate the VLIW technology.
addition, STM is required to pay the Company carfa@runit royalties based upon shipments of STM semiaota
products that contain the Company's H.263 and H\2é&o technology



In addition, 8x8 has licensed source code foretvise creation environment, or SCE, product todnic The SC
product was the predecessor of the eSLEE produnttetthe agreement, Lucent has licensed the teagmdbr use i
its Enhanced Service Authoring Environment (eSAk)ch enables carriers and application developerdetsigl
innovative new services for converged voice anda daetworks. The Company may continue to licens
communication services platform and video sourcdectm other companies. Such arrangements may ettads
companies to use the technology to produce prodihets compete with the Company's consumer systam
communication services products.

The Company expects to continue licensing its teldgy to others, many of whom may be located oetsifl the
United States. In addition to licensing its teclogyi to others, the Company from time to time wake a license
technology owned by third parties and currentlyeselupon certain technology, including hardware aaftware
licensed from third parties.

INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC AREAS

Financial information relating to our segments aridrmation on revenues generated in different gaplgic areas a
set forth in Note 11 to our consolidated finangtdtements contained in Part I, Item 8 of this &epn addition
information regarding risks attendant to our fonegperations are set forth under the heading "Fathat May Affec
Future Results" later in this Report.

EMPLOYEES

As of March 31, 2002, the Company employed 106qersincluding 6 in manufacturing operations, 6@dasearc
and development, 17 in sales and marketing, anich 8neral and administrative capacities. Nonenef Company
employees are represented by a labor union or @Wgd to a collective bargaining arrangement. Twanmpan
believes that relations with employees are good.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company's principal operations are located nnapproximately 45,000 square foot facility in Sarilara
California that is leased through May 2003. Desilgmjted manufacturing, research and developmealgssan
marketing, and administrative activities are parfed in this facility.

The Company also leases facilities for its salde@fand research and development operation in ddarlnitec
Kingdom and for its research and development operan SophiaAntipolis, France. The Company believes the

existing facilities are adequate to meet its cureenl foreseeable future needs. For additionarimébion regarding tt
Company's obligations under leases see Note &todhsolidated financial statements contained ihIRdtem 8.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in various legal claims &tigation that have arisen in the normal courséhe Company
operations. While the results of such claims atigdiion cannot be predicted with certainty, thar@any believe
that the final outcome of such matters will not éavsignificantly adverse effect on the Comparniyaricial positiol
or results of operations. However, should the Camipaot prevail in any such litigation, its operatinesults an
financial condition could be adversely impacted.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of securityleid during the fourth quarter of fiscal 20

PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RE LATED SECURITY HOLDER



MATTERS

The Company completed its initial public offering duly 2, 1997 under the name 8x8, Inc. From tlad¢ ¢hroug
April 3, 2000, the Company's common stock, $0.0édvalue per share, was traded on the NASDAQ Natibtarke
(the NASDAQ) under the symbol "EGHT." From April 2000 through July 18, 2001, the Company's comnback
was traded on the NASDAQ under the symbol "NTRGdnk July 19, 2001 the Company's common stock (zaked
under the symbol "EGHT." The Company has never pasih dividends on its common stock and has n@ptedan
to do so. As of May 13, 2002, there were 272 haldémrecord of the Company's common stock. Thevatg table
sets forth the range of high and low closing pricesach period indicated:

Period High Low
Fiscal 2002:
First quarter $2.32 $0.65
Second quarter $1.48 $0.60
Third quarter $1.11 $0.68
Fourth quarter $1.30 $0.84
Fiscal 2001:
First quarter $ 29.62 $7.67
Second quarter $12.94 $6.63
Third quarter $9.06 $1.50
Fourth quarter $4.72 $0.78

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Years Ended March 31, (1)

2002 ( 2) 2001(6)(3) 2000(4)(6) 1999(5) 1998

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Total revenues.........ccccveeveennee.. $ 14,6 91 $ 18,228 $ 25,384 $ 31,682 $ 49,776

Net income (I0SS)........ccoeeeuveennen.. $ (9,1 05)$ (74,399) $ (24,848) $ (19,224)$ 3,727

Net income (loss) per share:

BasSiC....oovvvecieerie e $ (0. 33)$ (299)$% (1.38)$ (1.28)$ 0.31
Diluted......cceevveeiieeiieeciieens $ (0. 33)$ (299)$% (1.38)$ (1.28)$ 0.25

Total asSets.......coceeeeeeireeennennnn, $ 19,6 53 $ 39,145 $ 59,983 $ 28,709 $ 46,429
Convertible subordinated debentures....... $ -$ 6,2383% 5498 % - $
Contingently redeemable common stock...... $ 8 13 $ - $ - $ -~ $
Accumulated deficit....................... $(137,2 76) $ (128,146) $ (53,747) $ (28,899) $ (9,675)
Total stockholders' equity................ $ 13,2 34 $ 21,632 $ 47,390 $ 18,823 $ 36,443

1. Fiscal 2001 was a 52 week and 2 day fiscal y@acal year 2000 was a 53-week fiscal year, wisieat 2002,
1999, and 1998 were 52-week fiscal years.

2. Net loss and net loss per share include an exiragdgain of $779,000 resulting from the earlyiegtiishmen
of our convertible subordinated debentu



3. Net loss and net loss per share include a résting charge of $33.3 million, an in-process reskand
development charge of $4.6 million, and a $1.liarlcharge for the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle.

4. Net loss and net loss per share include a $alibbmcharge for a discount on the issuance of camistock and
an in-process research and development chargeddt #illion.

5. Netloss and net loss per share include a $3libm¢harge associated with the write off of Viaténsumer
videophone inventories.

6. The convertible subordinated debentures, whichfaee value of $7.5 million, are presented nehefrelated
debt discount, which was amortized over the inttia¢e-year term of the debentures. The debeniees
redeemed in December 2001.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditamd Results of Operations contains forwimaking statemen
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securitiést and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, includimg
statements regarding our assumptions underlying @itical accounting determinations concerning rew
allowances for doubtful accounts, valuation of geitid tax allowances and reserves for legal issules;anticipate
continued decline in videoconferencing semiconductwvenues; factors that could impact our grossgmay the
sufficiency of cash to fund our ongoing obligatiotisough at least March 31, 2003, efforts to raasklitiona
financing, the acquisition of or investment in atbesinesses and products, commitment of resousicesieduction i
operating costs including the possible sale oratess of certain business segments and the podsititeer reductio
of personnel and suspension of salary increasesapithl expenditures. You should not place uneliance on the:
forward-looking statements. Actual results couléfedi materially from those anticipated in theseward{ooking
statements as a result of a number of factorsudg our good faith assumptions being incorreci;, lousines
expenses being greater than anticipated due to efitimp factors or unanticipated development oresatost:
revenues not resulting in the manner anticipateglitdua continued slow down in technology spendaagticularly ir
the telecommunications market; our failure to gateelinvestor interest or to sell certain of ouretsr busine:
segments. The forwardeking statements may also be impacted by thetiaddi risks faced by us as described in
Report, including those set forth under the seceatitled "Factors that May Affect Future Resultdl! forward-
looking statements included in this Report are thaseinformation available to us on the date heranfl we assun
no obligation to update any such forward-lookingestnents.

OVERVIEW

8x8, Inc., or 8x8, and its subsidiaries (collediyyehe Company) develop and market telecommurdoatiechnolog
for Internet Protocol, or IP, telephony and vidgplecations. The Company has three product linegcevand vide
semiconductors and related software; softwareithpliements the functionality of a private branclecleenge, or PB?
over data networks; and telephones, videophonésg@mmunication services that work over broadbaetd/orks.

The Company has two primary subsidiaries, Neterggrdélectronics, Inc. (Netergy) and Centile, In€ef(tile)
Netergy provides voice and video semiconductors esldted communication software to original equipt
manufacturers, or OEMs, of telephones, terminapteta, and other endpoint communication devicestanothe
semiconductor companies. Netergy's technologiesisgd to make IP telephones and to veinable cable and digi
subscriber line, or DSL, modems, wireless deviessl other broadband technologies. Centile devedopsmarket
hosted iIPBX solutions that allow service providarsoffer to small and mediursized businesses over broadk
networks the features and functions that are comynfmund in a typical business phone system. A dw3PBX
solution is a software application that implemethis functionality of a business phone system oliersame da
connection that a business uses for connectiohddriternet. The phone system software runs oregeihat ar
located at a central data center so that the ohbn@ system equipment that is required at the mestcite ar
telephones. The phone system can also be accesdedoatrolled from any web browser on the Interi@x8 is



developing its third product line that includes somer telephones, videophones, and communicatittiwase an:
services that work over broadband networks, aptrent company level. 8x8 sells videophones thak waer norme
phone lines and is planning to initiate trials tSflP telephony software and service offering thatesigned to enat
customers to communicate with IP telephones andopdones using an Internet based communicationg/ase
platform and service.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company's consolidated financial statementspagpared in conformity with accounting principlgenerall
accepted in the United States. The Company doebawa any ownership interest in any special purgosiies the
are not wholly-owned and consolidated subsidiasfabe Company.

We have identified the policies below as some efrttost critical to our business and the understanai our resuli
of operations. These policies require critical jondmts and estimates about matters that are inhenemtertain
Although we believe our judgments and estimatesppeopriate and correct, actual future results ditigr from ou
estimates. The impact and any associated risksedel these policies on our business operationdisisusse
throughout Management's Discussion and Analysiginancial Condition and Results of Operations whsuel
policies affect our reported and expected finan@allts. For a detailed discussion of the apptioatf these and oth
accounting policies, see Note 1 to the consolidateshcial statements in Part Il, Item 8 of thigoRH.

Use of estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets, in conformity with accounting principles geally accepte
in the United States, requires management to makmaes and assumptions that affect the reponmecuats o
assets, liabilities and equity and disclosure aiftiogent assets and liabilities at the date offitrencial statements a
the reported amounts of revenues and expensesgdilménreporting period. These estimates, partiulestimate
relating to litigation and other contingencies, éda material impact on our financial statementd, ame discussed
detail throughout our analysis of the results cérapions.

In addition to evaluating estimates relating to itleens discussed above, we also consider othenasts, including
but not limited to, those related to bad debts, thkiation of inventories, goodwill, income taxesd financini
operations. We base our estimates on historicatréexpce and on various other assumptions that elreved to b
reasonable under the circumstances, the resuisich form the basis for making judgments aboutdaeying valu
of assets, liabilities and equity that are not igaapparent from other sources. Actual resultsl@aliffer from thos:
estimates under different assumptions or conditidwislitional information regarding risk factors thaay impact ot
estimates is included below under "Factors that Ktigct Future Results."

Revenue recognition

Our revenue recognition policies are described ateNL to the consolidated financial statementsairt P, Item 8 o
this Report. As described below, significant mamaget judgments and estimates must be made and ino
connection with the revenue recognized in any aatog period. Material differences may result ie tamount ar
timing of our revenue for any period if our managetmade different judgments or utilized differestimates.

At the time of each revenue transaction we assésther the revenue amount is fixed and determinafewhethe
or not collection is reasonably assured. We assbsther the fee is fixed and determinable basetherpaymer
terms associated with the transaction. If a sigaift portion of a fee is due after our normal paynterms, which ai
thirty to ninety days from invoice date, we accofartthe fee as not being fixed and determinalighese cases, !
recognize revenue as the fees become due. We assémsion based on a number of factors, includpas
transaction history with the customer and the ¢redrthiness of the customer. We generally do notiest collater:
from our customers. If we determine that collectidra fee is not reasonably assured, we deferagbeahd recogni:
revenue at the time collection becomes reasonaisiyrad, which is generally upon receipt of cash.

For arrangements with multiple obligations (for exde, undelivered maintenance and support), weaiorevenue
each component of the arrangement using the rdsiddae method based on the fair value of the uweedc
elements, which is specific to the Company. Thisnsethat we defer revenue from the arranged faastemuivaler



to the fair value of the undelivered elements. Walues for the ongoing maintenance and supporgatdns for ou
technology licenses are based upon separate dalesewals to other customers or upon renewal mgesed in th
contracts. The Company bases the fair value ofiGesysuch as training or consulting, on separalessof thes
services to other customers. We recognize revemuadintenance services ratably over the conteaiot.tOur trainin
and consulting services are billed based on howalgs and we generally recognize revenue as tl@sees ar
performed.

If an arrangement includes acceptance criteriggme® is not recognized until we can objectively destrate that tf
software or service can meet the acceptance eritéfrithe software license arrangement obligatedouselive
unspecified future products, revenue is recognared subscription basis, ratably over the ternhefdontract.

Our ability to enter into revenue generating tratisas and recognize revenue in the future is sildgea number «
business and economic risks discussed below uR@detdrs that May Affect Future Results.”

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We must make estimates of the collectability of aocounts receivable. Management specifically aeslyaccoun
receivable, including historical bad debts, custom@ncentrations, customer credworthiness, current econor
trends and changes in our customer payment ternes velaluating the adequacy of the allowance forbtfal
accounts. The accounts receivable balance wasndilli@n, net of an allowance for doubtful accounfs$286,000 ¢
of March 31, 2002. One customer represented $684@045%, of our gross accounts receivable at M&d; 200z
Based upon the customer's past payment historgusisons with the customer and our review of tli@ancia
condition, outstanding balances were considerelgatdlle and therefore no portion of this balancesvgpecificall
reserved for at March 31, 2002.

Valuation of inventories

We write down our inventory for estimated obsoleseeor unmarketable inventory equal to the diffeesbetween tf
cost of inventory and the estimated market valisetaipon assumptions about future demand and narkditions
If actual future demand or market conditions ass favorable than those projected by us, additionantory write-
downs may be required.

Valuation of goodwill and long-lived and intangibleassets

We assess the impairment of identifiable intangiplengtived assets and goodwill whenever events or chain
circumstances indicate that the carrying value maybe recoverable. Factors we consider importaitdould trigge
an impairment review include the following:

significant underperformance relative to projedigdre operating results;

significant changes in the manner of our use ofttwired assets or the strategy for our overadinass;
significant negative industry or economic trends;

significant decline in our stock price for a suséal period; and

our market capitalization relative to net book ealu

When we determine that the carrying value of godidieng-lived assets and intangibles may not be recovetzse:
upon the existence of one or more of the abovecatdis of impairment, we measure any impairmenedbam
projected discounted cash flow method using a discmate determined by our management to be conmumeteswitt
the risk inherent in our current business model gdwill and intangible assets amounted to $liliom as of
March 31, 2002. Net long-lived assets were $3.lionikas of March 31, 2002.

Effective April 1, 2002, Statement of Financial Aonting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, "Goodwill gDthe!
Intangible Assets" became effective and as a resdtwill reclassify workforce related intangible$ $11,000 t:
goodwill and cease to amortize approximately $liian of remaining goodwill associated with thegadsition o
Odisei. We recorded approximately $763,000 of airatibn on goodwill and intangible assets rela@@ssemble
workforce during fiscal 2002 and would have recdrdpproximately $707,000 of amortization duringdis2003. i
lieu of amortization, we are required to performiaitial impairment review of our goodwill in fisc2003 and a



annual impairment review thereafter. We expectaim@lete our initial review during the quarter en@=ptember 3
2002. There can be no assurance that at the tieneethew is completed a material impairment chamjenot be
recorded.

Accounting for income taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consoldiditeancial statements we are required to estirmatencome taxe
in each of the jurisdictions in which we operat@isTprocess involves us estimating our actual oart@x expens
together with assessing temporary differences tiaguirom differing treatment of items, such asededd revenue, fi
tax and accounting purposes. These differencedt iesdeferred tax assets and liabilities, whiclk arcluded withii
our consolidated balance sheet. We must then agseékelihood that our deferred tax assets wallrbcovered froi
future taxable income and to the extent we beltbae recovery is not likely, we must establish luaion allowance
In the event that we determine that we would be ablrealize deferred tax assets in the futurexoess of the n
recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferreégsagt would increase income in the period suclrrdetation wa
made.

Significant management judgment is required in mheit@ng the valuation allowance recorded againstrai deferre
tax assets, which primarily consist of net operaiimss and tax credit carryforwards. We have restra valuatio
allowance of $47.3 million as of March 31, 2002edo uncertainties related to our ability to uslimost of oL
deferred tax assets before they expire. The valuatilowance is based on our estimates of taxameme b
jurisdiction in which we operate and the periodrovBich our deferred tax assets will be recovere

Litigation

Management's current estimated range of liabihated to pending litigation involving the Compaisybased o
claims for which our management can estimate theuamand range of loss. We have recorded the mim
estimated liability related to those claims, whitrere is a range of loss. Because of the uncadairglated to both tl
amount and range of loss on pending litigation, ag@ment is unable to make a reasonable estimadte diability
that could result from an unfavorable outcome. Agligonal information becomes available, we willsass th
potential liability, if any, related to our pendifiggation and revise our estimates. Such revisionour estimates
the potential liability could materially impact orgsults of operation and financial position.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth consolidated statetd operations data for each of the years endatM31, 2002,
2001, and 2000, expressed as the percentage tidtalrevenues represented by each item. Costaolugst revenues
presented as a percentage of product revenueandfdicense and other revenues is presentegascantage of
license and other revenues. You should read tfesnration in conjunction with our Consolidated Fical
Statements and related notes included elsewhéingsiReport:

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2001 2000

Product revVeNUES.........ccocevviviveiiieeeinns . 41% T70% 82%
License and other revenues................cu....... . 59% 30% 18%
Total revenues...........cceeevvevvnnnn.. .. 100% 100% 100 %
Cost of product revenues................ccoeeenn. . 43% 41% 41 %
Cost of license and other revenues................. . 2% 32% 3%

Total cost of revenues................... . 19% 38% 34%




Gross profit..........ccoeeeeeeiiinnnns . 81l% 62% 66%

Operating expenses:

Research and development......................... . 719% 103% 47%
Selling, general and administrative.............. . 65% 99% 84%
In-process research and development.............. . =% 25% 40%
Amortization of intangibles..................... . 5% 60% 2%
Restructuring charge.........cccccccevieeenn. . =% 183% --%
Total operating expenses................. . 149% 470% 173 %
Loss from operations............ccceeeeeeeeeeennn. .. (68)% (408)% (107)%
Other income, Net.........cccuveeeeeeevieeieennenn. o 1% 14% 11%
Interest eXPense........cceeeeveeiiiiiieeeeeeees . B®)% @)% (2)%
Loss before provision for income taxes............. . (67)% (402)% (98)%
Provision for income taxes...........ccccccuueeeee v =% -% -%

Net loss before extraordinary gain and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle ........ . (67)% (402)% (98)%
Extraordinary gain on extinguishment of debt, net.. . 5% -% -%
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . =% ©®)% -%
NELI0SS...ccieiiiiiiiiee e, . (62)% (408)% (98)%
REVENUES

Product revenueswere $6.0 million in fiscal 2002, a decrease oB38illion from the $12.8 million reported in fisi
2001. The decrease in product revenues in fisda2 2¢as due to decreases in sales of video morgt@na consum
videophone systems totaling $969,000, resultingnfour decision to terminate further development saids of thes
product lines in prior years, a slight decreas&inelephony semiconductor sales, a $305,000 deerig@amedia ht
system revenues, and a $5.4 million decrease entex derived from our videoconferencing semicoratystoducts
The decrease in media hub system revenues as aennjpathe prior year period was due primarily ttealine in sale
to a significant customer. The significant decraasadeoconferencing semiconductor revenues waspdimarily to i
significant decrease in unit shipments, offsetiplyt by increases in average selling prices, oPASFactors th
contributed to the significant decrease in unipstents of our videoconferencing semiconductorsoaspared to tr
prior year, and that we anticipate will result incantinued decline in revenues derived from videde@@ncin
semiconductors for the foreseeable future, include:

¢ Increased competition from other developers of senductors used in videoconferencing applications;

e The acquisition of two of our customers by a conypidat appears to have standardized its produaldpmen
efforts around technology supplied by one or mdreun competitors;

¢ Increased competition from evolving PC-based videderencing applications which has resulted in cedu
demand for products marketed and sold by our custethat incorporate our videoconferencing
semiconductors; and

o Decreased corporate and consumer spending.

Product revenues were $12.8 million in fiscal 20®tecrease of $8.0 million from the $20.8 millr@ported in fisce
2000. The decrease in product revenues in fisdal 2as primarily due to decreases in sales of videnitoring an
consumer videophone systems for the reasons destumsove, and a decrease in average selling piocesut
videoconferencing semiconductors. These decreasespartially offset by an increase in IP telepheagniconductc
revenues resulting from the commercial releaseuoPaidacity-T2 product in fiscal 2001.

License and other revenuesvere $8.6 million in fiscal 2002, an increase ofZb&illion from the $5.4 millio
recognized in fiscal 2001. License and other reesmecognized in fiscal 2002, the majority of whagle considere
to be nokrrecurring in nature, consist primarily of technoldgenses and related maintenance revenues, asas



royalties earned under such licenses. License dhdr aevenues for fiscal 2001 also included $1.3iami of
professional service revenues associated with camadian operations. No professional service rewgenuert
recognized in fiscal 2002 due to the eliminatiorited professional services organization as patti@festructuring «
our Canadian operations in the fourth quarter ddi 2001. The negative impact of eliminating pssfenal servic
revenues in fiscal 2002 was more than offset byfdhewing:

e An increase in royalties earned by Netergy undeease agreement for certain of our video compoess
technology. Royalty revenue recognized under thisement totaled $2.0 million for fiscal 2002 ampared tc
$768,000 for fiscal 2001. Apart from a final royattayment of $750,000 that we received (and widbgnize a:
revenue) in the first quarter of fiscal 2003, ticehsee has no further obligations to pay royatireshipments «
products that incorporate our technology;

o A $1.3 million increase in license revenue assedatith our embedded IP telephony firmware techgyple.g.
Veracity VolP software and Audacity-T2 based rafiesedesign kits marketed by Netergy;

e The recognition of $309,000 of previously deferredenue associated with our license of unified ngiss)
technology to Milinx. See Note 8 to the Consolidafenancial Statements in Item 8 for further disotois. Also,
license revenues in fiscal 2002 included $680,d0tba-recurring revenue associated with the licerfsaur
SCE technology to Lucent;

e A $1.6 million increase in revenue in fiscal 20@3a@ciated with the license of our video monitotiechnology
to Interlogix in fiscal 2001. Recognition of thepepximately $3.9 million of revenue ascribed to license of
video monitoring technology to Interlogix had bekyierred until we satisfied certain remaining odigns in
the quarter ended March 31, 2001. Revenue assoaidtie the license is being recognized ratably dler
license term, which expires in May 2003. The renmgjbalance in deferred revenue at March 31, 2802 i
approximately $2.0 million. All cash receipts agated with this license were received in fiscal 200

o A decrease of approximately $700,000 in non-rengrlicense and maintenance revenues associated with
Netergy's videoconferencing technology.

License and other revenues increased $853,000 fismal 2000 to fiscal 2001 due primarily to U|Fom®fession:
service revenues of $1.2 million recognized indls2001 and a $646,000 increase in revenue assdaiath license
of Netergy's embedded IP telephony firmware teabgyl offset by a decrease in royalties earned utitevidec
compression technology license agreement discussmsee.

Revenues from our ten largest customers in thalfigears ended March 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 ateduol
approximately 73%, 48%, and 35%, respectively,wftotal revenues. Three customers represented tmanel0% c
our total revenues in fiscal 2002. These customEe®&S Technology, Inc., Leadtek Research, and Gé&rldafix,
represented 13%, 13% and 12% of our total revemaspectively. During the fiscal years ended M&&h2001 an
2000, no customer accounted for 10% or more of teteenues.

Sales to customers outside the United States mmpexs61%, 69%, and 47% of total revenues in geafiyears end:
March 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Tdllewing table illustrates our net revenues by gapgic are:
Revenues are attributed to countries based onestindtion of shipment (in thousands):

Y ear Ended March 31,

2002 2001 2000

7% 5632% 13381
6 5,862 5,808
Taiwan.......ccccovvvveeeeeneine, 2,02 6 2,739 1,737
9 1,188 2,351
3 2,807 2,107



$ 14,69 1$ 18228 $ 25,384

COST OF REVENUES AND GROSS PROFIT

The cost of product revenues consists of costscaded with components, semiconductor wafer fatiooa syster
and semiconductor assembly and testing performeditisparty vendors, and direct and indirect costs aasediwitt
purchasing, scheduling, and quality assurance.SQvasit from product revenues was $3.4 million,8billion, anc
$12.3 million for the fiscal years ended March 2202, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Product graagim was 57%
59% and 59% for the fiscal years ended March 32222001, and 2000, respectively.

The $4.1 million decrease in gross profit from dis2001 to fiscal 2002 is due primarily to a sigraht decrease
sales of our videoconferencing semiconductors addovmonitoring systems. Gross profit in fiscal 200as als
impacted by a decrease in product gross marginstaldewer average selling prices realized on salesur IF
telephony semiconductors, and to a lessor exteninerease in inventory reserves associated withnoedia hu
products in the first quarter of fiscal 2002. Theckase in margins was mitigated to some extergnbycrease

average selling prices realized on the sale ofwdgoconferencing semiconductors and the revers&il 43,000 c
reserves associated with our semiconductor prodndise fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 due to thée s# inventon
that had been specifically reserved for in fis@02 The $4.7 million decrease in gross profit fritgnal 2000 to fisc:
2001 is due primarily to a significant decreaseates of our video monitoring and consumer videopharoducts dt
to our exit from those businesses. Gross profiisical 2001 was also impacted by lower averagenggfirices realize
on sales of our videoconferencing semiconductoxs @m increase in reserves associated with our sechicto
products, offset by a significant increase in lleghony semiconductor sales.

Gross profit from license and other revenues, whiehe largely nonrecurring, was $8.4 million, $iflion, and $4.-
million in fiscal 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectyvéissociated gross margins were 98%, 68%, andi@fgcal 2002
2001, and 2000. The significant increase in groaggim from fiscal 2001 to fiscal 2002 was due te #timination o
our professional service organization as part efréstructuring of our Canadian operations in thath quarter ¢
fiscal 2001.

Our gross margin is affected by a number of factocduding, product mix, the recognition of licenaad othe
revenues for which there may be no or little cqroesling cost of revenues, product pricing, the @etage of dire
sales and sales to resellers, and manufacturing@ngonent costs. The markets for our productslaaeacterized
falling average selling prices. In the likely evéimat we encounter significant price competitiortia markets for ol
products, we could be at a significant disadvantagapared to our competitors, many of whom havestsubially
greater resources, and therefore may be bettert@blghstand an extended period of downward pggunessure. T
respond to competitive pricing pressures, we wdlrequired to introduce differentiated products aondtinue t
reduce costs as a means of maintaining our margfiesmay not be successful in our development effortproduc
cost reduction measures and may face continuetarosmargins.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Research and development expenses consist printdripgrsonnel, system prototype design and faboicamask
prototype wafer, and equipment costs necessamysfdo conduct our development efforts. Researchdandlopmer
costs, including software development costs, aperesed as incurred. Research and development egeerse $11
million, $18.7 million, and $11.9 million for fist2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. The significdecreases
research and development expenses in fiscal 200@nagared to fiscal 2001 were due to the following:

o The elimination of our Canadian operations in therth quarter of fiscal 2001. Research and deveéopm
expenses incurred by our Canadian operationsaalf2001 were approximately $2.5 million;

e Reductions in research and development persoraféhgtlevels in the first and second quartersisddl 2002;

o Lower tooling and other project related expenses@ated with semiconductor and system-level refeze
design projects in fiscal 200



o Lower third-party consulting expenses associated development of the graphical user interfaceJentile’s
hosted iPBX product;

¢ A decrease in stock compensation charges of appeat&ly $325,000; and

¢ Our overall efforts to reduce discretionary ope@itosts.

Higher research and development expenses duriogl fB001 as compared to fiscal 2000 were due piiynto
increases in personnel resulting from the acqaisiof U|Force and increases in hosted iPBX devedoprafforts
higher thirdparty consulting expenses associated with the dpuent of a graphical user interface for the hc
iPBX product, higher depreciation and maintenanqgaeeses as a result of additional lab equipmentcamdpute
aided design tools, and increased stock compensehiarges of approximately $325,000 related tokstqtion bonu
programs.

SELLING, GENERAL, AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general, and administrative expenses sbmsimarily of personnel and related overhead scdst sale:
marketing, finance, human resources, and genenahgenent. Such costs also include advertisings sal@mission
trade show, and other marketing and promotionakeses. Selling, general, and administrative expensge $9.
million, $18.1 million, and $21.3 million in fisc&2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. The significdecrease

selling, general, and administrative expensesstafi2002 as compared to fiscal 2001 was due ttotlosving:

A $3.7 million decrease due to the elimination of €anadian operations in the fourth quarter afai£001;
Reductions in sales, marketing and administratersgnnel staffing levels in the first quarter eichl 2002;

A decrease in stock compensation charges; and

Lower legal, financial reporting, corporate functidelephone, travel, corporate marketing, puldiatrons and
trade show expenditures resulting from our efftoteeduce discretionary operating costs.

The decrease in selling, general, and administraxpenses during the year ended March 31, 206d@magared to tr
comparable period in the prior year is due pringatol a onetime $6.4 million charge related to the sale of iilion
shares of our common stock to STMicroelectronied the recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000e charg
reflected the discount from the fair market valdeoar common stock on the date of the related agese¢. Thi
decrease also reflected lower headcount and otbsis aequired to support ViaTV and video monitorsajes
promotion, and support activities due to our eranf the consumer videophone and video monitoringinasse:
These decreases were substantially offset by isetk@xpenses associated with the addition of therth sale
marketing, finance, and corporate organizationstscancurred related to our name change, and isedeatoc
compensation charges.

IN-PROCESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AND AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLES

We incurred inprocess research and development charges of $#iégnm the second quarter of fiscal 2001 relati@
the acquisition of U|Force, Inc. (U|Force), and.$1@illion in the first quarter of fiscal 2000 réga to the acquisitic
of Odisei S.A. (Odisei). A discussion of these asigjons follows below.

U|Force, Inc.

The Company's consolidated financial statementsatethe acquisition of all of the outstanding &to¢ U|Force, Inc
on June 30, 2000 for a total purchase price of@a4tllion. U|Force, based in Montreal, Canada, wakeveloper «
IP-based software applications and a provider ofgssional services. U|Force was also developidgvabase!
service creation environment (SCE) designed tonatlelecommunication service providers to develogplady, ani
manage telephony applications and services to thetomers. The purchase price was comprised ofc8r@mor
stock with a fair value of approximately $38.0 moil comprised of: (i) 1,447,523 shares issued asicy of thi
acquisition, and (ii) 2,107,780 shares to be isaysuh the exchange or redemption of the exchangesidres (tt
Exchangeable Shares) of Canadian entities hel@dtyer employee shareholders or indirect owners|Bbk¢e stocl
The Exchangeable Shares held by U|Force employees subject to certain restrictions, including oight tc
repurchase the Exchangeable Shares if an empl@pertdd prior to vesting. In addition, we also agréo issue or
share of preferred stock (the Special Voting Shtra) provides holders of Exchangeable Shares wvatimg right:
equivalent to the shares of common stock into wiieir shares are convertible. We also assumedandlisng stoc



options to purchase shares of U|Force common sftockwhich the BlackScholes pricing model value
approximately $6.5 million was included in the hase price. Direct transaction costs related tontleeger wer
approximately $747,000. Additionally, the Comparmvanced $1.5 million to U|Force upon signing thquésitior
agreement, but prior to the close of the transacfitnis amount was accounted for as part of thehase price. Tt
following table summarizes the composition of theghase price (in thousands):

Value of common stock and Exchangable Shares issued ... $ 38,042
Value of stock otions assumed...........cceeeeeeee. L 6,546
Cash advanced to U|Force prior to closing.......... ... 1,500
Direct transaction COStS.......ccccceeevvvvvceees L 747
$ 46,835

The purchase price was allocated to tangible ass=igired and liabilities assumed based on the habke o
U|Force's assets and liabilities, which we beliaperoximated their fair value. Intangible assetguaed include
amounts allocated to U|Force's in-process researdldevelopment. The process research and development re
to U|Force's initial products, the SCE and a udifieessaging application, for which technologicalsibility had nc
been established and the technology had no alteeniatture use. The estimated percentage compieteéhé unifiel
messaging and SCE products was approximately 44P344b, respectively, at June 30, 2000. The faueralf the in-
process technology was based on a discounted kaghmodel, similar to the traditional "Income Appich,” whicl
discounts expected future cash flows to presentevailet of tax. In developing cash flow projectiorevenues we
forecasted based on relevant factors, includingnas¢éd aggregate revenue growth rates for the bssias a whol
characteristics of the potential market for thentextogy, and the anticipated life of the technologyojected annu
revenues for the iprocess research and development projects weremadsto ramp up initially and decli
significantly at the end of the iprocess technology's economic life. Operating egegrand resulting profit marg
were forecasted based on the characteristics aidficav generating potential of the acquirecpnocess technologie
Risks that were considered as part of the anaigsiaded the scope of the efforts necessary toeaehiechnologic:
feasibility, rapidly changing customer markets, aighificant competitive threats from numerous canips. We als
considered the risk that if we failed to bring fiveducts to market in a timely manner, it could exdely affect salt
and profitability of the combined company in theéuhe. The resulting estimated net cash flows wéseodinted at
rate of 25%. This discount rate was based on ttim&®d cost of capital plus an additional discdantthe increase
risk associated with in-process technology. Theiwalf the acquired U|Force precess research and developn
which was expensed in the second quarter of f@@al, approximated $4.6 million. The excess ofghechase pric
over the net tangible and intangible assets acdjuared liabilities assumed was allocated to goodwAlnount:
allocated to goodwill, the value of an assumedritistion agreement, and workforce were being amedtion
straightline basis over three, three, and two years, rdéisyedc The allocation of the purchase price wasadlsws (in
thousands):

In-process research and development............... $ 4,563
Distribution agreement..............cccceeennnns 1,053
WOrKfOrCe. ......ooovvveiiieieniee e 1,182
U|Force net tangible assets....................... 1,801
GOoOodWill.......eeiiiiiiiiiiiii, 38,236



Our consolidated financial statements include #seilts of the operations of U|Force from the détdn@® acquisitior
June 30, 2000, the beginning of our second quaftiscal 2001.

Odisei S.A.

In May 1999, we acquired Odiseli, a privately heleyelopment stage company based in Sophia Antjgeiance, thi
was developing software for managing vomer IP networks. The consolidated financial staet® reflect th
acquisition of Odisei on May 24, 1999 for approxieta 2,868,000 shares of 8x8's common stock andoappately
121,000 of contingent shares, which were subselyumsued to Odisei employee shareholders in M2@®0. Thu
purchase price was approximately $13.6 million,alhincludes approximately $295,000 of acquisitielated cost
The purchase price was allocated to tangible assetsred and liabilities assumed based on the lahle of Odisei
current assets and liabilities, which we believegraximated their fair value. Intangible assetsuaregl include:
amounts allocated to Odisei's in-process researdlidavelopment. The iprocess research and development relai
Odisei's initial product for which technologicalafability had not been established and was estonate be
approximately 60% complete. The fair value of thgliocess technology was based on a discounted loagimiodel
which discounted expected future cash flows togmesgalue, net of tax. In developing cash flow patijons, revenu:
were forecasted based on relevant factors, inajudstimated aggregate revenue growth rates fobtiseess as
whole, characteristics of the potential markettfa technology, and the anticipated life of thehtexdogy. Projecte
annual revenues for the process research and development projects werenadsto ramp up initially and decli
significantly at the end of the iprocess technology's economic life. Operating egeerand resulting profit marg
were forecasted based on the characteristics amda¢sd cash flow generating potential of the asplinproces
technology. Associated risks include the inherefiicdlties and uncertainties in completing the jecd and therek
achieving technological feasibility, and risks teth to the impact of potential changes in marketddmns an:
technology. The resulting estimated net cash flalwse discounted at a rate of 27%. This discoumst wats based «
the estimated cost of capital plus an additionatalint for the increased risk associated witproeess technoloc
The value of the acquired Odiseipnecess research and development, which was exgpémdbe fiscal year end
March 31, 2000, was $10.1 million. The excess @f plurchase price over the net tangible and intdéagibset
acquired and liabilities assumed was allocatedotudwill. Until the adoption of SFAS 142 on April 2002, amoun
allocated to goodwill and workforce were being at@ed on a straighline basis over five and three ye
respectively. The allocation of the purchase pwes as follows (in thousands):

In-process research and development............... $ 10,100
WOrKfOrCe......uvvveeeiiiiiiiiiee e 200
Net tangible liabilities.......................... (219)
GoodWill.......eeeiiiiiiiiiii 3,481
$ 13,562

Our consolidated financial statements for the figear ended March 31, 2000 included the resul®disei from th
date of acquisition.

Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets @&t to operations was $763,000, $11.0 million a8th$000 durin
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2001 an@,2@8pectively.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, afterigngficant number of employees had resigned, weatisnued ot
Canadian operations acquired in conjunction with @lequisition of U|Force in June 2000. We closeddadffices ir
Montreal and Hull, Quebec and laiff all remaining employees resulting in the cessatof the research a
development efforts and the sales and marketing paotessional services activities associated wié U|Forc
business. As a result of the restructuring, we naab a ondime charge of $33.3 million in the quarter endedréh
31, 2001. The restructuring charges consistedeofdtiowing (in thousands



Employee separation............ccccevveevveeennn. $ 765

Fixed asset losses and impairments................ 2,084

Intangible asset impairments...................... 30,247

Lease obligation and termination.................. 220
$ 33,316

Employee separation costs represent severance ptynedated to the 96 employees in the Montrealdnldl offices
who were laid-off.

The impairment charges for fixed assets of appratéty $2.1 million included writeffs of abandoned and unuse
assets of approximately $1.4 million, a loss ore s#l assets of $567,000, and a charge for assdis thsposed
$172,000. The loss on sale of assets of $567,0@0attabutable to the sale of office, computer, atiter equipmel
of the Montreal office. We received common stockhaf purchaser valued at approximately $412,0014f #se date ¢
sale. Fair value of assets to be disposed of wasuned based on expected salvage value, lesstoastl. Assets 1
be disposed of consist of computer equipment withiravalue of $57,000 at March 31, 2001. Subs#digtall of thes:
assets were liquidated during fiscal 2002.

The impairment charges for intangible assets reptes the writesff of the unamortized intangible assets recorah
connection with the acquisition of U|Force. Thergea of approximately $30.2 million included: $2&illion for the
goodwill related to the acquisition, $739,000 fbe tassembled workforce, and $789,000 related tastabaitior
agreement. The impairments were directly attribletab the cessation of operations in Canada. Wémpeed al
evaluation of the recoverability of the intangilalssets related to these operations in accordanbeSKAS No. 12:
"Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Asseisd for Longtived Assets to be Disposed Of." The lacl
estimated future net cash flows related to the iseduyproducts necessitated an impairment chargerite-off the
remaining unamortized goodwill. The distributionregment asset was written off because we will mgéo provid
products and services to customers under that mgree

We terminated the lease for our primary facilityMontreal in March 2001, but we were required tg pant on th
facility through May 31, 2001. We terminated theade for our facility in Hull, Quebec in fiscal 200&ccruec
obligations related to remaining lease commitmentshe Montreal and Hull facilities totaled $212)0&t March 31
2001. There are no remaining restructuring relatstuals at March 31, 2002.

Cash payments related to the restructuring dutigduarter ended March 31, 2001, which includeckrdploye:
separation costs and certain lease terminatiors,cagproximated $920,000. The payments made ial {202 relate
to the terminations of the Montreal and Hull fagileases totaled $225,000.

OTHER INCOME, NET

In fiscal 2002, 2001, and 2000, other income, nets approximately $1.0 million, $2.6 million, an@.& million,
respectively. The decrease in other income, nefjsical 2002 compared to fiscal 2001 was due prilgndo a
significant decrease in interest income resultirgmf lower average cash and cash equivalent balaam@édowe
interest rates. Gains realized on the sale of invexsts also decreased by approximately $94,000saalf 2002 &
compared to fiscal 2001. The decrease in othemecmet, in fiscal 2001 compared to fiscal 2000 dies primarily te
a $1.7 million decrease in gains realized fromdhake of equity investments, offset by an increasmterest incomr
resulting from higher average cash equivalent &dtgerm investment balances as compared to fXa@0.

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense in each of the three years enadedhVB1, 2002 consisted mainly of charges assaciaiih the 4%
convertible subordinated debentures, or the Debesitihat we issued in December 1999, includingathertizatiol



of the related debt discount and debt issuance.cdst redeemed the Debentures in December 20@testtexpen:
for the year ended March 31, 2001 also included@apmately $128,000 associated with lease linesredlit and
bank loan assumed as part of the U|Force acquisifih of the U|Force debt obligations were repeidhe quarte
ended March 31, 2001.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The provisions of $15,000, $17,000 and $120,00GHeryears ended March 31, 2002, 2001 and 200pecgsely
were comprised primarily of certain foreign taxébe provision for the year ended March 31, 2002 atdlected
$10,000 refund of U.S. federal income taxes reckindiscal 2002.

At March 31, 2002, we had net operating loss carwérds for federal and state income tax purpotapmroximatel
$67.0 million and $17.0 million, respectively, whiexpire at various dates beginning in 2005. Initamtd at Marcl
31, 2002, we had research and development credyfaavards for federal and state tax reporting pmses c
approximately $3.0 million and $2.5 million, respreely. The federal credit carryforwards will begmpiring in 201
while the California credit will carryforward indeftely. Under the ownership change limitationstbé Interne
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the amount aefitdeom the net operating losses and credityéarwards ma
be impaired or limited in certain circumstances.

At March 31, 2002, we had gross deferred tax assfetgpproximately $47.3 million. We believe thagsked on
number of factors, the weight of objective avaikablidence indicates that it is more likely thahthat we will not b
able to realize our deferred tax assets, and tHull @aluation allowance was recorded at March 3102 and Marc
31, 2001.

EXTRAORDINARY GAIN

We realized an extraordinary gain of $779,000 ie third quarter of fiscal 2002 resulting from tharlg
extinguishment of our convertible subordinated aélnes. See Note 4 to the consolidated financaéstents in Pe
I, Item 8 of this Report for further discussiontbfs transaction.

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

In November 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Fomehel several conclusions regarding the accoufdmgdebt an
equity securities with beneficial conversion feagjrincluding a consensus requiring the applicagiathe "accountin
conversion price" method, versus the use of thiedteonversion price, to calculate the beneficaalversion featul
for such securities. The SEC required companigedord a cumulative catalp adjustment in the fourth quartel
calendar 2000 related to the application of thedaating conversion price” method to securitiesesksafter May 2:
1999. Accordingly, we recorded a $1.1 million nash expense during the quarter ended Decembe20BD, tc
account for a beneficial conversion feature assediavith the convertible subordinated debentured eelate
warrants issued in December 1999, and we presénésda cumulative effect of a change in accoungingciple a
required by the SEC.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of March 31, 2002, we had cash and cash equist®taling $12.4 million, representing a decreab&11.’
million from March 31, 2001. We currently have martowing arrangements.

Cash used in operations of $7.9 million in fiscGD2 reflected a net loss of $9.1 million, a deceess accoun
payable of $839,000, a decrease in accrued compmmsat $610,000, a decrease of $579,000 in ottoeruec
liabilities, a $3.5 million decrease in deferredereue and a nooash extraordinary gain of $779,000 due to redem
of the convertible subordinated debentures. Casld urs operations was partially offset by a decreasaccount
receivable of $1.7 million, a $501,000 decreasmwentory, a $1.6 million decrease in other currasdets, and non-
cash items including depreciation and amortizatib$i3.9 million. Cash provided by investing aciiet in fiscal 200
was attributable to proceeds from the sale of amstment in marketable equity securities of $543,80d proceel
from the sale of equipment of $116,000, partialtiset by capital expenditures of $172,000. Cashd usdfinancing
activities during fiscal 2002 consisted of the $rhilion payment associated with the redemptiortha convertibl



subordinated debentures and certain costs incimrednnection with the redemption, offset partidy proceeds «
$335,000 resulting from the sale of our commonlstocemployees through our employee stock purchasestoc
option plans.

Cash used in operations of $24.6 million in fis2@D1 reflected a net loss of $74.4 million, decesaim accoun
payable and accrued compensation of $2.2 milliah%623,000, an increase in other current andausrent assets
$1.3 million, and a nogash adjustment for a gain on sale of investmeh$2®5,000. Cash used in operations
partially offset by cash provided by a decreaseadonounts receivable of $851,000, an increase ieradlecrue
liabilities of $378,000, and nocash items, including restructuring charges of $3fillion, depreciation ar
amortization of $14.4 million, inprocess research and development of $4.6 miltlencumulative effect of a char
in accounting principle of $1.1 million, and stockmpensation charges of $753,000. Cash provide@h\msting
activities in fiscal 2001 is primarily attributabte net proceeds from the sale of assets and ¢dbaede of technolog
associated with our video monitoring product life$6.2 million, offset by acquisitions of properiynd equipment
$6.1 million and cash paid for acquisitions, ndt,$658,000. Cash flows from financing activities fiacal 200(
consisted primarily of proceeds from sales of trmm@any's common stock totaling $2.8 million, offést deb
repayments of $891,000 and repurchases of comnogk ahd Exchangeable Shares of $514,000. For the gas
and cash equivalents decreased $24.5 million.

Cash used in operations of $4.1 million in fisc@DQ reflected a net loss of $24.8 million, a deseem deferre
revenue of $3.4 million, and a na@ash adjustment for a gain on sale of investmeets,of $1.7 million. Cash used
operations was partially offset by cash providedabgiecrease in accounts receivable of $3.5 millilodecrease
inventory of $2.5 million, and non-cash items, udihg depreciation and amortization of $2.1 million-proces
research and development of $10.1 million, andadist on issuance of common stock of $7.4 millioaskCprovide
by investing activities in fiscal 2000 is attribbta to proceeds from the sale of an investmentld #illion, offset b
acquisitions of property and equipment of $1.7 ionlland cash paid for acquisitions, net, of $1409,00ash flow
from financing activities in fiscal 2000 consistpdmarily of proceeds from the sale of convertilsigbordinate
debentures of $7.5 million and sales of the Comjsacgmmon stock totaling $29.8 million, offset bgbtl issuanc
costs of $617,000. For the year, cash and caskalgats increased $32.8 million.

As of March 31, 2002, our principal commitments sisted of obligations outstanding under noncandéelaperatin
leases. At March 31, 2002, future minimum annuakée payments under noncancelable operating leasesy
sublease income, were as follows (in thousands):

YEAR ENDING MARCH 31,

2003, $ 1,405
2004 449
2005.... it 270
2006....ccciiieeiie e 256
2007 242
2008 and thereafter...........cccccovvvveennnen. 889
Total minimum payments.................. $ 3,511

As noted previously, we redeemed our convertibleosdinated debentures in December 2001. The caasiole
included issuing 1,000,000 shares of our commorksto the lenders. We have committed to maintairtimg
effectiveness of the registration statement filathwhe SEC covering the resale of these sharesul@hwe fail tc
maintain the effectiveness of the registrationestegnt we may be required to pay cash penaltiesedebm all or
portion of the shares at the higher of $0.898 errtarket price of our common stock at the timehef tedemptio
which could have a material adverse effect on @shcflows. The value of the shares still held by lénders ¢
$813,000 at March 31, 2002, based upon the $0.88&lpare minimum potential redemption price, iseméd a
contingently redeemable common stock in the codatdd balance she:



Based upon our current expectations, we believedahacurrent cash and cash equivalents, and casérated frot
operations, if any, will satisfy our expected waidicapital and capital expenditure requirementsuthin at least tf
next 12 months. We will, however, need additionatking capital during fiscal 2004. Accordingly, wal be seekin
additional financing during the next twelve monthrder to meet our cash requirements for fis€al42 We will be
evaluating financing alternatives prior to that éimVe may also seek to explore business opporsniimncludini
acquiring or investing in complementary businessgsroducts that will require additional capitabrin equity or del
sources. Additionally, the development and marketi new products could require a significant cotnmeint o
resources, which could in turn require us to obgalditional financing earlier than otherwise expdctWe may not t
able to obtain additional financing as needed oreptable terms, or at all, which may require useduce ot
operating costs and other expenditures, includidgictions of personnel and suspension of salargases and capi
expenditures. Alternatively, or in addition to symbiential measures, we may elect to implementratbst reductio
actions as we may determine are necessary and ipegtiinterests, including the possible sale ssaton of certa
of our business segments. Any such actions undartakight limit our opportunities to realize plarw fevenu
growth and we might not be able to reduce our costamounts sufficient to achieve breakven or profitabl
operations. If we issue additional equity or cotitaée debt securities to raise funds, the ownergi@entage of o
existing stockholders would be reduced. New inuastoay demand rights, preferences or privilegessém those ¢
existing holders of our common stock.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Given the currently low yields on governmental aodporate debt securities and money market funaisBoard o
Directors (the Board) believes that we may beriiedin investing in other classes of securities thay generate high
returns. Toward this end, in March 2002 the Boantharized us to open securities trading accounts raake
investments of up to $1.0 million on behalf of 8k&;. as directed by the Company's Chairman, Jokirizan; Chie
Executive Officer, Bryan Martin; or Chief Financi@lfficer, David Stoll. Mr. Parkinson has agreedptrsonall
reimburse 8x8 on a quarterly basis for any losesslting from his trading activities in order toimtain a minimun
investment account balance of $1.0 million. The ldaas been assured of Mr. Parkinson's abilityolec any suc
losses; however, should he be unable to do souldcbave a material impact on our cash flows arslilte o
operations. As part of the arrangement, our Boasldxpressed its intent, but not obligation, to klyParkinson
guarterly bonus in an amount equal to 25% of thafitgr attributable to investments made on our Hebgl Mr.
Parkinson to the extent such a bonus exceeds laiy $ar the corresponding period. The Company or Rarkinso
can terminate this arrangement at any time, sulgeitte terms of an agreement that has been filddtis Report €
exhibit 10.24. As of March 31, 2002, the $1.0 roifliwas invested in money market accounts.

In the quarter ended March 31, 2000, the Compaigreth into a strategic relationship with STMicrattenics NV
or STM. Under various agreements, STM purchasedeshaf 8x8 common stock and was granted certastet
rights, licensed certain of the Company's intellatproperty and engaged the Company to jointlyetgy product
that enable voice and other multimedia services miernet protocol networks. Iltem 13 of this Ragmovides furthe
information regarding the Company's license anéménrangements with STM.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Bussn€ombinations,” and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill artti&l
Intangible Assets." SFAS 141 requires all busiremsbinations to be accounted for using the purchasthod o
accounting, and also requires that certain intdagassets acquired in a business combination lmgneed as asst
apart from goodwill. SFAS No. 141 was effective &f business combinations initiated after JuneZM1. Unde
SFAS No. 142, goodwill will no longer be amortizdulit will be subject to annual impairment testso@®aill shoulc
be assigned to an entity's reporting units, whicider SFAS No. 142, are defined as operating setgmanone leve
below that. Furthermore, SFAS No. 142 requires lpaged intangible assets other than goodwill torberized ove
their useful lives, unless these lives are detezohto be indefinite, and, upon adoption, requiresassessment of 1
useful lives previously assigned to its recognizgengible assets. In addition, if certain recogdizntangible asse
do not meet certain criteria, such assets shoulcetlassified to goodwill. Conversely, certain ngéle assets th
have been reported as part of goodwill may nedxkteeclassified as of the date that SFAS No. 14i@itially appliec
in its entirety.

Goodwill that existed at June 30, 2001 was amattibeough March 31, 2002. The net carrying valugaddwill a



March 31, 2002 was $1.5 million. Upon adoption lnéde standards in the first quarter of fiscal 2068,$11,00
remaining balance of the workforce intangible assmuired in conjunction with our acquisition of i€ will be
reclassified as goodwill. Goodwill will no longee amortized, but will be subject to impairment 4esh at least ¢
annual basis or upon the occurrence of triggervents, if earlier, to identify potential goodwilnpairment an
measure the amount of goodwill impairment lossdadrognized, if any. An impairment loss is recagdiwhen th
carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceette implied fair value of that goodwill. After a gadwill
impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted cagrgimount of the goodwill will be its new accountipasis. The fir:
step of the goodwill impairment test should be genfed by September 30, 2002. If an impairment dcated, th
second step of the impairment test must be conplatdater than March 31, 2003. We will be requit@determine

any reclassification of some portion of the gootwal intangible assets will be required. We antt# that oL
operating segments will comprise our reportingsjrand, accordingly, annual impairment tests waelgherformed :
the operating segment level. Based on acquisitbamspleted as of June 30, 2001, application of thedwill non-
amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 is expedizdesult in a decrease in operating expensepmoaimatel
$707,000 for fiscal 2003.

On October 3, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1Adécdunting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lobiyed
Assets." SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121,dWaing for the Impairment of Longived Assets and fi
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of." SFAS No. Jafgblies to all longdived assets (including discontint
operations) and consequently amends Accountingciplas Board Opinion No. 30. SFAS No. 144 develops
accounting model for long-lived assets that areedalisposed of by sale. SFAS No. 144 requiresidimgtived asset
that are to be disposed of by sale be measurdwdower of book value or fair value less costat. Additionally,
SFAS No. 144 expands the scope of discontinuedatipas to include all components of an entity vagierations thi
(i) can be distinguished from the rest of the grditd (ii) will be eliminated from the ongoing op&ons of the enti
in a disposal transaction. SFAS No. 144 is effector the Company for all financial statements éssin fiscal 200:
The adoption of SFAS No. 144 is not expected teetamwaterial impact on our results of operations.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

We will need to raise additional capital to supportour operations, and failure to do so in a timely ranner may
cause us to implement additional cost reduction saitegies

As of March 31, 2002, we had approximately $12.Hioniin cash and cash equivalents. Although weéelel that oL
current cash and cash equivalents will satisfy exppected working capital and capital expenditurguirement
through at least the next twelve months, our bissimeay change in ways we do not currently antieipadjuiring us t
raise additional funds to support our operationdiezathan otherwise expected. Accordingly, we Wik seekin
additional financing during the next twelve monih®rder to meet our cash requirements in fisc@420We may als
seek to explore business opportunities, includicguaing or investing in complementary businesseproducts the
will require additional capital from equity or debburces. Additionally, the development and marketf nev
products could require a significant commitmentre$ources, which could in turn require us to obtilditiona
financing earlier than otherwise expected. We matybe able to obtain additional financing as neeale@dcceptab
terms, or at all, which may require us to furthestuce our operating costs and other expenditurelsiding addition:
reductions of personnel and suspension of salame&ses and capital expenditures. Alternativelyinoaddition t
such potential measures, we may elect to implerotgr cost reduction actions as we may determiaenacessa
and in our best interests, including the possible sr cessation of certain of our business segm@mty such actior
undertaken might limit our opportunities to real@@ans for revenue growth and we might not be édbleeduce ot
costs in amounts sufficient to achieve breaken or profitable operations. If we issue addalogquity or convertib!
debt securities to raise funds, the ownership meage of our existing stockholders would be redudéslv investor
may demand rights, preferences or privileges senidhose of existing holders of our common stdtkve are nc
successful in these actions we may be forced tseceperations.

We have a history of losses and we are uncertain s&sour future profitability

We recorded an operating loss of approximately Gifillion in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002 ave ende
the period with an accumulated deficit of $137.8iam. In addition, we recorded operating losse$ 4.5 million an
$27.1 million for the fiscal years ended March 2001 and 2000, respectively. We expect that we auailitinue t
incur operating losses for the foreseeable futare] such losses may be substantial. We will needetterat



significant revenue growth to achieve an operapngfit. Given our history of fluctuating revenuesdaoperatin
losses, we cannot be certain that we will be ablachieve profitability on either a quarterly omaal basis in tr
future.

If we fail to meet the continued listing requiremers of the Nasdaq National Market, our common stockould be
delisted resulting in a decline in the liquidity ofour common stock

As of March 31, 2002, our common stock was listedtlle Nasdaq National Market. The Nasdag Stock bta
Marketplace Rules impose requirements for compdrstsi on the Nasdaq National Market to maintaieirt listinc
status, including: i) maintaining a minimum bid g&iof $1.00 per share, subject to certain conditiaand ii
maintaining stockholders' equity of at least $1Million or net tangible assets of at least $4.0lian| however
qualifying for listing under the net tangible aslsting standard is only available until Novemlie2002.

Our stockholders' equity and net tangible assets @£3.2 million and $11.7 million, respectively March 31, 200:
Additionally, we have been notified by Nasdagq tiat bid price for our common stock must close ad@per share
more for a minimum of ten consecutive trading ddyseng the ninety calendar day period ending Jyl2@2 or w
may be delisted. Should we fail to regain compleanoader the Nasdaq National Market minimum bid etistinc
standard prior to July 9, 2002, we intend to agplya transfer to the Nasdaq Smallcap Market. Haxgethere is n
guarantee that the Nasdaqg Staff would accept @mster application, in which case our stock woudd delistec
Delisting could reduce the ability of our sharelotdto purchase or sell shares as quickly andexpémsively as the
have done historically. For instance, failure toaoiblisting on another market or exchange may miakere difficull
for traders to sell our securities. Broldgalers may be less willing or able to sell or makaarket in our comm
stock. Not maintaining a listing on a major stocirket may:

result in a decrease in the trading price of ounmon stock due to a decrease in liquidity;
lessen interest by institutions and individualgwesting in our common stock;

make it more difficult to obtain analyst coveragad

make it more difficult for us to raise capital hetfuture.

The growth of our business and future profitability depends on future IP telephony revenue

We believe that our business and future profitgbwiill be largely dependent on widespread markeeatance of ol
IP telephony technology and products. Our videoearfcing semiconductor business has not provided,isit
expected to provide, sufficient revenues to prbfitaoperate our business. To date, we have notrgtstesignificar
revenue from the sale of our IP telephony produttse are not able to generate significant revensedling into th
IP telephony market, our business and operatingtsesould be seriously harmed.

Success of our IP telephony product strategy assuhat there will be future demand for IP telephsggtems ar
services. In order for the IP telephony market @atimue to grow, several things need to occur. Jleeae servic
providers must continue to invest in the deploynantigh speed broadband networks to residentidlammercie
customers. IP networks must improve quality of ervor realtime communications, managing effects such as p
jitter, packet loss, and unreliable bandwidth, st tol- quality service can be provided. IP telephony popgint mus
achieve the 99.999% reliability that users of thblg switched telephone network have come to exfrem thei
telephone service. IP telephony service provideustnoffer cost and feature benefits to their custenthat ar
sufficient to cause the customers to switch awaynftraditional telephony service providers. If amyall of thes
factors fail to occur, our business may not grow.

Our future operating results may not follow past orexpected trends due to many factors and any of tee coulc
cause our stock price to fall

Our historical operating results have fluctuateghsicantly and will likely continue to fluctuaten ithe future, and
decline in our operating results could cause oocksprice to fall. On an annual and a quarterlyiabere are
number of factors that may affect our operatingiites many of which are outside our control. Thiestude, but ar
not limited to:



changes in market demand;

the timing of customer orders;

competitive market conditions;

lengthy sales cycles and/or regulatory approvalesyc
new product introductions by us or our competitors;
market acceptance of new or existing products;

the cost and availability of components;

the mix of our customer base and sales channels;
the mix of products sold;

the management of inventory;

the level of international sales;

continued compliance with industry standards; and
general economic conditions.

Our gross margin is affected by a number of factocduding, product mix, the recognition of licenaad othe
revenues for which there may be little or no cqroesling cost of revenues, product pricing, thecallmn betwee
international and domestic sales, the percentageedt sales and sales to resellers, and manuii@gtand compone
costs. The markets for our products are charaegrig falling average selling prices. We expect,tha a result «
competitive pressures and other factors, grossitpesf a percentage of revenue for our videoconteng
semiconductor products will continue to decreasdHte foreseeable future. Average selling pricadized to date fc
our IP telephony semiconductors have been lowen ttiese historically attained for our videoconfeiag
semiconductor products resulting in lower grossgmast In the likely event that we encounter sigifit price
competition in the markets for our products, welddae at a significant disadvantage compared tocoumpetitors
many of whom have substantially greater resoured,therefore may be better able to withstand #enebed perio
of downward pricing pressure.

Variations in timing of sales may cause significlinttuations in future operating results. In adbhf because
significant portion of our business may be derifeam orders placed by a limited number of largetaconers
including original equipment manufacturers, theinignof such orders can also cause significant diatbns in oL
operating results. Anticipated orders from cust@meay fail to materialize. Delivery schedules maydeferred ¢
canceled for a number of reasons, including chamgespecific customer requirements or internatioeebnomi
conditions. The adverse impact of a shortfall in @yvenues may be magnified by our inability touatljspending 1
compensate for such shortfall. Announcements bycoarpetitors or us of new products and technologiesd caus
customers to defer purchases of our existing pitsdudich would also have a material adverse effaabur busine:
and operating results. As a result of these andrd#ctors, it is likely that in some or all futuperiods our operatit
results will be below the expectations of secuwsitnalysts or investors, which would likely resulta significan
reduction in the market price of our common stock.

If we fail to maintain effectiveness of a registrabn statement for the resale of shares of our commostock
issued in connection with the redemption of our owtanding convertible debt, we may be forced to pag cast
penalty or redeem all or a portion of the shares a#sing our business to suffer

Under the terms of a registration rights agreemanéntered into in connection with the redemptibow outstandin
convertible debt, we agreed to register the 1,@Ddghares of our common stock issued to the formotr holders fc
resale. If we fail to maintain the effectivenesglw# registration statement, we may be requirgobaiocash penalti
and may be required to redeem all or a portiorhefshares of common stock held by the former nokgeins. Unde
the agreement the redemption price would be thieehigf $0.898 or the market price of our commomwlstt the tim
of the redemption. If we are required to pay a gashalty or to redeem any of the shares, this ddflete our ca:
reserves, which may cause harm to our businesstses operations and financial condition.

We depend on purchase orders from key customers anilure to receive significant purchase orders irthe
future would cause a decline in our operating rests

Historically, a significant portion of our salesshiaeen to relatively few customers, although thepasition of thes
customers has varied. Revenues from our ten lagyssbmers for the fiscal years ended March 31220001 an
2000 accounted for approximately 73%, 48% and 3&%¥pectively, of total revenues. Substantiallyoflbur produc



sales have been made, and are expected to cotifigemade, on a purchase order basis. None afustomers h
entered into a longerm agreement requiring it to purchase our praddatthe future, we will need to gain purck
orders for our products to earn additional reverfuather, substantially all of our license and othevenues a
nonrecurring.

The IP telephony market is subject to rapid technalgical change and we depend on new product introdtion in
order to maintain and grow our business

IP telephony is an emerging market that is charaet# by rapid changes in customer requirementxjuin
introductions of new and enhanced products, andiragng and rapid technological advancement. To [meie
successfully in this emerging market, we must cwdito design, develop, manufacture, and sell nevemhance
semiconductor and IP telephony software produatissgnvices that provide increasingly higher lexalperformanc
and reliability at lower cost. These new and enbdmroducts must take advantage of technologicaramements at
changes, and respond to new customer requiren@uatssuccess in designing, developing, manufactuang sellin
such products and services will depend on a vaaktsictors, including:

the identification of market demand for new proguct
the scalability of our IP telephony software pragtc
product and feature selection;

timely implementation of product design and develept;
product performance;

cost-effectiveness of products under development;
effective manufacturing processes; and

success of promotional efforts.

Additionally, we may also be required to collaberatith third parties to develop our products angy mat be able 1
do so on a timely and cosffective basis, if at all. We have in the pastexignced delays in the development of
products and the enhancement of existing prodacis,such delays will likely occur in the futurewe are unabl
due to resource constraints or technological oeroteasons, to develop and introduce new or endgo@sucts in
timely manner, if such new or enhanced productsatocachieve sufficient market acceptance, or ihsoew produc
introductions decrease demand for existing prodweis operating results would decline and our bessnwould nc
grow.

The long and variable sales and deployment cyclesrfour IP telephony software products may cause ol
revenue and operating results to vary

Our IP telephony software and semiconductor pragjucicluding our hosted iPBX and eSLEE products aut
Audacity family of semiconductors, have lengthyesatycles, and we may incur substantial sales asdkeating
expenses and expend significant management efiitimowt making a sale. A customer's decision to pase oL
products often involves a significant commitmentitefresources and a lengthy product evaluation caradificatior
process. In addition, the length of our sales syalgl vary depending on the type of customer taomhwe are sellin
and the product being sold. Even after making tbesibn to purchase our products, our customers aegjoy ou
products slowly. Timing of deployment can vary wydand will depend on various factors, including:

the size of the network deployment;

the complexity of our customers' network environtegn

our customers' skill sets;

the hardware and software configuration and custataoin necessary to deploy our products; and
our customers' ability to finance their purchasewf products.

As a result, it is difficult for us to predict tlygiarter in which our customers may purchase otel#phony software
semiconductor products, and our revenue and opgregsults may vary significantly from quarter teacer.

If our products do not interoperate with our customers' networks, orders for our products will be delged or
canceled and substantial product returns could ocaywhich could harm our business



Many of the potential customers for our hosted iP8¥ eSLEBased products have requested that our produ
designed to interoperate with their existing nespeach of which may have different specificatiand use multip!
standards. Our customers' networks may containpteijenerations of products from different vendbiet have bee
added over time as their networks have grown aotl’ed. Our products must interoperate with theselpcts as we
as with future products in order to meet our custicrequirements. In some cases, we may be regir@odify ou
product designs to achieve a sale, which may rasuét longer sales cycle, increased research amedlagemen
expense, and reduced operating margins. If ourystsdlo not interoperate with existing equipmergaftware in oL
customers' networks, installations could be delageders for our products could be canceled orpooaducts could k
returned. This could harm our business, finan@aldion, and results of operations.

We may have difficulty identifying the source of tle problem when there is a problem in a network

Our hosted iPBX and Packet8 solutions must sucagsshtegrate with products from other vendorsclsua:
traditional telephone systems. As a result, whafblpms occur in a network, it may be difficult teentify the sourc
of the problem. The occurrence of hardware andvswoé errors, whether caused by our hosted iPBXisoluPacket
solution or another vendor's products, may resulhe delay or loss of market acceptance of oudymts and ar
necessary revisions may force us to incur sigmfiexpenses. The occurrence of some of these tfgasblems ma
seriously harm our business, financial conditiod eesults of operations.

Intense competition in the markets in which we comgte could prevent us from increasing or sustainingur
revenue and prevent us from achieving profitability

We expect our competitors to continue to improve gerformance of their current products and intcednev
products or new technologies. If our competitorscegsfully introduce new products or enhance tb&isting
products, this could reduce the sales or markegaace of our products and services, increase pampetition ¢
make our products obsolete. To be competitive, wistncontinue to invest significant resources ineagsh an
development, sales and marketing, and customerosupfye may not have sufficient resources to makese
investments or to make the technological advaneesssary to be competitive, which in turn will caasir busine:
to suffer.

In addition, our focus on developing a range ohtetogy products, including semiconductors andteelambedde
software, hosted iPBX solutions, and eSLEE basemtymts, places a significant strain on our reseant
development resources. Competitors that focus @nagpect of technology, such as software or semiigziars, ma
have a considerable advantage over us. In addititany of our current and potential competitors h&vegel
operating histories, are substantially larger, Bade greater financial, manufacturing, marketieghnical, and oth
resources. For example, certain competitors in rtteeket for our semiconductor products maintain rthawn
semiconductor foundries and may therefore benedinfcertain capacity, cost and technical advantagesy als
have greater name recognition and a larger indt&lése of products than we have. Competition innoarkets ma
result in significant price reductions. As a regltheir greater resources, many current and piatesompetitors me
be better able than us to initiate and withstagdiicant price competition or downturns in the eomy. There can |
no assurance that we will be able to continue to caenpéfectively, and any failure to do so would havar busines
operating results, and financial condition.

If we do not develop and maintain successful partmships for IP telephony products, we may not be alkl tc
successfully market our solutions

We are entering into new market areas and our sadsepartly dependent on our ability to forge mearketing an
engineering partnerships. IP telephony communinasgstems are extremely complex and no single cow
possesses all the required technology componeptiedeo build a complete end to end solution. WElkely neec
to enter into partnerships to augment our developmpegrams and to assist us in marketing compgleligtions to oL
targeted customers. We may not be able to develcp gartnerships in the course of our product agreent. Even
we do establish the necessary partnerships, wenamialye able to adequately capitalize on these @astips to aid i
the success of our business.

Inability to protect our proprietary technology or our infringement of a third party's proprietary tec hnology
would disrupt our business



We rely in part on trademark, copyright, and traderet law to protect our intellectual propertythe United State
and abroad. We seek to protect our software, dootatien, and other written materials under traderetean:
copyright law, which afford only limited protectioMVe also rely in part on patent law to protect miellectua
property in the United States and internationally.of the date of this filing we hold fortyine United States pate
and have a number of United States and foreigmpaggplications pending. We cannot predict whetheh pendin
patent applications will result in issued pateM& may not be able to protect our proprietary ggintthe Unite
States or internationally (where effective intefled property protection may be unavailable or tad), ani
competitors may independently develop technologies are similar or superior to our technology, lthate ou
technology or design around any patent of ours.NAle in the past licensed and in the future exprecontinue
licensing our technology to others; many of who laeated or may be located abroad. There are noasses thi
such licensees will protect our technology fromapopriation. Moreover, litigation may be necegsarthe futur
to enforce our intellectual property rights, toatatine the validity and scope of the proprietaghts of others, or
defend against claims of infringement or invalidiSuch litigation could result in substantial costsl diversion ¢
management time and resources and could have aighatdverse effect on our business, financial @wd liquidity
and operating results. Any settlement or adverserahknation in such litigation would also subjest o significar
liability.

There has been substantial litigation in the sendootor, electronics, and related industries raggrihtellectua
property rights, and from time to time third pastimay claim infringement by us of their intelledtpeoperty rights
Our broad range of technology, including systengtal and analog circuits, software, and semicanolts, increast
the likelihood that third parties may claim infremgent by us of their intellectual property rightswe were found t
be infringing on the intellectual property right$ any third party, we could be subject to liabdgi for suc
infringement, which could be material. We couldoalse required to refrain from using, manufacturorgselling
certain products or using certain processes, edharhich could have a material adverse effect onhsiness ar
operating results. From time to time, we have raakiand may continue to receive in the futureicestof claims ¢
infringement, misappropriation or misuse of otharties' proprietary rights. There can be no asserdhat we wil
prevail in these discussions and actions or tHaraactions alleging infringement by us of thpary patents will nc
be asserted or prosecuted against the Company.

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwared software, licensed from third parties. Theaa be n
assurance that the technology licensed by us wiiticue to provide competitive features and funwiay or tha
licenses for technology currently utilized by usotiner technology which we may seek to licensénenftiture will b
available to us on commercially reasonable termat @ll. The loss of, or inability to maintain etig licenses cou
result in shipment delays or reductions until egleént technology or suitable alternative producisld be develope
identified, licensed and integrated, and could haum business. These licenses are on standard cmmamrm:
made generally available by the companies provittegicenses. The cost and terms of these licendesdually are
not material to our business.

Continued reductions in levels of capital investmenby telecommunication service providers might impat our
ability to increase revenue and prevent us from acghving profitability

The market for interndbased communication services provided by teleconmation service providers has o
begun to emerge, and many of these service prevaterstill building their infrastructure and depim their service:
These telecommunication service providers requibstntial capital for the development, construtand expansic
of their networks and the introduction of theirgees. Financing may not be available to telecomation servic
providers on favorable terms, if at all. The indbilbf our current or potential telecommunicatiogrnsgce provide
customers to acquire and keep customers, to sdalgsaise needed funds, or to respond to anyrattemds such
price reductions for their services or diminishesiméind for telecommunication services generally|ccagversel
affect their operating results or cause them taicedtheir capital spending programs. If our currentpotentic
customers are forced to defer or further curtairticapital spending programs, sales of our hos8X and eSLEI
products to those telecommunication service progided sales of our IP telephony semiconductorsaoufacturel
of telecommunication equipment may be adverselgcéétd, which would negatively impact our busindsgncia
condition, and results of operations. In additiorgny of the industries in which telecommunicatienvi&e provider
operate have experienced consolidation. The losm@for more of our current or potential telecomitation servic
provider or telecommunication equipment OEM custanthrough industry consolidation or otherwiseyldareduc
or eliminate our sales to such a customer and qoesgly harm our business, financial condition, aesults o



operations.

The failure of IP networks to meet the reliability and quality standards required for voice communicaions
could render our products obsolete

Circuit-switched telephony networks feature very high bglity, with a guaranteed quality of service. Ind#tbn, sucl
networks have imperceptible delay and consistesatisfactory audio quality. Emerging broadband éBworks, suc
as LANs, WANSs, and the Internet, or emerging lage nechnologies such as cable, digital subscrlvess, ani
wireless local loop, may not be used for telephonless such networks and technologies can prowlikbility anc
guality consistent with these standards.

Our products must comply with industry standards ard FCC regulations, and changes may require us to nady
existing products

In addition to reliability and quality standardbetmarket acceptance of telephony over broadbanaet®Rorks i
dependent upon the adoption of industry standawodghat products from multiple manufacturers areeatt
communicate with each other. IP telephony prodredisheavily on standards such as H.323, SIP, MG@OR,Megac
to interoperate with other vendors' equipment. &hercurrently a lack of agreement among industadérs abo
which standard should be used for a particulariegipbn, and about the definition of the standatdsmselves. W
also must comply with certain rules and regulatiafsthe Federal Communications Commission rega
electromagnetic radiation and safety standardbkstted by Underwriters Laboratories as well asilainregulation
and standards applicable in other countries. Stdsdare continuously being modified and replacesl.sfandarc
evolve, we may be required to modify our existimgducts or develop and support new versions ofpooducts. Th
failure of our products to comply, or delays in gdiance, with various existing and evolving indysitandards cou
delay or interrupt volume production of our IP meny products, which would have a material adveffect on ou
business, financial condition and operating results

Future regulation or legislation of the Internet cauld restrict our business or increase our cost ofaing business

At present there are few laws or regulations tpatdically address access to or commerce on ttegnet, includin
IP telephony. We are unable to predict the impdcgny, that future legislation, legal decisions regulation
concerning the Internet may have on our businésandial condition, and results of operations. Raigon may b
targeted towards, among other things, assessirgsa@r settlement charges, imposing tariffs or simgpregulation
based on encryption concerns or the charactermtidgquality of products and services, any of winotld restrict ot
business or increase our cost of doing business.ifitreasing growth of the broadband IP telephomyket ani
popularity of broadband IP telephony products asmises heighten the risk that governments wilksteregulat
broadband IP telephony and the Internet. In additlarge, established telecommunication companiag devot
substantial lobbying efforts to influence the reguan of the broadband IP telephony market, whiely tme contrary 1
our interests.

We may transition to smaller geometry process tectotogies and higher levels of design integration, vi¢h could
disrupt our business

We continuously evaluate the benefits, on an imiegr circuit, product-bproduct basis, of migrating to sma
geometry process technologies in order to reducgtscoelated to the development and production of
semiconductors. We believe that the transitionwfgroducts to increasingly smaller geometries élimportant fc
us to remain competitive. We have in the past e&peed difficulty in migrating to new manufacturipgocesse
which has resulted and could continue to resuieduced vyields, delays in product deliveries, ammldased expen
levels. Moreover, we are dependent on relationskifs our foundries and their partners to migradesmalle
geometry processes successfully. If any such ttangs substantially delayed or inefficiently ingphented, we m:
experience delays in product introductions andrimecreased expenses. As smaller geometry processesne moi
prevalent, we expect to integrate greater levelduattionality, as well as customer and third pairtyellectua
property, into our products. We cannot predict \ubethigher levels of design integration or the akehird-party
intellectual property will adversely affect our kiyito deliver new integrated products on a timesis, or at all.

We depend on contract manufacturers to manufacturesubstantially all of our products, and any delay o



interruption in manufacturing by these contract manufacturers would result in delayed or reduced shiprents tc
our customers and may harm our business

We outsource the manufacturing of our semicondyatoducts to independent foundries. Our primaryisenducto
manufacturer is Taiwan Semiconductor Manufactu@ggporation (TSMC). While TSMC has been a valuadie
capable supplier, there are no assurances or sapptyacts guaranteeing that they will continusupply us with ot
required wafer supply. Furthermore, Taiwan is alsvaubject to geological or geopolitical disturbanteat coul
instantly cut off such supply. We also rely on othieird party manufacturers for packaging and testof ou
semiconductors.

We do not have lonterm purchase agreements with our contract manutstor our component suppliers. There
be no assurance that our subcontract manufactwmiirbe able or willing to reliably manufacture oproducts, i
volumes, on a cost effective basis or in a timelgnmer. For our semiconductor products, the timedd ou
technology to another foundry, the time to quatifg new versions of product, and the cost of thimteas well as th
tooling associated with wafer production would havenaterial adverse effect on our business, opegraésults, ar
financial condition.

If we discover product defects, we may have produgtlated liabilities which may cause us to lose remees ol
delay market acceptance of our products

Products as complex as those we offer frequentiytato errors, defects, and functional limitationken firs
introduced or as new versions are released. We hmavhe past experienced such errors, defects woctifana
limitations. We sell products into markets that exéremely demanding of robust, reliable, fully ¢tional product:
Therefore, delivery of products with production et or reliability, quality or compatibility pradrins couli
significantly delay or hinder market acceptancesath products, which could damage our credibilighwout
customers and adversely affect our ability to retaurr existing customers and to attract new custenidoreovel
such errors, defects or functional limitations cbohuse problems, interruptions, delays or a dessaf sales to ol
customers. Alleviating such problems may requignigicant expenditures of capital and resourcesifyDespite ol
testing, our suppliers or our customers may fintbrer defects or functional limitations in new pucts afte
commencement of commercial production. This coelsult in additional development costs, loss ofdelays in
market acceptance, diversion of technical and atheources from our other development efforts, pebdepair ©
replacement costs, claims by our customers or ®thgainst us, or the loss of credibility with owrrent an
prospective customers.

We have significant international operations, whichsubject us to risks that could cause our operatingesults tc
decline

Sales to customers outside of the United Stataaglthie years ended March 31, 2002, 2001 and 2@06 61%, 69¢
and 47% of total revenues, respectively. The falhguatable illustrates our net revenues by geogaplea. Revenu
are attributed to countries based on the destmatichipment (in thousands):

Y ear Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000
United States...........cooeevveeeeens $ 5,77 7% 5632 % 13,381
EUrope.......ccovvveeeeiiiiiiieee e 4,12 6 5,862 5,808
TalWaN.....ccoooveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeee 2,02 6 2,739 1,737
N F=T o7 o PO 1,11 9 1,188 2,351
(@] 1 a1<] SR 1,64 3 2,807 2,107

$ 14,69 1$ 18228 $ 25,384




Substantially all of our current semiconductor asydstemlevel products are, and substantially all of outufe
products will be, manufactured, assembled, anedelsy independent third parties in foreign coustriaternation:
sales and manufacturing are subject to a humbeiskd, including general economic conditions inioeg such ¢
Asia, changes in foreign government regulationstatetommunication standards, export license requents, tarift
and taxes, other trade barriers, fluctuations mericy exchange rates, difficulty in collecting aagnts receivable, a
difficulty in staffing and managing foreign operats. We are also subject to geopolitical riskshsaagpolitical, socie
and economic instability, potential hostilitiesdachanges in diplomatic and trade relationshipspimection with ot
international operations. Taiwan in particular iject to a high rate of natural disasters, sucleathquakes
typhoons, which could have significant impact om suppliers and customers due to a delay in opgrstvithin the
country. In addition, Taiwan's tenuous relationswigh mainland China is a source of continuing @ncdue t
potential hostilities. A significant decline in dand from foreign markets could have a material esb/effect on ol
business, operating results, and financial condlitio

We need to retain key personnel to support our prodcts and ongoing operations

The development and marketing of our IP telephamglpcts will continue to place a significant straim our limitec
personnel, management, and other resources. Wielgace of economic growth in the San Francisco Biag
(where our corporate headquarters are located3loa®d in recent months, competition for highlylleki engineering
sales, marketing, and support personnel has rechaineng. Any failure to retain qualified personnelld adverse
affect our financial results and impair our growitile have no written employment contracts with empeés but w
have provided Joe Parkinson, our Chairman and fo@héf Executive Officer, through a resolutionafr Board o
Directors, with severance benefits that vest owee as a retention device. Similarly, the Boar@®okctors authorize
severance arrangements with Bryan R. Martin, Dilif°PBednarz, David M. Stoll, and certain otheredgresidents ¢
Netergy Microelectronics, Inc., which are all fullyested. We primarily rely on equity compensatidanp an
compensation policies to retain our key persona.currently do not maintain key person life insu@ policies o
any of our employees.

We may not be able to manage our inventory leveldfectively, which may lead to inventory obsolescemcthat
would force us to lower our prices

Our products have lead times of up to several nsrthd are built to forecasts that are necessarplyecise. Becau
of our practice of building our products to neceidsamprecise forecasts, it is likely that, fronme to time, we wil
have either excess or insufficient product invent@xcess inventory levels would subject us torikk of inventon
obsolescence and the risk that our selling pricag nrop below our inventory costs, while insuffitidevels o
inventory may negatively affect relations with @maers. Any of these factors could have a matedaéese effect ¢
our business, operating results, and financial itimmd

Our stock price has been highly volatile

The market price of the shares of our common shaskbeen and is likely to be highly volatile. Ityrise significantl
affected by factors such as:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults;

announcements of technical innovations;

loss of key personnel;

new products or new contracts by us, our compstibotheir customers; and

developments with respect to patents or proprigights, general market conditions, changes inniomnel
estimates by securities analysts, and other faatbish could be unrelated to, or outside our cdntro

The stock market has from time to time experiersigdificant price and volume fluctuations that haaaticularly
affected the market prices for the common stockecinology companies and that have often beernaledeto th
operating performance of particular companies. &h@ead market fluctuations may adversely affeetrttarket pric
of our common stock. In the past, following perioofsvolatility in the market price of a company'scarities
securities class action litigation has often beetiated against the issuing company. If our stpdke is volatile, w
may also be subject to such litigation. Such liiyacould result in substantial costs and a dieeref managemen
attention and resources, which would disrupt bussinend could cause a decline in our operating teesahy



settlement or adverse determination in such libgetvould also subject us to significant liability.
The location of our headquarters facility subjectaus to the risk of earthquakes

Our corporate headquarters is located in the Sancisco Bay area of Northern California, a regionwn for seismi
activity. A significant natural disaster, such asearthquake, could have a material adverse imgacur busines
operating results, and financial condition.

We may face interruption of production and servicesdue to increased security measures in response recent
and potential future terrorist activities

Our business depends on the free flow of produots services through the channels of commerce. Rgcean
response to terrorists' activities and threats diatehe United States, transportation, mail, faxanand other servic
have been slowed or stopped altogether. Furthaysl@r stoppages in transportation, mail, finanaiadther service
particularly any such delays or stoppages whiclmhaur ability to obtain an adequate supply of waf@nd produc
from our independent foundries, could harm our ess, results of operations and financial conditleurthermore
we may experience an increase in operating casth, & costs for transportation, insurance andisgas a result ¢
the terrorist activities and potential activiti®e may also experience delays in receiving paymgaits customel
that have been affected by the terrorist actividied potential activities. The United States econongeneral is beir
adversely affected by terrorist activities and ptteg terrorist activities. Any economic downturoutd adversel
impact our results of operations, impair our apild raise capital or otherwise adversely affeatatuility to grow ou
business. Moreover, we cannot determine whether atttacks may occur in the future and the effettuch attack
on our business.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Our financial market risk consists primarily of k$sassociated with international operations andtedl foreig
currencies. We derive a significant portion of oewenues from customers in Europe and Asia. Inrdaeeduce th
risk from fluctuation in foreign exchange ratese thast majority of our sales are denominated in. d@lars. Ir
addition, all of our arrangements with our semiagstidr foundry and assembly vendors are denominatdd.S
dollars. We have foreign subsidiaries and are éxp®sed to market risk from changes in exchangs.réife have n
entered into any currency hedging activities. Ttedaur exposure to exchange rate volatility hasbeen significan
however, there can be no assurance that theraotibe a material impact in the future.

We invest the majority of our surplus cash and eghivalents in money market funds that bear végiatterest rate
and, accordingly, fluctuations in interest ratesndd have an impact on the fair values of suchstments. Howeve
given the currently low yields on such money marketds and other lowisk governmental and corporate ¢
securities, in March 2002 the Company's Board oé®ors authorized us to open securities tradicguats and mal
investments in other classes of securities that gemerate higher returns. The amount allocatedudoh investmen
was $1.0 million to be invested on behalf of 8x8&;.lat the direction of the Company's Chairman,Rx&inson; Chie
Executive Officer, Bryan Martin; or Chief Financi@lfficer, David Stoll. Mr. Parkinson has agreedptrsonall
reimburse 8x8 on a quarterly basis for any losesalting from his trading activities in order tointain a minimun
investment account balance of $1.0 million. The l@daas been assured of Mr. Parkinson's abilityoteec any suc
losses; however, should he be unable to do souldcbave a material impact on our cash flows arsllte o
operations. As part of the arrangement, our Boardikeectors has expressed its intent, but not athian, to pay Mi
Parkinson a quarterly bonus in an amount equab% af the profits attributable to investments madeour behalf b
Mr. Parkinson to the extent such a bonus exceeslsdlary for the corresponding period. The Companyir.
Parkinson can terminate this arrangement at ang, thubject to the terms of an agreement that hexs fded with thi:
Report as exhibit 10.24. As of March 31, 2002,&heé) million was invested in money market funds.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 8r8,

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present faiilyall materia
respects, the financial position of 8x8, Inc. atsdsubsidiaries at March 31, 2002 and March 31126860d the resul
of their operations and their cash flows for eatkhe three years in the period ended March 31220Cconformity
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America. In addition, in ourrepn, the financie
statement schedule listed in the accompanying imdegents fairly, in all material respects, theinfation set fort
therein when read in conjunction with the relatedsolidated financial statements. These finanta&ements and tl
financial statement schedule are the responsitolitthe Company's management; our responsibility iexpress ¢
opinion on these financial statements and finarstetement schedule based on our audits. We cadloar audits «
these statements in accordance with auditing stdadgenerally accepted in the United States of Agaemwnhict
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finastat@ments a
free of material misstatement. An audit includesamexing, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuats an
disclosures in the financial statements, assegfiagaccounting principles used and significantnesties made
management, and evaluating the overall financiatestent presentation. We believe that our auditwige ¢
reasonable basis for our opinion.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Jose, California
April 29, 2002

8X8, INC.



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTYS)

March 31,
2002 2001
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents......................... .. $ 12,422 $ 24,126
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of
$286 and $389, respectively......cccccceeeeee. L 1,239 2,907
INVENTOIY ..o 733 1,328
Other current @sSetS....ccccovvvvvveeeeeevneeeee 612 2,571
Total current assets.....ccccceeeeeveeeee. L 15,006 30,932
Property and equipment, net.........................— L 2,740 5,016
Intangibles and other assets.........ccccoeeeeeeeee. L 1,907 3,197

$ 19,653 $ 39,145

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable.........ccooveeeeeiiiiiieeee. L $ 548 $ 1,387
Accrued compensation.......ccccceeeeeeveennnenns 921 1,531
Accrued warranty.......cccooeevieiiccneeeeeeeee 478 525
Deferred revenue........cccccceeveeeeee. L 2,421 5,903
Other accrued liabilities...........ccoeeeeeeeee. L 958 1,623
Income taxes payable.................ccceeeeeeee. L 280 306
Total current liabilities.......ccccceee. L 5,606 11,275
Convertible subordinated debentures................ .~ ... -- 6,238
Total liabilities......ccccceeevveeeeeee L 5,606 17,513
Contingently redeemable common stock................ ... 813 --
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value:
Authorized: 5,000,000 shares;
Issued and outstanding: 1 share at March 31, 2 002
and March 31, 2001.......ccccovvvevvvneeeee -- --
Common stock, $0.001 par value:
Authorized: 100,000,000 shares at March 31, 20 02
and March 31, 2001;
Issued and outstanding: 28,228,215 shares of ¢ ommon
stock at March 31, 2002 and 26,419,919 shares
of common stock and 260,807 Exchangeable
Shares at March 31, 2001.........ccccceeeeeee. Ll 27 27
Additional paid-in capital................oeeeeee. L 150,612 150,015
Notes receivable from stockholders................... .. -- (1)
Deferred compensation.........cccccceeeeeeeeeee. L (30) (174
Accumulated other comprehensive loss......cccoeee.. L (99) (89)
Accumulated deficit.........ooovevcvvciiie. L (137,276) (128,146)
Total stockholders' equity......ccccc... . 13,234 21,632

$ 19,653 $ 39,145




The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.

8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Product revenues..........ccceeeeeevvvvneeveennnn.
License and other revenues...........c.............

Total revenues.........ccccoevvvevnnnnen.

Cost of product revenues..................ceee...
Cost of license and other revenues.................

Total cost of revenues...................
Gross profit..........ccoeeeeceiiinnnnns

Operating expenses:
Research and development.........................
Selling, general and administrative..............
In-process research and development..............
Amortization of intangibles.....................
Restructuring charge.........cccccccoeeenn.

Total operating expenses.................

Loss from operations...........ccccoeeeeeeeeeenn.
Other income, Net.........cccuveeeeeeeeieeneennenn.
INnterest eXPense.........oovvevveeeeeeeiineenennnn,

Loss before provision for income taxes.............
Provision for income taxes..............cccuuve.

Net loss before extraordinary gain and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle ........

Extraordinary gain on extinguishment of debt, net..

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

NEt I0SS....uuiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e

Basic and diluted per share amounts:
Net loss before extraordinary gain and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle ......
Extraordinary gain on extinguishment of debt, net
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princip

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2001 2000

...$ 6,044 $ 12,808 $ 20,817

8,647 5420 4,567

14,691 18,228 25,384

2,626 5,225 8,448
197 1,761 150

2,823 6,986 8,598

11,868 11,242 16,786

11,565 18,736 11,909
9,554 18,113 21,307

- 4,563 10,100
763 10,987 614
- 33,316 --

21,882 85,715 43,930

(10,014) (74,473) (27,144)
1,029 2,628 2,807
(884) (1,456) (391)

(9,869) (73,301) (24,728)
15 17 120

(9,884) (73,318) (24,848)
779 - -
~ (1,081 -

... $ (9,105) $ (74,399) $ (24,848)

..$ (0.36)$ (2.95)% (1.38)
v 003 - -
le. - (0.04) -

..$ (0.33)$ (2.99)$ (1.38)




Basic and diluted shares outstanding...............

27,271 24,846 18,071

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheasolidated financial statements.

8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARES)

Preferred Stock

Shares

Common Stock
Paid-in

Amount

Notes
Receivable
Additional
Stock-
Capital

from

holders

Balance at March 31, 1999...... - $ -
Acquisition of Odisei S.A. .... - - 2
Issuance of common stock to

STMicroelectronics, net...... -- - 3
Issuance of warrants with

convertible subordinated

debentures.........cccc..... - - -
Issuance of common stock under

stock plans.................. - -
Repayment of notes receivable

from stockholders............ - -
Repurchase of common stock..... - --
Deferred compensation related

to stock options............. - - -
Realized loss on investments... - - -
Net 10SS.....cccceevvvevieeans - - -

,988,646

,700,000

906,119

(61:-596)

15,425,752 $ 15 $ 48,363 $
3

4

1

13,264  (76)

35,089 -

2,467 - -

2,079 --

240 -
(43) 33

(266) $

Balance at March 31, 2000...... -
Acquisition of UForce, Inc. ... 1 - 3 ,5655,303
Issuance of common stock under

stock plans.................. - -1 ,206,591
Repayment of notes receivable

from stockholders............ - - -
Repurchase of common stock and

Exchangeable Shares.......... - - @
Deferred compensation related

to stock options............. - - -
Value of beneficial conversion

feature associated with the

convertible subordinated

debentures................... - - -

Change in unrealized loss on
investments.................. --
Cumulative translation

,040,089)

23
4

1

101,559  (69)
445584 -

@

2,761 --
60 -

(521) 8

551 -- 20

Balance at March 31, 2001...... 1 - 26,680,726
Redemption of convertible

subordinated debentures...... - -1
Issuance of common stock under

stock plans.................. - -
Issuance of common stock to

debt holders to satisfy

interest obligations......... - -
Forgiveness of note receivable.  -- -
Deferred compensation related

to stock options............. - - -

,000,000

457,346

95,699
(5,556)

27

150,015 (1)

321 --

335 --

Deferre
Compensa
tion

Accumulated

other

d Comprehen-

- sive
Loss

(89) (128,146)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total

(74,399)

21,632

(25)

2¢



Cumulative translation

Balance at March 31, 2002...... 1$ - 28 228215 $ 27 $ 150,612 $ - $  (30)$  (99) $ (137,276) $ 13,234

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheasolidated financial statements.

8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2001 2000

Cash flows from operating activities:
NEtIOSS....coociviiiiei i $ (9,105) $ (74,399) $ (24,848)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash use d
in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization................. .. 3,862 14,355 2,118
Extraordinary gain due to debt redemption...... .. (779) -- --
Stock compensation expense............cceeeeee. i (12) 753 161
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princ iple...... -- 1,081 --
In-process research and development............. ... - 4,563 10,100
Discount on issuance of common stock............ L. -- -- 7,400
Gain on sale of investments, net.............~ ... (131) (225) (1,687)
Non-cash restructuring charges................. ... - 32,331 --
Othel e 26 (20) --

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects
of businesses acquired and sold:

Accounts receivable...........cccooceeeeeeee. L 1,668 851 3,492
INVENEOIY . covviiviiiieiee e 501 (85) 2,548
Other current and noncurrent assets.......... ... 1,607 (1,281) (96)
Accounts payable......cccoccvvvevevvveene. (839) (2,197) (72)
Accrued compensation.........ccccceeecceceees (610) (623) 583
Accrued warranty......cccccccoeeeennne. L 47 (169) (349
Deferred revenue.......cccccveveeveveeeene (3,482) 197 (3,358)
Other accrued liabilities........cccceeeeeeee. L (579) 378 (48)
Income taxes payable........................ L. (26) (78) 27)
Net cash used in operating activities..... ... (7,945) (24,568) (4,082)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of property and equipment........... ... (A72) (6,127) (1,693)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net...................~ ... -- (558) (149
Proceeds from sale of investments................ . ... 543 225 1,880
Proceeds from the sale of video monitoring assets , het..... -- 5,160 --
Proceeds from the sale of equipment............... ... 116 -- --

Net cash provided by (used in) investing a ctivities. 487  (1,300) 38



Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinate d
debentures......cccccvvvvv. -- -- 7,500
Debt issuance COStS.........coeevvcvvvvvvvncees -- -- (617)
Debt repaymentS.....ccccccvvveveeveiveeieeenees (4,581) (891) --
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net...... ... 335 2,763 29,763
Repayment of notes receivable from stockholders.. ... -- 60 240
Repurchase of common stock and Exchangeable Share Seeeeeeen -- (514) (76)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing a ctivities. (4,246) 1,418 36,810
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent Sereeeeen (11,704) (24,450) 32,766
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year....... ... 24,126 48,576 15,810
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year.............. ... $ 12,422 $ 24,126 $ 48,576

Supplemental and non-cash disclosures:

Income taxes paid......c..ccoceevveevvveeeees $ 12% 25% 34

Interest paid.......ccocvveveveeecieeeeeeees $ 204 308% -

Common stock issued to satisfy interest obligatio ns........ $ 978 -% -

Issuance of shares and repricing of warrants in
connection with the debt extinguishment....... . ... $ 1,109 % - -

Issuance of shares and assumption of options in
connection with the acquisition of U|Force....

Public stock received in exchange for
furniture and equipment.......................

Issuance of shares in connection with the acquis ition
of OdiS€i.ccvciiiiiiiiiieeieeeeee $ -9$ - $ 13267

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheasolidated financial statements.

8X8, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 -- THE COMPANY AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTIN G POLICIES

THE COMPANY

8x8, Inc., or 8x8, and its subsidiaries (colledifye¢he Company) develop and market communicatemimology fo



Internet Protocol or, IP, telephony and video aggilons. The Company has three primary producslineice an
video semiconductors and related software; hostedrriet Private Branch Exchange, or iPBX, solutioasc
telecommunication services software and consunoatyats.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001, 8x®nfed two subsidiaries, Netergy Microelectronics;. I(Netergy
and Centile, Inc. (Centile) and reorganized itsrapens more clearly along its three product lines.

o Netergy provides voice and video semiconductorsrataded communication software to original equiptne
manufacturers (OEMS) of telephones, terminal adapéand other edge devices and to other semicomduct
companies. Netergy's technologies are used to iratadephones and to voice-enable cable and digital
subscriber line modems, wireless devices, and dtteexdband technologies.

o Centile develops and markets hosted iPBX solutibasallow service providers to offer to small anddium-
sized businesses over broadband networks the ésadad functions that a user commonly expectsitbifi a
typical business phone system. A hosted iPBX smiug a software application that implements the
functionality of a business phone system over #mesdata connection that a business uses for cioomée the
Internet. The phone system software runs on sethiatsare located at a central data center sdhbainly
phone system equipment that is required at themestsite are telephones. The phone system cambalso
accessed and controlled from any web browser oimtkenet.

¢ 8x8 has a third product line that includes conswigkgophones, telephones and communication softessde
services that work over broadband networks.

The Company was incorporated in California in Febyul987, and in December 1996 was reincorporat
Delaware. In August 2000, the Company changedateenfrom 8x8, Inc. to Netergy Networks, Inc. Then(pan)
changed its name back to 8x8, Inc. in July 2001.

LIQUIDITY

The Company has sustained net losses and negaskidlows from operations since fiscal 1999 thaehaeen funde
primarily through the issuance of equity securiiadgl borrowings. Management expects to experieegative cash
flows for the foreseeable future and such lossesheasubstantial. As of March 31, 2002, the Compeay $12.4
million of cash and cash equivalents and managebwig@ves these funds, combined with expected e&from
operations, will be sufficient to meet the Comparpgdsh needs for fiscal 2003. The Company willdekisng
additional financing during the next twelve monith®rder to meet its cash requirements for fis€€l® There is no
assurance that the Company will be able to obtaanting on terms favorable to the Company, otlaFailure to
increase revenues, to manage net operating expandds raise additional financing through publipovate equity
financing or other sources of financing may resuthe Company not achieving its longer term bussnabjectives.

FISCAL YEAR

Effective beginning in fiscal 2001, the Companyraleed its fiscal year from a year ending on the $tay closest
March 31 to a year ending on March 31. Fiscal 208% 52 weeks and 2 days, while fiscal 2002 an@lfi2a00 wer
52 weeks and 53 weeks, respectively. For all psrrdsented in these consolidated financial statesnhe Compar
has indicated its fiscal year ends on March 31.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Adinsicani
intercompany accounts and transactions have berimated.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statets, in conformity with accounting principles geally accepte
in the United States, requires management to makmaes and assumptions that affect the reponmecuats o



assets, liabilities and equity and disclosure aiftiogent liabilities at the date of the financigatements and tl
reported amounts of revenues and expenses duengpiorting period. On an @oing basis, the Company evalui
its estimates, including, but not limited to, thasdated to bad debts, investments, goodwill aridnigible asset
income taxes, restructuring and impairment charged, other contingencies. The Company bases iimass o
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat are believed to be reasonable under tbenestances, tl
results of which form the basis for making judgnseabout the carrying value of assets and lialslitleat are n
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resuttsid differ from those estimates under differassumptions «
conditions.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Product revenue-- The Company recognizes revenue from product sgies shipment to OEMs and end u
provided that persuasive evidence of an arrangeraeists, the price is fixed, title has transferredllection o
resulting receivables is reasonably assured, trer@o customer acceptance requirements, anddhereo remainir
significant obligations. Reserves for returns alidwances for OEM and end user sales are recortdéueaime o
shipment. The Company defers recognition of revestusales to distributors and resellers where itte of returr
exists until products are resold to the end user.

License and other revenue- The Company recognizes revenue from licenseractst when a non-cancelable, non-
contingent license agreement has been signed, dfiwase product has been delivered, no uncert@néeis
surrounding product acceptance, fees from the aggrtare fixed and determinable, and collectioprabable. Th
Company uses the residual method to recognize vevehen a license agreement includes one or meneeeits to
delivered at a future date if evidence of the Yailue of all undelivered elements exists. If evickenf the fair value «
the undelivered elements does not exist, revendefesred and recognized when delivery occurs. WherCompan
enters into a license agreement requiring thaCibiapany provide significant customization of thé&ware product:
the license and consulting revenue is recognizetyuntract accounting. Revenue from maintenamgreements
recognized ratably over the term of the maintenageement, which in most instances is one yeag. Gbmpan
recognizes royalties upon notification of sale ty/licensees. Revenue from consulting, trainingl davelopmel
services is recognized as the services are pertbrme

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewigh an original maturity of three months or ldssbe cas
equivalents. Management determines the appropriassification of debt and equity securities attthee of purchas
and reevaluates the classification at each regpdate. The cost of the Company's investmentsterméed base
upon specific identification.

Investments classified as available-gale are reported at fair value, based upon quoteet prices, with unrealiz
gains and losses, net of related tax, if any, ohetuin Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss inGbesolidate
Balance Sheet. At March 31, 2001, the Company ifledsan investment in marketable equity securittetued &
$388,000 as available-f@ale. The investment was recorded in Other Curkessets in the Consolidated Bala
Sheet. The Company realized a gain of $131,00hersale of this investment during the year endectMal, 200z
The Company realized a loss on investments cladsifs available-fosale of approximately $205,000 during the
ended March 31, 2000. Realized and unrealized gaiddosses for all other investments were notifsogmt for the
years ended March 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.

INVENTORY

Inventory is stated at the lower of standard ookich approximates actual cost using the firstfinst-out method, ¢
market. Inventory at March 31, 2002 and 2001 wasprcsed of the following:

March 31,

(in thousands)



Raw materials and work-in-process............... 528 996
Finished goods...........cccccvvvvrvverrnnnnnen. 205 332

$ 733 $ 1,328

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessmadated depreciation and amortization. Depreciatanm
amortization are computed using the straigig-method. Estimated useful lives of three yeaesused for equipme
and software and five years for furniture and figgl Amortization of leasehold improvements is cota@ using th
shorter of the remaining facility lease term or géstimated useful life of the improvements. Propartd equipment
March 31, 2002 and 2001 was comprised of the fallgweomponents:

March 31,

(in thousands)

Machinery and computer equipment................ $ 8,076 $ 7,987
Furniture and fixtures.............c.coeuveee. 1,084 1,311
Licensed software...........ccccveeeervnnnnen. 4,105 4,185
Leasehold improvements.............ccceueeeeen. 991 1,018

14,256 14,501
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization... (11,516) (9,485)

$ 2,740 $ 5,016

Maintenance, repairs and ordinary replacementslared to expense. Expenditures for improveméatseixtend tr
physical or economic life of the property are calpied. Gains or losses on the disposition of priypend equipmel
are reflected in Other Income, net.

WARRANTY EXPENSE

The Company accrues for the estimated cost that beayncurred under its product warranties upon mag
recognition.

RESEARCH AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs are charged totiopsras incurred. Software development costs meduprior tc
the establishment of technological feasibility areluded in research and development and are eggeass incurre:
The Company defines establishment of technolodieasibility as the completion of a working modebft#are
development costs incurred subsequent to the edtat@nt of technological feasibility through theipd of gener:
market availability of the product are capitalizedmaterial. To date, all software developmenttsdsave bee
expensed as incurred.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Assets and liabilities of the Company's foreignssdilaries are translated from their respective fional currencies
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet aladierevenues and expenses are translated at aweralgange rat



prevailing during the year. If the functional curcg is the local currency, resulting translatiorjuatinents ar
reflected as a separate component of stockholeéersty. If the functional currency is the U.S. @)l resulting
conversion adjustments are included in the resfltsperations. Foreign currency transaction gaims lasses, whic
have been immaterial, are also included in resafiteperations. Total assets of the Company's farsigpsidiarie
were $1.6 million, $3.8 million, and $1.6 milliors @f March 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectivEhe Compan
does not undertake any foreign currency hedgingibes.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for using the asseliability approach. Under the asset and liabilippeoach, a curre
tax liability or asset is recognized for the estiegataxes payable or refundable on tax returnshi®rcurrent year.
deferred tax liability or asset is recognized toe estimated future tax effects attributed to terapodifferences ar
carryforwards. If necessary, the deferred tax asaet reduced by the amount of benefits that, basedvailabl
evidence, are not expected to be realized.

TAX CREDITS

Research and development and other refundabler¢aiis are accounted for using the cost reductiethod. Unde
this method, tax credits relating to eligible exgiures are accounted for as a reduction of relatguenses in ti
period during which the expenditures are incurpedyided there is reasonable assurance of realizati

CONCENTRATIONS

Financial instruments that potentially subject tBempany to significant concentrations of creditk risonsis
principally of cash and cash equivalents and tem®unts receivable. At March 31, 2002, approxiiga@8% of the
Company's cash equivalents were placed in an utistiall money market fund of a reputable, U.S. dassancia
institution. The Company has not experienced anternad losses relating to any investment instrureent

The Company sells its products to OEMs and distiitsuthroughout the world. The Company performsoamg credi
evaluations of its customers' financial conditiang for certain transactions does require collafeven its customer
For each of the three years ended March 31, 20@2Cbmpany experienced minimal wra#s for bad debts al
doubtful accounts. At March 31, 2002, one custoaemounted for 45% of accounts receivable. At M&8th2001
two customers accounted for 23% and 12% of accoentsvable, respectively.

The Company outsources the manufacturing, packagng testing of its semiconductor products to jreeler
subcontractors located primarily in Taiwan. Thebitity of any manufacturer to fulfill supply regeiments of th
Company could materially impact future operatinguites, financial position and cash flows.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The estimated fair value of financial instrumemstsiétermined by the Company using available manketmation an:
valuation methodologies considered to be apprapridhe carrying amounts of the Company's cash ast
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payaideaccrued liabilities approximate their fair \edudue to the
short maturities.

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company accounts for employee stbeked compensation in accordance with Accountingciptes Boar
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoyees" (APB Opinion No. 25) and related interptietz
thereof. As required under Statement of Financietdunting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, "Accounting $tock-
Based Compensation,” (SFAS 123) the Company prepde forma disclosure of net income and earnirgspare.

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Comprehensive loss, as defined, includes all chnmgequity (net assets) during a period from-owner source



The difference between net loss and comprehenssgi$ due primarily to unrealized losses on stawrn investmen
classified as available-faale and foreign currency translation adjustme@tsnprehensive loss is reflected in
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain prior year balances have been reclasgiednform with the current year presentation.

NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing logs available to common stockholders (numeralgr)the

weighted average number of vested, unrestrictechtmmand Exchangeable Shares (see Note 9) outstpddiim¢
the period (denominator). Net loss available to cmm stockholders was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000
Net10SS........cccvvveeeeeiiiiinee, $ (9,105) $ (74,399) $ (24,848)
Accretion of dividends on contingently
redeemable common stock.............. (25)

Net loss available to common
stockholders...........ccc.ccuu...... $ (9,130) $(74,399) $ (24,848)

Due to net losses incurred for all periods presenteeighted average basic and diluted shares odisig for the
respective periods are the same. The followingtggustruments were not included in the computaiofinet loss p
share because the effect on the calculations wwmeilhti-dilutive (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000

Common stock options................... 9,900 7,732 4,174
Warrants........ccoeevviieiiniinnnnn 701 701 701
Convertible subordinated debentures.... -- 638 638
Unvested restricted common stock....... -- 30 516

10,601 9,101 6,029

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Bussn€ombinations,” and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill artti&l
Intangible Assets." SFAS 141 requires all busiremsbinations to be accounted for using the purchasthod o
accounting, and also requires that certain intdagassets acquired in a business combination lmgneed as asst
apart from goodwill. SFAS No. 141 was effective &f business combinations initiated after JuneZM1. Unde
SFAS No. 142, goodwill will no longer be amortizdulit will be subject to annual impairment testso@aill shoulc
be assigned to an entity's reporting units, whictider SFAS No. 142, are defined as operating setgmanone leve
below that. Furthermore, SFAS No. 142 requires Ipaged intangible assets other than goodwill torberzed ove
their useful lives, unless these lives are detezohto be indefinite, and, upon adoption, requiresassessment of 1
useful lives previously assigned to its recognizgengible assets. In addition, if certain recogdizntangible asse



do not meet certain criteria, such assets shoulcetlassified to goodwill. Conversely, certain ngéle assets th
have been reported as part of goodwill may nedzktreclassified as of the date that SFAS No. 14i@itially appliec
in its entirety.

Goodwill that existed at June 30, 2001 was amattibeough March 31, 2002. The net carrying valugaddwill a
March 31, 2002 was $1.5 million. Upon adoption lnéde standards in the first quarter of fiscal 2068,$11,00
remaining balance of the workforce intangible as®ejuired in conjunction with the Company's acdioisiof Odise
will be reclassified as goodwill. Goodwill will nlmnger be amortized, but will be subject to impannhtests on

least an annual basis or upon the occurrenceggetring events, if earlier, to identify potentiaaglwill impairmen
and measure the amount of goodwill impairment todse recognized, if any. An impairment loss isoggdzed whe
the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill egds the implied fair value of that goodwill. Aftar goodwil
impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted cagrgimount of the goodwill will be its new accountipasis. The fir:
step of the goodwill impairment test should be genfed by September 30, 2002. If an impairment dscated, th
second step of the impairment test must be congpladater than March 31, 2003. The Company wilkdxpuired t
determine if any reclassification of some portidritee goodwill to intangible assets will be reqdiréd’he Compar
anticipates that its operating segments will cos®iits reporting units, and, accordingly, annugbamment tes
would be performed at the operating segment |&&bed on acquisitions completed as of June 30,,24}fdlicatiol
of the goodwill nonamortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 is expedtedesult in a decrease in operating expe
of approximately $707,000 for fiscal 2003.

On October 3, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1Adécdunting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lobiyed
Assets." SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121,dWaing for the Impairment of Longived Assets and fi
Long- Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of." SFAS No. Iapplies to all londived assets (including discontint
operations) and consequently amends Accountingciplas Board Opinion No. 30. SFAS No. 144 develops
accounting model for long-lived assets that areedalisposed of by sale. SFAS No. 144 requiresidimgtived asset
that are to be disposed of by sale be measurdwdower of book value or fair value less costeab. Additionally,
SFAS No. 144 expands the scope of discontinuedatipas to include all components of an entity vagierations thi
(i) can be distinguished from the rest of the grditd (ii) will be eliminated from the ongoing op&ons of the enti
in a disposal transaction. SFAS No. 144 is effector the Company for all financial statements éskin fiscal 200:
The adoption of SFAS No. 144 is not expected tetamwmaterial impact on the Company's results ofatjpas.

NOTE 2 -- ACQUISITIONS
U|Force, Inc.

The Company's consolidated financial statementgatethe purchase acquisition of all of the outdiag stock o
U|Force, Inc. (U|Force) on June 30, 2000 for al tpteichase price of $46.8 million. U|Force, basedvViontreal
Canada, was a developer of BBsed software applications and a provider of gsabmal services. U|Force was
developing a Javhased service creation environment (SCE) desigmatldw telecommunication service provider
develop, deploy, and manage telephony applicabosservices to their customers. The purchase wasecomprise
of 8x8 common stock with a fair value of approxieipt$38.0 million comprised of: (i) 1,447,523 shaissued :
closing of the acquisition, and (ii) 2,107,780 @sato be issued upon the exchange or redemptitre @xchangeak
shares (the Exchangeable Shares) of Canadianesniigld by former employee shareholders or indiogaters o
U|Force stock. See Note 9 regarding further disonssf the Exchangeable Shares. 8x8 also assumisthoding
stock options to purchase shares of U|Force constamk for which the Black-Scholes optipnicing model value ¢
approximately $6.5 million was included in the hase price. Direct transaction costs related tontleeger wer
approximately $747,000. Additionally, the Comparmyvanced $1.5 million to U|Force upon signing thquésitior
agreement, but prior to the close of the transacfltnis amount was accounted for as part of thehase price. Tt
following table summarizes the composition of tlheghase price (in thousands):

Value of common stock and Exchangable Shares issued ... $ 38,042
Value of stock otions assumed.........cccccceeeeeee. L 6,546
Cash advanced to U|Force prior to closing.......... ... 1,500

Direct transaction COStS.......cooovvvveevuveveeees 747



The purchase price was allocated to tangible assmigsired and liabilities assumed based on the habie o
U|Force's assets and liabilities, which approximhateeir fair value. Intangible assets acquired uded amoun
allocated to U|Force's in-process research andlagmwent. The improcess research and development relat
U|Force's initial products, the SCE and a unifiegssaging application, for which technological feadisy had no
been established and the technology had no alieenfatture use. The estimated percentage compieteéh€ unifiel
messaging and SCE products was approximately 44P34%b, respectively, at June 30, 2000. The fawe/alf the in-
process technology was based on a discounted kaghmodel, similar to the traditional "Income Appich,” whicl
discounts expected future cash flows to presentevailet of tax. In developing cash flow projectiorevenues we
forecasted based on relevant factors, includingreagde revenue growth rates for the business ashae
characteristics of the potential market for thentexdogy, and the anticipated life of the technoloByojected annu
revenues for the iprocess research and development projects weranadsto ramp up initially and decli
significantly at the end of the iprocess technology's economic life. Operating egegrand resulting profit marg
were forecasted based on the characteristics aidfilcav generating potential of the acquirecgpnocess technologie
Risks that were considered as part of the anaigsiaded the scope of the efforts necessary toeaehiechnologic
feasibility, rapidly changing customer markets, aghificant competitive threats from numerous camps. Th
Company also considered the risk that if the presluere not brought to market in a timely manrtecpuld adverse
affect sales and profitability of the combined camyp in the future. The resulting estimated net démls were
discounted at a rate of 25%. This discount rate lvgs®d on the estimated cost of capital plus ariaalal discoun
for the increased risk associated with in-proceshkriology. The value of the acquired U|Forcernoeess research ¢
development, which was expensed in the secondaquafrfiscal 2001, approximated $4.6 million. Theess of th
purchase price over the net tangible and intangiblets acquired and liabilities assumed was aidda goodwill
Amounts allocated to goodwill, the value of an &assd distribution agreement, and workforce were dp@imortize:
on a straight-line basis over three, three, andytear's, respectively, prior to the writd-of the unamortized balanc
in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001 as discussedNote 3. The allocation of the purchase price asgollows (ir
thousands):

In-process research and development............... $ 4,563
Distribution agreement...............cccccccueeee 1,053
WoOrkforce. ..o 1,182
U|Force net tangible assets....................... 1,801
GoodWill.......oeveeiiiiiiiiieeiee 38,236
$ 46,835

The consolidated results of the Company include rdsults of the operations of U|Force from the daitehe
acquisition, June 30, 2000, the beginning of owosd quarter of fiscal 2001. The following unauditgro form:
consolidated amounts give effect to the acquisitbt|Force as if it had occurred at the beginrohgach of fisce
2001 and 2000 (in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended March 31,

REVENUE......evveeeiiiieeeeeeeee e $ 18,765 $ 25,874
Net [0SS......ccuuviiiieiieieeeeeeeeeen, $ 74,949 $ 41,155



Net loss per share.........cccceeeeevicnnnnnne.. $ 297 $ 205

The above unaudited pro forma consolidated amaanetsiot necessarily indicative of the actual resoftoperatior
that would have been reported if the acquisitiod hatually occurred as of the beginning of the qusidescribe
above, nor does such information purport to in@iche results of our future operations. In the igpirof managemer
all adjustments necessary to present fairly suolfgga amounts have been made.

Odisel SA.

On May 24, 1999, the Company acquired Odisei SQuligei), a privately held, development stage compzased i
Sophia Antipolis, France, that was developing safavfor managing voicever IP networks. The consolida
financial statements reflect the acquisition of $&difor approximately 2,868,000 shares of the Caipgacommo
stock and approximately 121,000 of contingent shamehich were subsequently issued to Odisei emp
shareholders in March 2000. The purchase price apmsoximately $13.6 million, which includes appoziely
$295,000 of acquisitionelated costs. The purchase price was allocatetrigible assets acquired and liabili
assumed based on the book value of Odisei's cuassats and liabilities, which approximated their fvalue
Intangible assets acquired included amounts akolctt Odisei's in-process research and developrbatinproces
research and development related to Odisei'slipite@duct for which technological feasibility hadtrbeen establish
and was estimated to be approximately 60% compléte. fair value of the iprocess technology was based «
discounted cash flow model, which discounted exgubtiture cash flows to present value, net of baxdeveloping
cash flow projections, revenues were forecasteddan relevant factors, including aggregate revgmnaeith rates fc
the business as a whole, characteristics of thengiat market for the technology, and the anti@palife of the
technology. Projected annual revenues for theratess research and development projects werenadsio ramp u
initially and decline significantly at the end dfet inprocess technology's economic life. Operating espgman
resulting profit margins were forecasted basedhencharacteristics and cash flow generating pateotithe acquire
in-process technology. Associated risks included minerent difficulties and uncertainties in complgtithe projec
and thereby achieving technological feasibilitydamsks related to the impact of potential changesmarke
conditions and technology. The resulting estimateidcash flows were discounted at a rate of 27%s discount rai
was based on the estimated cost of capital pluesdditional discount for the increased risk assediatith inproces
technology. The value of the acquired Odisepineess research and development, which was expémsbke fisce
year ended March 31, 2000, was $10.1 million. Tkeess of the purchase price over the net tangitdeirtangibl
assets acquired and liabilities assumed was adiddat goodwill. Until the adoption of SFAS 142 oprA 1, 2002
amounts allocated to goodwill and workforce weranpeamortized on a straighitte basis over five and three ye.
respectively. The allocation of the purchase peimesisted of the following (in thousands):

In-process research and development............... $ 10,100
WOrkforce. ..o 200
Net tangible liabilities...............c.......... (219)
GoOdWill.....oeeeriiiiiiie e 3,481
$ 13,562

The Company's Consolidated Statement of Operatmribe fiscal year ended March 31, 2000 includhesresults of
Odisei from the date of acquisition. Had the adtjois taken place as of the beginning of fiscal @0e pro forma
net loss for the year would have been substantiadysame.

NOTE 3 -- RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, after igndicant number of employees had resigned, then@amn
discontinued its Canadian operations acquired imucwtion with the acquisition of U|Force in Jun@0Q. The



Company closed its offices in Montreal and Hull,eQac and lai@dff all remaining employees resulting in
cessation of most of the research and developnffamtseand all of the sales and marketing and msitanal service
activities associated with the U|Force businessaAssult of the restructuring, the Company recdrdeonetime
charge of $33.3 million in the quarter ended Ma3dh 2001. The restructuring charge consisted offdhewing (in
thousands):

Employee separation............ccccevevevveeennnn. $ 765
Fixed asset losses and impairments................ 2,084
Intangible asset impairments..................... 30,247
Lease obligation and termination.................. 220
$ 33,316

Employee separation costs represent severance ptg/metated to the 96 employees in the Montrealrdutioffices
who were laid-off.

The impairment charges for fixed assets approxih&2.1 million which included writeffs of abandoned a
unusable assets of approximately $1.4 million, ss lon sale of assets of $567,000, and a chargastmsts to
disposed of $172,000. The asset watks of $1.4 million included approximately $85000elated to leasehc
improvements and $560,000 related to computer ewgrip, furniture, and software. The loss on salassfets ¢
$567,000 was attributable to the sale of officenpater, and other equipment of the Montreal offitke Compan
received common stock of the purchaser valued @bapnately $412,000 at the date of sale. Fairealfiassets to |
disposed of was measured based on expected sahahge less costs to sell. Assets to be disposecbs$ist o
computer equipment with a fair value of $57,000Matrch 31, 2001. Substantially all of these assetsevliquidate
during fiscal 2002.

The impairment charges for intangible assets reptes the writesff of the unamortized intangible assets recorah
connection with the acquisition of U|Force. Thergea of approximately $30.2 million included: $2&illion for the
goodwill related to the acquisition, $739,000 fbe tassembled workforce, and $789,000 related tstabaitior
agreement. The impairments were directly attribletato the cessation of operations in Canada. Thenpgany
performed an evaluation of the recoverability of thtangible assets related to these operatiomeEdordance wi
SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Igehived Assets and for Longived Assets to be Disposed C
The lack of estimated future net cash flows relatetthe acquired products necessitated an impairotenge to write-
off the remaining unamortized goodwill. The distriion agreement asset was written off because ¢mep@ny will nc
longer provide products and services to customedguthat agreement.

Cash payments related to the restructuring dutigduarter ended March 31, 2001, which includeckadploye:
separation costs and certain lease terminatiors,capproximated $920,000. Accrued obligations eelab remainin
lease commitments on the Montreal and Hull faetiittotaled $212,000 at March 31, 2001. The Compemyinate:
the lease for its primary facility in Montreal indvth 2001, but was required to pay rent on thditiachrough May
31, 2001. The Company terminated the lease forfabtidity in Hull, Quebec, in fiscal 2002. The paymie made i
fiscal 2002 related to the terminations of the Meak and Hull facility leases totaled $225,000. fEh&e no remainir
restructuring related accruals at March 31, 2002.

NOTE 4 -- DEBT
Convertible Subordinated Debentures
| ssuance of the Debentures

In December 1999, the Company issued $7.5 millio#% Series A and Series B convertible subordindtsakenture



(the Debentures) due in December 2002. In conjanctvith the issuance of the Debentures, the lendEasive:
warrants to purchase 531,915 8x8 common share3.86 $er share and 105,634 shares at $35.50 per he
Lender Warrants). The Company also issued wartaritee placement agent to purchase 53,191 8x8 consmares |
$7.05 per share and 10,563 shares at $35.50 per. Sitee exercise price of the warrants and the murob share
issuable upon exercise of the warrants are subjepotential adjustment, in certain circumstatnéesluding in th
event that the Company issues equity securities/ertible debt or other equity instruments for edaestion per sha
that is less than the five day average closinghbite of the Company's common stock preceeding msciance. All ¢
the warrants expire in December 2002.

Using the BlackScholes pricing model, the Company determinedtti@tdebt discount associated with the fair v
of the warrants issued to the lenders approxim@&fe® million. The costs of issuing the Debenturgaled $864,001
including a noncash charge for the value of warrants issued toptheement agent. The debt discount and
issuance costs were amortized to interest expenaestraight-line basis over the term of the Deln@ast

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle - Beneficial Conversion Feature

In November 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Fo@ehesd several conclusions regarding the accoufdindebt an
equity securities with beneficial conversion feagyrincluding a consensus requiring the applicatiathe "accountin
conversion price" method, versus the use of thiedteonversion price, to calculate the beneficaalversion featul
for such securities. The SEC required companigedord a cumulative catalp adjustment in the fourth quartel
calendar 2000 related to the application of thedaating conversion price" method to securitiesesksafter May 2:
1999. Accordingly, the Company recorded a $1.liomlnoneash expense during the quarter ended Decemb
2000 to account for a beneficial conversion featg®ociated with the Debentures and related watrdhe Compar
has presented the charge in the Consolidated Stateraf Operations as a cumulative effect of a ghan accountin
principle.

Extraordinary Item - Early Extinguishment of Debentures

In December 2001, the Company redeemed the Delesnfoir $4.5 million in cash and 1,000,000 sharesoofimot
stock. Additionally, the Company agreed to redineedxercise price of the Lender Warrants to $0@98share. Th
transaction resulted in an extraordinary gain af®%@00, net of the incremental fair value of therieed warrants, tt
write-off of unamortized debt discount and debt issug¢s¢c@snd other costs associated with the early gxitshment ¢
the Debentures.

Contingently Redeemable Common Stock

Under the terms of a registration rights agreerttattthe Company and the lenders entered intonnaction with th
issuance of the 1,000,000 shares of common stbekCbmpany agreed to register the shares for rasalenaintai
the effectiveness of the registration statemenspacified periods of time until the shares arelesr can be resc
without the registration statement (the MaintenaReguirements). The Company further agreed thatdbes nc
comply with the Maintenance Requirements in theriitit may be required to pay cash penalties addem all or
portion of the shares held by the lenders at tghdri of $0.898 per share or the market price ofabmpany's stock
the time of the redemption. The shares held bylémelers at March 31, 2002 were recorded at theieria
redemption value at March 31, 2002 of $813,000 cassified as contingently redeemable common stluekto th
redemption rights described above. The Company watl mark the contingently redeemable common stocthe
higher of $0.898 per share or market unless it imesoprobable that the Company will not be ableotoply with the
Maintenance Requirements.

The approximately $25,000 difference between them@l redemption value of the shares held bylémglers ¢
March 31, 2002 and the value of those shares ordale of issuance has been treated as a deemerdivan
included as an adjustment to net income (loss)laai to common stockholders for purposes of catoul the
Company's net income (loss) per share.

Other Debt

The Company assumed certain capital lease andldayations in conjunction with the acquisition@fForce on Jur



30, 2000. In February 2001, the Company paid apprately $560,000 to purchase all equipment outstandnde
the capital leases and repaid a bank loan of appedgly $146,000.

NOTE 5 -- DISPOSITION OF VIDEO MONITORING PRODUCT L INE

On May 19, 2000, the Company entered into an ABgaethase Agreement with Interlogix, Inc. (Interbggproviding
for the sale of certain assets comprising the Caryipavideo monitoring business (the Business) terlogix. The
assets sold included certain accounts receivabl@ntories, technical information, machinery, equaémt, contrac
rights, intangibles, records, and supplies. Comuly with the execution of the Asset Purchase Agrent, th
Company and Interlogix entered into a Technologyehse Agreement (the License Agreement) providorgthe
licensing of certain related intellectual propetty Interlogix, a Development Agreement providingtehogix
continuing rights in certain products to be devebbjpy the Company, a Transition Services Agreementiding fol
certain services to be rendered by the Companyterlbgix in respect of the Business, and a Supyyeemer
providing for the continuing sale of certain protuto Interlogix by the Company. The aggregate lpase price pa
by Interlogix was approximately $5.2 million in as

The Company's obligation's under the Transitionvises Agreement expired in fiscal 2001. The cosseivice
provided under the Transition Services Agreemens waambursed by Interlogix. Pursuant to the AssatcRas
Agreement, the Company is responsible for reimbgrdinterlogix for costs they incur associated withrranty
obligations related to video monitoring productsnofactured prior to May 19, 2000. The Company'smegec
remaining exposure to such warranty obligationgfiected in the warranty accrual at March 31, 2002

At signing, the Company's continuing obligationsdein the License and Development Agreements inctudi¢
providing future updates and upgrades to the liegrtechnology, if any, over the initial thrgear term of the Licen
Agreement (the Maintenance Obligations) and (iffaia potential obligations to assist Interlogixtire developme
of future products (the Development ObligationdheTCompany deferred the recognition of the appratehy $3.¢
million of revenue ascribed to the license of videonitoring technology to Interlogix until the Ddepmen
Obligations expired in the quarter ended March 3101. Upon expiration of the Development Obligagiothe
Company commenced recognition of the previousleetl revenue and is recognizing the revenue rataldr the
license term, which expires in May 2003, due to rtimaining Maintenance Obligations. The remainiatphbce il
deferred revenue at March 31, 2002 is approxim&2I9 million.

NOTE 6 -- TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Strategic Relationship With STMicroelectronics

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Commpasold 3.7 million shares of its common stock
STMicroelectronics NV (STM) at a purchase price&df50 per share. In addition, the Company graniied e righ
to a seat on the Company's Board of Directors ag &s it holds at least 10% of the Company's autstg share
STM was also granted certain rights to maintaipé@scentage ownership interest of the Company&tanding votin
securities, including certain rights to participate future securities offerings of the Company, or, certair
circumstances, the right to acquire additional etainrough market purchases. The Company alsoegramtan ST
subsidiary a non-exclusive, royalbearing license to certain technology and undertceitain joint developme
activities with a subsidiary of STM. Under the terraf the agreement, the STM subsidiary guarantesthic
minimum payments to the Company totaling $1.0 omlji$500,000 for prepaid royalties and $500,00G&stain non-
recurring engineering services (the Minimum Paymienthe Company received the Minimum Payments sna
2001.

Net proceeds from the sale of stock were $27.7onjllrepresenting a discount of approximately $#ikion from the
$35.1 million fair market value of the stock on thege of the agreement. As there was no assurbatéhe Compar
would receive any future revenues from STM, the @any applied the discount to offset the Minimum rRamts (th
result of which was that no revenues were recoghigtated to the Minimum Payments) and expensedakence ¢
$6.4 million to Selling, General, and AdministraiZxpense in the period of the transaction.

Other Transactions



In March 2002 the Board of Directors authorized thempany to open securities trading accounts anke
investments in other classes of securities that magerate higher returns than the currently lowidgieor
governmental and corporate debt securities and ynoragket funds. The amount allocated for such itnaests wa
$1.0 million to be invested on behalf of 8x8, Irs directed by the Company's Chairman, Joe ParkinShie
Executive Officer, Bryan Martin; or Chief Financi@lfficer, David Stoll. Mr. Parkinson has agreedptrsonall
reimburse 8x8, Inc. on a quarterly basis for argsés resulting from his trading activities in ordermaintain
minimum investment account balance of $1.0 millids. part of the arrangement, the Company's Boardiiactor:
has expressed its intent, but not obligation, tp Ma. Parkinson a quarterly bonus in an amount etua5% of ths
profits attributable to investments made on the gamy's behalf by Mr. Parkinson to the extent subloraus excee:
his salary for the corresponding period. The CorgpanMr. Parkinson can terminate this arrangemerang time
subject to the terms of an agreement between Mkirg@n and the Company. As of March 31, 2002,$h® millior
was invested in money market accounts.

During fiscal 2001 and 2000, Dr. Bernd Girod, aedior of 8x8 and its subsidiary, Netergy Microelenics, Inc.
received $22,000 and $41,000, respectively, inidenation for technical consulting services thatphevided to th
Company. In addition, the Company contributed $280, during fiscal 2001 to a Stanford University sl
program managed by Dr. Girod.

NOTE 7 -- INCOME TAXES

The Company's loss before income taxes included $06, $162,000, and $160,500 of foreign subsidiazgme fo
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2001, ad0,2@spectively.

The components of the consolidated provision foome taxes consisted of the following (in thous&nds

Year Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000
Current:
Federal........ccccccovveeunennnnne. $ (10) $ -8
State....oiieiiii --
Foreign........cccvvveeeeeeeeennnn. 25 17 120
$ 15 $ 17 $ 120

Deferred tax assets were comprised of the folloviinghousands):

March 31,

2002 2001
Research and development credit carryforwards..... $ 4,809 $ 4,455
Net operating loss carryforwards.................. 23,954 22,625
Inventory valuation..............ccccvvvvvnnnen. 569 650
Reserves and allowances...........ccccceeeeenee 471 1,181
GoodWill......oeveeeeiiiiiiiiee e 14,193 15,584
Other....ccooveieiice e, 3,335 3,155

47,331 47,650
Valuation allowance..........cccccccceeeeeeeenn, (47,331) (47,650)



Management believes that, based on a number afradhe weight of objective available evidenceaadates that it i
more likely than not that the Company will not Heleato realize its deferred tax assets, and thiédl asaluatior
allowance was recorded at March 31, 2002 and Mat¢l2001.

At March 31, 2002, the Company had net operatisg lcarryforwards for federal and state income tarpgses ¢
approximately $67.0 million and $17.0 million, restively, which expire at various dates beginnim@005. The ni
operating loss carryforwards include approximat&hyO million resulting from employee exercises ohswualifiec
stock options or disqualifying dispositions, the taenefits of which, when realized, will be accadtfor as a
addition to additional paidt capital rather than as a reduction of the ptionigor income taxes. In addition, at Ma
31, 2002, the Company had research and developrestit carryforwards for federal and state tax répg purpose
of approximately $3.0 million and $2.5 million, pestively. The federal credit carryforwards willgde expiring ir
2010 while the California credit will carryforwarddefinitely. Under applicable tax laws, the amoahtnd benefit
from net operating losses and credits that canabeed forward may be impaired or limited in centaircumstance
Events which may cause limitations in the amoumteifoperating loss carryforwards that the Compaay utilize ir
any one year include, but are not limited to, a glative ownership change of more than 50% overeetlgear perioc

A reconciliation of the tax provision (benefit) loe amounts computed using the statutory U.S. &dsrome tax ra
of 34% is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2001 2000

Benefit at statutory rate...................... $ (3,090) $ (25,296) $ (8,408)
State income taxes (benefit) before valuation

allowance, net of federal effect............. 229 (3,909) (251)
In-process research and development............ -- 1,551 3,434
Non-deductible goodwill................ceee... 259 -- --
Discount on issuance of Common Stock........... 558 - 2,176
Research and development credits............... (216) (1,162) (338)
Change in valuation allowance.................. 2,302 29,027 3,125
Non-deductible compensation.................... (4) 256 55
Foreign rate differences........ccccc.......... (30) 1 66
(@1 = S 7 (451) 261

$ 5% 17 $ 120

NOTE 8 -- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Company leases its primary facility in Santar@| California under a noncancelable operatingelesgreeme
that expires in May 2003. The Company also hasetédacilities in the United Kingdom, France and & Th
facility leases include rent escalation clauses] amquire the Company to pay taxes, insurance, ramuna
maintenance costs. At March 31, 2002, future mimmannual lease payments under noncancelable apgtatise:
net of sublease income, were as follows (in thodsan



YEAR ENDING MARCH 31,

2003, . $ 1,405
2004 ... 449
2005.... i 270
2006....ccciiieeiie e 256
2007 i 242
2008 and thereafter........cccceeeveiieiiiinnnnn, 889
Total minimum payments.................. $ 3,511

Rent expense for the years ended March 31, 20a2,, 2thd 2000 was $1.5 million, $1.8 million, and3nillion,
respectively.

The Company subleases office space under opetaisg agreements expiring at various dates thrd0gs. The
total future minimum rentals to be received untieise noncancelable sublease agreements are $&4 fixa@l 2003,
$33,000 in fiscal 2004, $16,000 per year in eadisofl 2005 and 2006, and $11,000 in fiscal 2007.

Legal Proceedings

In November 2001, the Company settled a lawsuit s filed against it in April 2001 in British Gohbia, Canac
by Milinx Business Services, Inc. and Milinx BussseGroup, Inc (collectively, Milinx). The Companysvone of fiv
named defendants in the lawsuit, the others being Microsystems, Inc., Netscape Communications @anhnc.
Burntsand, Inc., and Intraware Canada, Inc. The 2oy has been released of any further obligationslitinx in
exchange for returning a portion of the originakehse fee. As a result of the settlement agreenfemtCompan
recognized $309,000 of previously deferred revestaenming from a March 2000 license agreement wilink/

The Company is also involved in various other legaims and litigation that have arisen in the naircourse of th
Company's operations. While the results of sucimsland litigation cannot be predicted with certgithe Compan
believes that the final outcome of such matters mot have a significant adverse effect on the Camy{s financie
position or results of operations. However, shdbkl Company not prevail in any such litigation,afgerating resul
and financial position could be adversely impacted.

NOTE 9 -- STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock

In August 2000, the Company's stockholders autbdran amendment to the restated certificate ofrparation tc
increase the authorized number of shares of constomk to 100,000,000 shares from 40,000,000 shares.

Exchangeable Shares and Preferred Stock

In conjunction with the acquisition of U|Force ($¢ate 2), the Company agreed to issue up to 2,807%Rares of 8)
common stock upon the exchange or redemption oexichangeable shares (the Exchangeable Sharegneidi@i
entities held by employee shareholders of U|Fotaeks The Exchangeable Shares held by U|Force gmegsower
subject to certain restrictions, including the Camgs right to repurchase the Exchangeable Shages eémploye
departed the Company prior to vesting. Upon vestihg Exchangeable Shares were convertible intod@xBmot
stock on a 1-fott basis. The Company also issued one share ofrpgdfstock (the Special Voting Share) that prov
holders of Exchangeable Shares with voting rightd &re equivalent to the shares of common stackwvitmich thei
shares are convertible.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, the Compaepurchased a total of 1,034,107 unvested Exygadie Shar
at an average price of $0.49 per share when thefibet holders of such shares resigned from then@amy. Ir
addition, 812,866 Exchangeable Shares were conlvirte an equivalent number of shares of the Coryiparommo!



stock in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. The aammg 260,807 Exchangeable Shares were exchangeshdres ¢
the Company's common stock during the year endedhviil, 2002.

1992 Stock Option Plan

The Board of Directors has reserved 2,000,000 shafr¢he Company's common stock for issuance uticed 99:
Stock Option Plan (the 1992 Plan). The 1992 Pldn¢chvhas been approved by the Company's stockislpgesvide
for granting incentive and nonstatutory stock amido employees, directors or consultants at pecesl to the fa
market value of the stock at the grant dates. Tbhekoption price of incentive stock options grahteay not be le:
than the determined fair market value at the datgrant. Options generally vest over four years axpire ten yea
after grant.

Key Personnel Plan

In July 1995, the Board of Directors adopted thg Rersonnel Plan. The Board of Directors resery2d®000 shart
of the Company's common stock for issuance undemptan. The Key Personnel Plan provided for grantncentivi
and nonstatutory stock options to officers of trmmPany at prices equal to the fair market valu¢hefstock at tr
grant dates. Options generally vest over four ye8tares issued under the Key Personnel Plan wdiecs tc
repurchase at the original issuance price of $p&s0share if the employee left the Company priovesting. Durin
fiscal 2001 and 2000, the Company repurchased B88216,296 unvested shares, respectively. As ofial, 200z
all shares were vested and no shares are avaftabjgant under the Key Personnel Plan. The Compamp longe
issuing options under this plan.

1996 Stock Plan

In June 1996, the Board of Directors adopted tH#51Stock Plan (the 1996 Plan) and reserved 1,00G08res of tt
Company's common stock for issuance under this pla@ Company's stockholders subsequently autltbimzease
in the number of shares of the Company's commark sserved for issuance under the 1996 Plan 0f0B00share
in June 1997 and 2,000,000 shares in August 200€.1996 Plan also provides for an annual incraasieei numbe
of shares reserved for issuance under the 1996drldine first day of the Company's fiscal yearnnamount equal
5% of the Company's common stock issued and oulistgat the end of the immediately preceding figesr, subjer
to a maximum annual increase of 1,000,000 shates.afinual increase was 1,000,000 shares in batd 2002 an
2001 and 771,287 during the fiscal year ended M&M;h2000. To date, this provision has resultethareases i
shares reserved for issuance under the 1996 Palingp3,535,967. The 1996 Plan provides for grapincentiv
stock options to employees and nonstatutory stqtloms to employees, directors or consultants. Jtoek optiol
price of incentive stock options granted may notldss than the determined fair market value atdéue of gran
Options generally vest over four years and exgneyears after grant.

1996 Director Option Plan

The Company's 1996 Director Option Plan (the Doeé&lan) was adopted in June 1996 and became ieéfentJuly
1997. A total of 150,000 shares of common stockewritially reserved for issuance under the Diredtan. Th
Company's stockholders subsequently authorizedchemrease in the number of shares of common stoekvwed fo
issuance under the Director Plan to 500,000 shar@sigust 2000. The Director Plan provides for bdibcretionar
and periodic grants of nonstatutory stock optiansdnemployee directors of the Company (the Outside dbirs)
The exercise price per share of all options graaoteder the Director Plan will be equal to the faimrket value of
share of the Company's common stock on the dageaot. Options generally vest over a period of fgears. Optior
granted to Outside Directors under the DirectonRiave a ten year term, or shorter upon terminatfoan Outsid
Director's status as a director. If not terminagadier, the Director Plan will have a term of jears.

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan

In fiscal 2000, the Company's Board of Directorpraped the 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan ({889 Plar
with 600,000 shares initially reserved for issuatizereunder. In fiscal 2001, the number of shaesemwed fc
issuance was increased to 3,600,000 shares byddwes Bf Directors. Under the terms of the 1999 Pégotions ma
not be issued to either officers or directors af ompany provided, however, that options may lamtgd to a



officer in connection with the officer's initial gfloyment by the Company. Options generally vest dver years an
expire ten years after grant. The 1999 Plan habewrt approved by the stockholders of the Company.

UForce Company -- Societe UForce Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan

In connection with the acquisition of U|Force (d¢ate 2), the Company assumed the UForce Compa®pciet
UForce Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option @hen U|Force Plan), and reserved 1,023,898 shdrdéise
Company's common stock related to options issuerttimder. The U|Force Plan provided for the grhnbastatutor
stock options to employees and consultants of \df-at prices equal to the fair market value ofdtoek at the gra
dates. Due to the cessation of the Company's Camanperations (see Note 3), 1,016,408 and 7,498e0bption
previously granted under the U|Force Plan wereesfied and returned to the U|Force Plan in fisc&l128nd fisce
2002, respectively. In fiscal 2002, the Companyard of Directors terminated the U|Force Plan.

Option activity under the Company's stock opticeingl since March 31, 1999, excluding the NetergyGendtile stoc
option plans, is summarized as follows:

Weighted
Shares  Average
Shares Subjectto Exercise
Available Options Price
for Grant Outstanding Per Share
Balance at March 31, 1999............... 112,811 3,430,310 $ 2.60
Change in options available for grant... 1,371,287 -- --
Granted.......ccccovvveeeeeeiiiiiiins (2,105,015 ) 2,105,015 7.94
Exercised......cccccvvvieiiieenninnnn, -- (725,209) 2.12
Returned to plan.........cccceeeee..... 636,354 (636,354) 3.40
Balance at March 31, 2000............... 15,437 4,173,762 5.25
Change in options available for grant... 7,373,898 -- --
Granted or assumed...................... (8,116,100 ) 8,116,100 6.26
Exercised.......cccccvviiiiiiinninnnn. -- (925,008) 2.30
Returned to plan.........cccccceeee.. 3,632,963 (3,632,963) 8.29
Balance at March 31, 2001............... 2,906,198 7,731,891 5.24
Change in options available for grant... (23,898 ) -- --
Granted..........occevveveeeeiiiinnnnn. (4,901,073 ) 4,901,073 1.09
Exercised.......cccocvviiiiiiinnnnnnn. -- (40,757) 0.01
Returned to plan.........cccccceeee.e. 2,692,381 (2,692,381) 6.18
Balance at March 31, 2002............... 673,608 9,899,826 2.95

Significant option groups outstanding at March 3002 and related weighted average exercise pridecantractu:
life information for 8x8, Inc.'s stock option plaaee as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighte d Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Remainin g Exercise
Range of Exercise Price Contractu al Price
Prices Shares Per Share Life (Yea rs) Shares  Per Share
$0.01t0$3.16...7,571,210 $ 1.44 8 9 1472297 $ 2.02

$3.16t0 $ 6.32... 1,030,304 3.97 7 .6 730,601 4.00



$6.32t0$9.49... 410,812 7.43 7 .6 216,191 7.34
$9.49to0 $12.65... 771,500 11.60 8 A 346,821 11.58
$12.65to $15.81... 38,500 14.56 8 2 17,453 14.56
$15.81to $25.44... 77,500 22.10 7 9 39,423 22.04

9,899,826 $ 2.95 8

o
N
©
N
N
\l
©
o
*

4.47

The Company recorded a deferred compensation clodirggproximately $7,267,000 with respect to opdioaprice:
and certain additional options granted in fisca87.9n addition, the Company recorded deferred areation charg
of approximately $503,000 and $406,000 in conneciih certain options granted to nofficer employees in fisc
2001 and 2000, respectively. The Company recogrdeésrred compensation over the related vestingpgeaf the
options (which is generally fortgight months). The Company recognized $753,00086d,000 as compensat
expense in the fiscal years ended March 31, 20012800, respectively. Stock compensation expensisaal 200:
was not significant. At March 31, 2002, the balantéeferred compensation was $30,000. Deferredpensation i
subject to reduction for any employee who termisamployment prior to the expiration of such empkg optio
vesting period.

Netergy Microelectronics, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan

Netergy's 2000 Stock Option Plan (the Netergy Plaay adopted in December 2000 by the Netergy Boé
Directors. The Netergy Plan provides for grantingeintive stock options (ISO) to employees and rabuigiry stoc
options (NSO) to employees, directors, and constdtaf Netergy. Options granted under the Neterigy fhay b
granted for periods up to ten years and at priodess than 85% of the estimated fair value ofstieres on the date
grant as determined by the Netergy Board of Dimsctprovided, however, that (i) the exercise potan 1ISO an
NSO shall not be less than 100% and 85% of thenastd fair value of the shares on the date of graspectively
and (ii) the exercise price of an ISO and NSO gmarnb a 10% shareholder shall not be less than 1d0%ae
estimated fair value of the shares on the daterafitgrespectively. To date, options granted vest dour year:
However, in the event of a change in control (d&dd in the Netergy Plan document) vesting fotaiaeroptions wil
be accelerated. Option activity during fiscal 2@t fiscal 2002 was as follows:

Weighted
S hares  Average
Shares Sub jectto Exercise
Available O ptions  Price
for Grant Out standing Per Share
Shares reserved at Netergy Plan's
inception............cccuee.ee. 5,000,000 - % -
Granted..........cccevvveeeeennne (3,572,000) 3, 572,000 0.50
Returned to plan................... 400,000 ( 400,000) 0.50
Balance at March 31, 2001.......... 1,828,000 3, 172,000 0.50
Granted..........occeeeeeennnne (136,000) 136,000 0.50
Exercised........ccccceviviinnann. -- -- --
Returned to plan................... 264,834 ( 264,834) 0.50
Balance at March 31, 2002.......... 1,956,834 3, 043,166 $ 0.50

As of March 31, 2002, 900,302 options were exebtesahe weighted average remaining contractuamids 8.2
years, and the weighted average exercise prices&a$® per share.

Centile, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan



Centile's 2001 Stock Option Plan (the Centile Pl@a3 adopted in March 2001 by the Centile BoarDicéctors. Th
Centile Plan provides for granting ISOs to empleyaad NSOs to employees, directors, and consultdr@entile
Options granted under the Centile Plan may be gdafur periods up to ten years and at prices rothen 85% of tt
estimated fair value of the shares on the daterafitgas determined by the Centile Board of Diresst@rovidec
however, that (i) the exercise price of an ISO BiS®D shall not be less than 100% and 85% of thenattd fair valu
of the shares on the date of grant, respectiveld, @) the exercise price of an ISO and NSO grarite a 109
shareholder shall not be less than 110% of thenastid fair value of the shares on the date of graspectively. T
date, options granted vest over four years. Omiivity during fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2002 wadatows:

Weighted
S hares  Average
Shares Sub jectto Exercise
Available O ptions  Price
for Grant Out standing Per Share
Shares reserved at Centile Plan's
inception........cccccevveeee.n. 4,500,000 -- --
Granted..........ccccvveeeeenne, (4,107,000) 4, 107,000 0.43
Balance at March 31, 2001.......... 393,000 4, 107,000 0.43
Granted..........cccevveeeeennee, (846,000) 846,000 0.43
Exercised........cccccevvviinnann. -- -- --
Returned to plan................... 2,688,000 (2, 688,000) 0.43
Balance at March 31, 2002.......... 2,235,000 2, 265,000 $ 0.43

As of March 31, 2002, 237,187 options were exebtesathe weighted average remaining contractual was 9.
years, and the weighted average exercise pricésQd8 per share.

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's 1996 Stock Purchase Plan (the Pa@rdPlas) was adopted in June 1996 and became eé&agqtior
the closing of the Company's initial public offegim July 1997. Under the Purchase Plan, 500,0@6eshof commc
stock were initially reserved for issuance. At ¢t of each fiscal year, the number of sharemofmon stock subje
to the Purchase Plan increases so that 500,008ssteanain available for issuance. This provisiculted in increas:
of 281,583, 180,910 and 187,491 shares issuableruhd Purchase Plan during the fiscal years eiimadh 31
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. During fiscad202001, and 2000, 416,589, 281,583, and 180,b&0es
respectively, were issued under the Purchase Plan.

The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees tohase common stock through payroll deductionspaiice equal t
85% of the fair market value of the common stocthatbeginning of each two year offering periodr@ end of a s
month purchase period, whichever is lower. The rdomion amount may not exceed ten percent of apl@yee's bas
compensation, including commissions but not inelgdbonuses and overtime. In the event of a merfehe
Company with or into another corporation or theesal all or substantially all of the assets of empany, th
Purchase Plan provides that a new exercise datédeviset for each option under the plan which @gerdate wil
occur before the date of the merger or asset sale.

Certain pro forma disclosures

The Company accounts for its stock plans in accurelawith the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25. I
compensation cost for the Company's stock plana blegermined based on the fair value of optiontheir gran
dates, as prescribed in SFAS 123, the Company'®setvould have been as follows (in thousandsem@xper shai
amounts)



Y ear Ended March 31,

2002 2001 2000
Net loss:
As reported...........coeeeveeennnn. $ (9,10 5)$ (74,399)$ (24,848)
Pro forma.........cccoceeeeeiinnnen. $ (25,14 9% (87,233)$ (30,670)
Basic and diluted loss per share:
As reported..........ccocevueeeneen. $ (03 3)$ (299)% (1.38)
Pro forma.........ccccceveeeneenen. $ (0.9 2)$ (351)% (1.70)

For the purposes of the disclosure above, thevédire of each of the Company's option grants, eketuthose optior
issued under the Netergy and Centile Plans, hasdsanated on the date of grant using the Bladke®s pricing
model with the following assumptions:

Y ear Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000
Expected volatility..................... 13 5% 141% 70%
Expected dividend yield................. 0. 0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate................. 3.5% to 4 .9% 4.7% t0 6.8% 5.5% to 6.4%
Weighted average expected option term... 5.1 year s bSyears 5.3years

Weighted average fair value of options

granted.......c.ccceeeeeieeeineenne. $ 09 6$ 517 $ 512

The fair value of grants under the Netergy and i&estock option plans, for purposes of the prarfardisclosurt
have also been estimated on the date of grant uemdlackScholes pricing model using the weighted ave
assumptions noted below. The expected volatilitdies for the Netergy and Centile plans reflect fibet that th
underlying shares of Netergy and Centile are nbliply traded and therefore the Company's overalatility factor
has been reduced by 50% for these plans. The arisk free interest rates used in the computatrefiect the
different rates in effect at the respective gratesd.

Y ear Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000

Expected volatility..................... 6 7% 70% --
Expected dividend yield................. 0. 0% 0.0% --
Risk-free interest rate................. 4.1% to 4 .8% 4.7% t0 5.1% -
Weighted average expected option term... 5.25 yea rs 5years --
Netergy weighted average fair value

of options granted.................... $ 03 1$ 0313% -

Centile weighted average fair value

of options granted.................... $ 02 6% 026 $ -

For the purpose of providing pro forma disclosutls,estimated fair value of stock purchase righasited under the
Purchase Plan were estimated using the I-Scholes pricing model with the following weigh-average



assumptions:

Y ear Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000
Expected volatility..................... 13 5% 141% 70%
Expected dividend yield................. 0.0 % 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate................. 3.8 2% 4.92% 5.84%
Weighted average expected rights term... 1.25 yea rs 1l.25years 1.25years

Weighted average fair value of rights

granted.........ccceeeeeneeeneennnn. $ 11 6$ 300% 552

NOTE 10 -- EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
401(k) Savings Plan

In April 1991, the Company adopted a 401(k) savipgs (the Savings Plan) covering substantiallyoélits U.S
employees. Eligible employees may contribute to Sa&ings Plan from their compensation up to the imarn
allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. The Coiypipamatching contribution is $1,500 per employee qadends
year at a dollar for dollar rate of the employeatabution. The matching contributions vest overeth years. Tt
Company contributed $85,000, $125,000, and $124{60the Savings Plan during fiscal 2002, 2001, 2660
respectively. The Savings Plan does not allow eyg@aontributions to be invested in 8x8 commonkstoc

NOTE 11 -- SEGMENT REPORTING

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, @@mpany changed its internal reporting processeéslatermined th
it had three reportable segments: Netergy, Cerditel Corporate and Other. Intesegment revenues between
reportable segments were not significant duringpiods presented. Shared support service furecanoh as hum.
resources, facilities management, and other infrestre support and overhead are allocated betweeisegment
Accounting policies are applied consistently to segments, where applicable. The Company's repertsggmen
have been determined based on the nature of thatages and products offered to customers:

o The Netergy segment primarily reflects the actiaggociated with the sale and development of serdigtiors
and related software focused on the IP telephodywateoconferencing markets. In addition, the Ngter
segment includes revenue derived from the licehs@eo monitoring technology to Interlogix, Inas well as
sales of media hub systems.

o The Centile segment reflects activity associatetl thie development and sale of its hosted iPBXtswiu
Centile also markets and sells media hub systemarasf its hosted iPBX solution.

o The Corporate and Other segment represents thedsgsactivities of the parent entity, 8x8, Inc. Tésults for
the Corporate and Other segment principally refetivities related to the development and deplayméthe
service creation environment and eSLEE productsl)acated corporate overhead expenses, and revandes
certain costs associated with discontinued proliues.

Due to limitations in the Company's internal repaytsystems, it was not practicable to discloseatpey losses ar
net losses by segment for fiscal 2000. The follgwniable illustrates results by segment for thequiriduring whic
the information was available:



Y ear Ended March 31,

2002 2001 2000
Revenues:
Netergy.....coovveeeviiivveeeeeeninns $ 13,35 0$ 15,850 $ 16,308
Centile.....cccovviviiiiiieees 26 0 198 70
Corporate and Other................... 1,08 1 2,180 9,006
Total revenues................ $ 14,69 1$ 18,228 $ 25,384
Gross profit:
NEtergy.....ooeevvveevveeerreeerieens $ 10,65 6 $ 10,792 $ 13,137
Centile.......ocooviiviieiiiiieens 20 5 71 45
Corporate and Other................... 1,00 7 379 3,604
Total gross profit............ $ 11,86 8 $ 11,242 $ 16,786
Operating loss:
Netergy....cooceeeeveeeeeceeeeennen. $ (1,50 9)% (5,668)% -
Centile......cooooeiiiiiiiiiins (5,72 1) (13,024) --
Corporate and Other................... (2,78 4) (55,781) --
Total operating loss.......... $ (10,01 4)$ (74,473) $ -
Net loss:
NEtergy.....cccoovevveeeeeeeenenn. $ (1,31 8)$ (5,661)% --
Centile......cocooviivieiiiiieeee (5,62 7)  (12,955) -
Corporate and Other................... (2,16 0) (55,783) --
Total net loss................ $ (9,10 5)$ (74,399) $ --

There were no reconciling items between the segnfamtthe revenue, gross profit, operating loss aat los
amounts.

The following table illustrates net revenues by graphic area. Revenues are attributed to countrsgd on tr
destination of shipment (in thousands):

Y ear Ended March 31,
2002 2001 2000
United States...........cooeevveeeeeens $ 5,77 7% 5632 % 13,381
EUrope.......ccovvveeeeiiiiiiieee e 4,12 6 5,862 5,808
TalWaN.....ccoooveeveieeeeeeeeeeeeen 2,02 6 2,739 1,737
N F=T o1 o PO 1,11 9 1,188 2,351
(@] 1 g 1<] S 1,64 3 2,807 2,107
$ 14,69 1$ 18,228 $ 25,384

The majority of the Company's long-lived assetsenecated in the United States. Lolnged assets consist primat
of property and equipment and deposits. The folhgwtable illustrates long-lived assets by countmttfousands):



March 31,

(in thousands)

United StatesS........uvvveveeeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeenn $ 2,051 $ 4,426
United Kingdom.........ccvvvvveveeeeinennennn, 602 681
FranCe.....ccoooveiiiiiiieeeeeenn 452 762

$ 3,105 $ 5,869

Three customers represented more than 10% of talrrevenues in fiscal 2002. These customers repted 13%
13% and 12% of our total revenues, respectivelyidguhe fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 and 200@ustome
accounted for 10% or more of total revenues.

8X8, INC.

SCHEDULE I -- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Balance Add itions
at Cha rged to Balance
Beginning Cos ts and at End

Description of Year Exp enses Deductions of Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Year ended March 31, 2000......... $ 686 % (200)$ 44 $ 442

Year ended March 31, 2001......... 442 25 78 389

Year ended March 31, 2002......... 389 -- 103 286
8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)



March 31, D
2002
Total revenues...........ccccvvvee. $ 2221 %
Cost of revenues..........cccceee.... 692
Gross profit.......cccoeevvveeinnnns 1,529
Operating expenses:
Research and development............ 2,705

Selling, general, and
administrative.................... 1,956
In-process research and
development.........ccceeeeeeinne -
Amortization of intangibles......... 191
Restructuring charge................ -

Total operating expenses...... 4,852
Loss from operations.................. (3,323)
Other income (expense), net........... 218
Loss before income taxes.............. (3,105)
Provision for income taxes............ 15

and cumulative effect of change

in accounting principle ............ (3,120)
Extraordinary gain on extinguishment

of debt, net...........ccoeeeenens -
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle................

Net income (l0SS)......ccccvvevnenne $(3,120) $

Net income (loss) per share:
BasSiC....ccooveeiecrieciieine. $ (0.11) $
Diluted......ccooveviiiiiriienns (0.11)

Shares used in per share calculations:
BaSiC.uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeees 28,156
Diluted......cccovveviiniiniine 28,156

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

(UNAUDITED)

QUARTER ENDED

ec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Se
2001 2001 2001 2001 2000

4,944 $ 3,926 $ 3,600 $ 4,409 $ 4,104 $
659 434 1,038 1,695 1,948

2,295 2,697 3,868 4,866 4,868

2,269 2,367 2,962 5,189 4,497

190 191 191 3,612 3,612
-- - 33,316

4,754 5,255 7,021 46,983 12,977 1

(469) (1,763) (4,459) (44,269) (-1-L0,821) 1t
135 (220) 12 (94) 67

(334) (1,983) (4,447) (44,363) (;.0,754) a
- - - 5 -

(334) (1,983) (4,447) (44,368) (10,754) (1

(1,081)

002 $ (0.07)$ (0.17)$ (1.67)$ (0.47)$
002 (0.07) (0.17) (1.67) (0.47)

27,201 26,958 26,769 26,541 25,337 2

27,438 26,958 26,769 26,541 25,337 2

PART Il

pt. 30, June 30,

2000 2000

3,892 $ 5,823
1,765 1,578
2,127 4,245
4,788 4,214
4,728 3,699
4,563

3,573 190

7,652 8,103

554 645

12

(0.60) $ (0.14)
(0.60) (0.14)

4,923 22,582

4,923 22,582

Certain information required by Part Il is omittddm this Report on Form 1R-in that the Registrant will file i
definitive Proxy Statement for its Annual MeetingQiockholders (the 2002 Proxy Statement) purst@afegulatiol
14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as atednnot later than 120 days after the end of ibwalf yea
covered by this Report, and certain informationluded in the 2002 Proxy Statement is incorporateckein by
reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT
The information required by this is included in @@02 Proxy Statement under the captions "EleatioDirectors --

Nominees," "Additional Informatior-- Executive Officers" and "Additional Information Section 16(a) Benefici
Ownership Reporting Compliance"” and is incorpordteckin by referenci



ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is included the 2002 Proxy Statement under the captions tigleoi
Directors -- Compensation of Directors,"” "Additioriaformation -- Executive Compensation” and is incorpor.
herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item is set foith the 2002 Proxy Statement under the captions ItAwichl
Information -- Security Ownership" and "Additioniaformation -- Equity Compensation Plan Information” and
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS
Agreementswith STMicroelectronics

In the quarter ended March 31, 2000, the Compaigreth into a strategic relationship with STMicrattenics NV
or STM. Under various agreements, STM purchasedeshaf 8x8 common stock and was granted certastet
rights, licensed certain of the Company's intellatproperty and engaged the Company to jointlyetgy product
that enable voice and other multimedia services miernet protocol networks. In addition, STM a8xB entered ini
a cross license agreement in March 2002 that i rudlly described below.

Sock Purchase and Related Rights. As part of the arrangement, STM purchased 3.7 anilhares of 8x8's commnr
stock for $27.75 million. STM's share ownershiprently represents 13.1% of our outstanding comntocksmaking
them the Company's largest shareholder. STM has d¢ramted certain registration rights that expperuthe earlier ¢
the date that STM can sell the remaining sharbslds in any threeaonth period under Rule 144, or February 2
The registration rights allow STM to:

e require us to file a registration statement with thS. Securities and Exchange Commission covéhnagesale
of some or all of the 3.7 million shares still hblgl STM, subject to certain conditions; and

e participate in future registration statements,udahg a registered public offering involving an endriting,
subject to certain conditions and limitations.

In addition, STM has preemptive rights that alloWMsto purchase additional shares of common stooknfthe
Company or receive rights to acquire shares of@@mon stock, in proportion to their ownership petage, to tr
extent that shares of 8x8 common stock or righesctpuire 8x8 common stock are issued in connegtitnfinancing
activities. STM's preemptive rights terminate oa thter of the date that it owns less than 10%x&sBoutstandin
common stock or February 2003. Further, so lon§B¥ holds at least 10% of 8x8's outstanding comstonk, thi
Company is obligated to nominate one qualified maeiselected by STM for election to 8x8's boardlicéctors
Christos Lagomichos, vice president and general agen of the Setop Box Division of STM's subsidial
STMicroelectronics, Inc., was selected as a nomitye8TM and currently serves on 8x8's board ofaties.

License and Development Agreements . Under a non-exclusive, royalbearing license agreement entered into i
quarter ended March 31, 2000 in conjunction wita #tock purchase and rights agreements discussaat,atie
Company provided a subsidiary of STM, STMicroelesics, Inc., or STM Inc., with rights to use cenmtaf its voice-
over-internetprotocol semiconductor and embedded software téagnoSTM Inc. is required to pay royalties be
on a percentage of the net sales price of prodiwdtsby STM Inc. that incorporate the licensed tetbgy.

Under a separate development agreement that waexsuted in the quarter ended March 31, 2000,a8xBSTM
Inc. established a framewofdr the joint development of semiconductor prodwustd defined two initial projects. C
project provides for the joint development of acesenabled chipset for cable modems and cableigalavsettop
boxes. STM Inc. is not required to pay the Company engineering fees associated with the developmigorts
necessary to support this project, which is stij@ing. STM Inc. is required to pay certain p@it royalties base
upon shipments of products that may eventuallyltdsam this development effort. The other proj@ctolves the
integration of certain of our voi-overinternet protocol technology into products intendedbe used in variol



internet telephony applications including digitabscriber line, or DSL, modems and internet protéelephones. |
May 2000 STM Inc. paid us $1.0 million associatathwhis project; $500,000 for engineering feesoaiged with th
development effort and $500,000 of prepaid royslt/e have substantially completed our obligatiander thi:
project and STM Inc. is currently marketing andisgla product resulting from this joint developmeffort. STV
Inc. is required to pay us additional perit royalties based upon shipments of this prodady if cumulative royaltie
owed eventually exceed the balance of prepaid tiegalShould STM Inc. elect to have us provide moésl produc
maintenance and support, they are required to gagdditional fees of which a portion will be coresied prepai
royalties.

In March 2002, 8x8 licensed certain STM Very Longttuction Word, or VLIW, microprocessor coresated tool
and MPEG4 video compression firmware from STM fae un the Company's Internet protocol, or IP, v
communication processor development initiativesdifdnally, 8x8 agreed to license STM certain &f éixisting an
future H.263 and H.26L video compression/decompoasdirmware implementations for use with ST
semiconductor products. The licenses are non-axelusion-transferable and nassignable and provide for -
sharing of updates and enhancements to the liceaasbdology, subject to certain limitations. Theeggnent include
provisions that allow the Company to manufactusegiiconductor devices that contain the ST200 cb8IT# or a
other third-party fabrication facilities. The Conmyas required to pay STM pemit royalties based upon shipment
products that incorporate the VLIW technology. bidition, STM is required to pay the Company certa@r-unit
royalties based upon shipments of STM semicondyxctmfucts that contain the Company's video teclyyolo

Additional information required by this Item is detth in the 2002 Proxy Statement under the captitAdditiona
Information -- Employment Contracts and Termination of Employmantl Change in Control Arrangemer
"Additional Information -- Compensation Committegdrlocks and Insider Participation,” "Additionafdrmation --
Report of the Compensation Committee of the Bodmiectors" and "Additional Information -Stock Performant
Graph" and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a)(1) Financial Statements. The information required by this item is includedtem 8.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules. The information required by this item is includedtem 8.
(2)(3) Exhibits. The documents listed on the Exhibit Index appeaaihgages 69-1 of this Report are filed herewi
Copies of the exhibits listed in the Exhibit Inde#l be furnished, upon request, to holders or Iliiers owners of th

Company's common stock.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K. On January 30, 2002, we filed an amendment to aure@t Report on Form RB-datec
December 17, 2001 reporting the redemption of oavertible subordinated debentures.

On February 14, 2002, we filed a Current ReporfForm 8K also dated February 14, 2002 announcing that i
Martin had been named Chief Executive Officer oB8,8kic. and that Joe Parkinson, our former Chieédttive
Officer, would continue as Chairman of 8x8's BoafDirectors. We also announced a new Internetdeobt(IP
video product development initiative.

SIGNATURES



Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyf 8X8, Inc.,
Delaware corporation, has duly caused this ReporForm 10K to be signed on its behalf by the undersig
thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Santar&|&tate of California, on May 23, 2002.

8X8, INC.

By: /sl BRYAN R. MARTIN

Bryan R. Martin,

President & Chief Executive Offici

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each persdise signature appears below constitutes
appoints Bryan R. Martin and David M. Stoll, jointhnd severally, his attorneysdaet, each with the power
substitution, for him in any and all capacities,stgn any amendments to this Report on FornKl@nd to file th:
same, with exhibits thereto and other documentsconnection therewith, with the Securities and Exge
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming allttleach of said attorney-ifact, or his substitute or substitutes, |
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesEaatiange Act of 1934, this Report on FormKL@as been signed
the following persons in the capacities and ondéue indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl BRYAN R. MARTIN Director, President and Chief Executive Officer May 23, 2002
Bryan R. Martin (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ DAVID M. STOLL Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance May 23, 2002
David M. Stoll and Secretary

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl JOE PARKINSON Chairman of the Board May 23, 2002
Joe Parkinson
/s BERND GIROD Director May 23, 2002
Bernd Girod
/sl GUY L. HECKER Director May 23, 2002
Guy L. Hecker, Jr.

Director May 23, 2002
Christos Lagomichos
/sl WILLIAM TAI Director May 23, 2002
William Tai

8X8, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title



2.1(c)

2.2 (9)

3.1(a)
3.2 (a)
3.3 ()

3.4 (n)

4.1 (d)

4.2 (d)

4.3 (d)

4.4 (d)

4.5 (d)

4.6 (f)

4.7 (f)

4.8 (0)

4.9 (0)

10.1 (a)
10.2 (a)
10.3 (a)
10.4 (i)
10.5 (a)

10.6 ())

Stock Exchange Agreement, dated as of M&ay 999, by and among 8x8, Inc.
(the Registrant), Odisei S.A. and the Security lddchamed therein and the
agreements related thereto.

Share Exchange Agreement, dated as ofIMa2000, by and among the
Registrant, U|Force, all of the shareholders obj€ and indirect owners of the
shares of U|Force.

Form of Amended and Restated Certifichtearporation of Registrant.
Bylaws of Registrant.

Certificate of Amendment of Amended andsfae&ed Certificate of Incorporation of
Registrant.

Certificate of Amendment of Amended andt®&d Certificate of Incorporation of
Registrant.

Securities Purchase Agreement by and adngate Capital Ltd. and Fisher
Capital Ltd. (collectively the Buyers) and the Ragint dated December 15, 1999,
with Schedule and Exhibits.

Registration Rights Agreement by and antbegRegistrant and the Buyers dated
December 15, 1999.

Form of Series A Warrant by and amongRbgistrant and FleetBoston Robertson
Stephens, Inc. dated December 16, 1999.

Form of Series B Warrant by and amongRegistrant and FleetBoston Robertson
Stephens Inc. dated December 16, 1999.

Registration Rights Agreement by and antbegRregistrant and FleetBoston
Robertson Stephens Inc. dated December 16, 1999.

Common Stock Purchase Agreement by anchgrtite Registrant and
STMicroelectronics dated January 24, 2000.

Form of Investor Rights Agreement by antbag the Registrant and
STMicroelectronics dated January 24, 2000.

Form of Amendment No.1 to the Series A 8ades B Warrants, dated as of
December 17, 2001, by and among the RegistrarteFSapital Ltd. and Wingate
Capital Ltd.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated d3exfember 13, 2001, by and among the
Registrant, Fisher Capital Ltd. and Wingate Caytitell

Form of Indemnification Agreement.

1992 Stock Option Plan, as amended, @md éf Stock Option Agreement.
Key Personnel Plan, as amended, anddb&8tock Option Agreement.
1996 Stock Plan, as amended, and for8tatk Option Agreement.

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, asdedeand form of Subscription
Agreement.

1996 Director Option Plan, as amended,fanm of Director Option Agreement.



10.7 (a)

10.8 (b)

10.9 (b)

10.10 (e)

10.11 (h)

10.12 (h)

10.13 (K)

10.14 ()

10.15 (I)

10.16

(m)
10.17

(m)
10.18 (p)
10.19 (q)
10.20 (q)

10.21
10.22
10.23

10.24

21.1
23.1
24.1

Facility lease dated as of July 3, 199@nd between Sobrato Interests, a
California Limited Partnership, and the Registraistamended.

Fifth Amendment to Lease dated Januayy1 288 between Sobrato Interests and
the Registrant.

Landlord's Consent to Sublease datedugepf3, 1998 among Sobrato Interests,
Bay Networks, Inc. and the Registrant.

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plargrasnded, and form of Stock Option
Agreement.

Asset Purchase Agreement by and am@nBékistrant and Interlogix, Inc. dated
May 19, 2000.

Technology License Agreement by and antba Registrant and Interlogix, Inc.
dated May 19, 2000.

UForce Company -- Societe UForce AmeratetiRestated 1999 Stock Option
Plan.

Settlement Agreement and Release bybatwleen the Registrant and Keith
Barraclough dated July 10, 2000.

Severance Agreement and Mutual Relepsat between the Registrant, Netergy
Networks Canada Corporation and Dominique Pitteldatd October 13, 2000.

Agreement by and between the Registrant and Dit.\Raais dated April 30,
2001.

Agreement by and between the Registrant and Jam&tbster dated April 30,
2001.

Redemption and Exchange Agreement, deted December 13, 2001, by and
among 8x8, Inc., Fisher Capital Ltd. and Wingatgi@Ga Ltd.

License Agreement dated as of Januarg@3D, by and between the Registrant
and STMicroelectronics, Inc.

Development Agreement dated as of Jgr24ar2000, by and between the
Registrant and STMicroelectronics, Inc.

LX Video Development and License Agreemeriéd as of March 19, 2002, by
and between the Registrant and STMicroelectronivs N

Netergy Microelectronics, Inc. 2000 Stocki@pPlan, as amended, and form of
Stock Option Agreement.

Centile, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, asrated, and form of Stock Option
Agreement.

Investment Agreement dated April 1, 2002bg between the Registrant and Joe
Parkinson.

Subsidiaries of Registrant.
Consent of Independent Accountants.

Power of Attorney (see page 68).



(a) Incorporated by reference to identically nunebleexhibits filed in response to Item 16 (a), "HExisi,” of the
registrant's Registration Statement on Form SH& (fo. 333-15627), as amended, declared effectivéuty 1, 1997.

(b) Incorporated by reference to exhibits filed@sponse to Item 14 (a), "Exhibits," of the Registis Annual Repc
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 3198.9

(c) Incorporated by reference to identically nunelgeexhibits filed in response to Item 7, "Exhilits, the Registrant
Report on Form 8-K dated June 7, 1999 and 8-K/A&dl&tugust 9, 1999.

(d) Incorporated by reference to exhibits filed@sponse to Item 6(a), "Exhibits," of the RegidtsaReport on For
10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 1999

(e) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 filadresponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the Registiaistatement ¢
Form S-8 dated July 17, 2000.

() Incorporated by reference to exhibits filedr@sponse to Item 7, "Exhibits,” of the RegistraReéport on Form &
filed on February 16, 2000.

(9) Incorporated by reference to an exhibit filadesponse to Item 7, "Exhibits," of the RegistsaReport on Form 8-
K filed on May 23, 2000.

(h) Incorporated by reference to exhibits fileda@sponse to Item 7, "Exhibits," of the RegistraR&port on Form &
filed on May 26, 2000.

(i) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 filadesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the RegistiaReport on Form S-
8 dated November 7, 2000.

() Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2 filadesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the RegistiaReport on Form S-
8 dated November 7, 2000.

(k) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2 filadesponse to Item 8, "Exhibits," of the Registsa&tatement on
Form S-8 dated July 17, 2000.

() Incorporated by reference to exhibits filed@sponse to Item 14 (a), "Exhibits,” of the Registis Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 3020

(m) Incorporated by reference to exhibits filedesponse to Item 6(a), "Exhibits,” of the RegisteaReport on Form
10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(n) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 filedesponse to Item 6(a), "Exhibits," of the Regist's Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended SeptembePG01.

(o) Incorporated by reference to exhibits filedesponse to Item 7, "Exhibits," of the RegistraR&port on Form 8-K
filed on December 17, 2001.

(p) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 filedesponse to Item 7, "Exhibits," of the Registi®Report on Form
8-K/A filed on January 30, 2002.

(q) Incorporated by reference to exhibits filedesponse to Item 7, "Exhibits," of the RegistraReport on Form 8-
K/A filed on January 30, 200:



Exhibit 10.2:

STMICROELECTRONICS N.V. AND 8X8 LX VIDEO DEVELOPMEN T AND LICENSE

This Agreement is made as of March___, 2002 (tlitetEve Date") between 8x8, Inc., a corporatioganized and existing under the law:
the State of Delaware (hereafter "8x8") and STMiteotronics N.V., a Dutch corporation having itspipal place of business at
Strawinskylaan 1725, Tower B 1loor, 1077 Amsterdam, The Netherlands, actinghierpurpose of this Agreement through its Swiss
branch, ICC Bloc A, Route de Pré-bois 20, 1215 @arib, Switzerland (hereafter "ST").

1. ST LX Technology. Subject to the terms and conditions herein, S8 jgovide 8x8 with sufficient information to erlal8x8 to
develop semiconductor products that incorporateéSthé X based processor core technology.. For papo$this Agreement, "LX
Technology" shall mean the LX based processor mtenology known as ST 210 and ST 220 and a spe£if220 enhanced core
(hereafter known as ST220-26L) which will be foe furpose of accommodating the performance regein&of the H26L
specification. For purposes of this Agreement,"8y8 LX Chips" shall mean chips designed by 8X8 armbrporating the LX
Technology, 8x8 circuitry and possibly other SThard party circuitry. The information to be proed by ST hereunder ("LX
Information™) includes, but is not limited to, tf@lowing as it relates to the LX Technology andtasxists on the Effective Date or
upon delivery:

A. All applicable netlists; schematics; layouts;taafre, high level, behavioral, C-, Verilog and timpimodels; simulation
patterns, validation and test suites and test progr and standard cell libraries and models.

B. Allinternal ROM microcodes and microcode modatsl tools

C. Documentation relating to these items to therdxteesently available and in its existing form.

2. ST LX Tools.ST will provide 8X8 the ST220 simulator and comp{llenown as the Multi-Flow tools chain) and sucoessmulators
and compilers related to the LX Technology (the "CL&ols") in binary code format. ST will provide 8w8th five (5) ST210
development platforms and five (5) ST220/Web-Buddyelopment platforms. ST will provide 8x8 with dogentation relating to
these items to the extent presently available arit$ iexisting form.

3. ST LX License. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agrest, ST hereby grants to 8x8, a non-exclusive;tremmsferable,
non- assignable, world-wide license to use, oparatecopy the LX Technology, LX Information and M¥ols in order to make, have
manufactured, commercialize, sell and otherwispatie of 8x8 LX Chips and 8x8 software. The licegismted herein includes any
patents, trade secrets, copyrights or other imtieisd property owned by ST or its Affiliates nowinrthe future applicable to the LX
Technology, LX Information and LX Tools providedattany license or delivery of technology is onlyttie extent ST is legally
entitled to grant rights thereto to 8x8 hereunder.

A. 8x8 shall have the rights to choose, at its siideretion, at which foundry to manufacture the 88Chips, provided that ST
shall first be offered an opportunity to meet oathall terms and conditions offered by 8x8's chdsemdry vendor including
but not limited to such terms as unit pricing, tog| capacity allocation, prototype and productitetivery, quality and
reliability.

I. 8x8 shall presentto ST a request for quotati®FQ") that contains sufficient information with wh ST can provide a
guotation to 8x8 including any relevant competitigems and conditions, without violating any exigtNon Disclosure
Agreements in affect between 8x8 and"&arty. ST will provide 8x8 with a quotation withinreasonable timeframe
as mutually agreed to between the parties. If Scljuotation does not meet competitive terms amditions or is not
received by 8x8 in a timely manner , 8x8 can chpasés sole discretion, to build the 8x8 LX Chatsalternative, non-
ST foundry of its choice.

II. If ST does respond to the RFQ in a timely mannenaith competitive terms, 8x8 may at its own disicrg, still choos
to manufacture the 8x8 LX Chip at another fountttgwever, 8x8 will ensure that at least 80% of thewal unit
volume that it purchases of such an 8x8 LX Chiménufactured or sourced through ST provided thatn@ihtains
competitive terms and conditions.

Ill. 8x8 acknowledges that ST may subcontract sonadlmf the manufacturing of the 8x8 LX Chips to external, third
party foundry. Accordingly, design package inforimatprovided by 8x8 to ST for the manufacture @& 8x8 LX Chips
may be, at 8x8's sole discretion, targeted towtdrelsppropriate third party foundry process.

B. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agremst and in addition to the rights granted in $#c8 above, ST hereby grants
to 8x8 the right to grant to 8x8's 8x8 LX Chip amsers a nhon-exclusive, non-assignable, non-traaisieisublicense to use the
8x8 LX Chips to develop, make, have manufacturethroercialize, sell or otherwise dispose of boantisgstem or system
level products that contain the 8x8 LX Chip.

4. LX Royalty . In return for the license described in Item 33 8ull pay ST a royalty of $0.25 for each of thesfifive (5) million, $0.15
for each of the units between five (5) and ten ¢hlion, and $0.10 for each unit above ten (10Nion 8x8 LX Chips not



10.

11.

12.

13.

manufactured by ST or sourced through ST that 848 either as a semiconductor product or incorjedr&n a system.

ST MPEG4 Code Subject to the terms and conditions herein, S® {grovide 8x8 with its existing DIV-X MPEG4 firmwarported
for execution on the LX in source and object caatenf("MPEG4 Code") as it exists upon delivery angl documentation relating to
the MPEG4 Code to the extent presently availabteimits existing form. Specifically excluded fraime license granted hereunder
any future developments, enhancements, mainterarargy other technology developed relative to MPEZG4A or MPEG standards
that are unrelated to the MPEG4 Code as of thectffeDate.

ST MPEG4 LicenseSubject to the terms and conditions of this Agresim®T hereby grants to 8x8 a royalty free, nonesigk,
nontransferable, non-assignable world-wide licdnagse, operate, copy and modify the MPEG4 Codeder to make, have
manufactured, commercialize, sell and otherwispatie of 8x8 LX Chips bundled with the MPEG4 Codéenivatives thereof
provided by ST hereunder or developed by 8x8 heteymprovided that nothing herein entitles 8x8isirbute the MPEG4 Code
except in object code form only. The license grdiiterein includes any patents, trade secrets, iggpigror other intellectual property
owned by ST now or in the future applicable toMREG4 Code, provided that any license or delivériechnology is only to the
extent ST is legally entitled to grant rights there 8x8 hereunder.

A. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agneat and in addition to the rights granted in $ecé above, ST hereby grants
to 8x8 the right to grant to 8x8's 8x8 LX Chip amers a non-exclusive, non-assignable, non-traaisieisublicense to use the
MPEG4 Code to develop, make, have manufacturedimamialize, sell or otherwise dispose of produlstd tontain the
MPEG4 Code as bundled with the 8x8 LX Chips andhject code form only.

8x8 Code Subject to the terms and conditions herein, 848 f@ovide ST with its H.263 and future H26L videadec firmware

ported for execution on the LX Technology (inclugliif any, H.263 or H.26L codec firmware targeted dperation on a system host
processor in conjunction with the LX Technologysmurce and object code form ("8x8 Code") as istsxiipon delivery and any
documentation relating to the 8x8 Code to the extessently available and in its existing form. Tgaeties understand and agree that
the H26L video codec firmware as referred to hedenmeans the Joint Model Number 1 video comprasgicommendation
resulting from the work of the Joint Video Teamnf@d by ITU-T SG16 Q.6 (VCEG) and ISO/IEC JTC 1/S0/RG 11 (MPEG).

8x8 LicenseSubject to the terms and conditions of this Agreain®@x8 hereby grants to ST a nonexclusive, nosfeaable, non-
assignable world-wide license to use, operate, emplymodify the 8x8 Code in order to make, haveufatured, commercialize, sell
and otherwise dispose of ST semiconductor produatsiled with the 8x8 Code or derivatives there8fI('Chip"), provided that
nothing herein entitles ST to distribute the 8x&€except in object code form only. The licensenggad herein includes any patents,
trade secrets, copyrights or other intellectuapprty owned by 8x8 now or in the future applicatiol¢he 8x8 Code, provided that any
license or delivery of technology is only to theeat 8x8 is legally entitled to grant rights ther& ST hereunder.

A. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agresnaed in addition to the rights granted in SecBabove, 8x8 hereby grat
to ST the right to grant to ST's ST Chip custon@en®n-exclusive, non-assignable, non- transfersliidicense to use the 8x8
Code to develop, make, have manufactured, comntiesgiaell or otherwise dispose of products thattam the 8x8 Code as
bundled with the ST Chips and in object code fontyo

Third Party Technology. Specifically excluded from the licenses granteceheder are any developments, enhancements,
maintenance or any other technology received byidkasor from third parties unless such third pais allowed the licensor to pass
on such enhancements to the licensor's other bemsns

Custom DevelopmentSpecifically excluded from the licenses grantecebeder are any developments, enhancements, maictna
or any other technology developed by the licenspafthird party unless such third party has allkbtee licensor to pass on such
enhancements to licensor's other licensees.

8x8 Code Royalty. In return for the license described in Item 8,V8Il pay 8x8 a royalty according to the below sdhle for each S’
Chip it sells with which the 8x8 Code is expressiyplicensed or supplied by ST to ST customers.

Volume Royalty Per
Unit
Initial 4,500,000 ST Chips bundled with the H.2&&éd 8x8 Code $0.10
Initial 4,500,000 ST Chips bundled with the H.26ksbd 8x8 $0.10

Code

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, in renéthe 8x8 Code or any derivatives of the MPEGdecpractices patents, patent
applications, including with respect to patents paient rights granted upon any reissue, divigiontinuation or continuation-in-part
applications now or hereafter filed ("Patents")3ly, ST agrees that it will not assert these Patentssigx8 for 8x8's making, usin
and/or selling of the 8x8 Code. In any event tlin-assert clause applies only in favor of 8x8 ax®l @istomers, and does not cover
any third parties or partners of 8x8. NOTWITHSTANNG ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, This non-assert clausenon-
transferable, not assignable and will automaticiaiyninate in the event of a change of controlX8.8~or purposes of this section, a
change of control shall mean one transaction eriesof related transactions that results in agbéaf control through direct or
indirect ownership of fifty percent (50%) or morktioe outstanding shares of stock entitled to Yotehe election of directors (other
than restricted shares of stock).

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, in the éWem LX Technology, the MPEG4 Code, or any derixest of the 8x8 Code practic
patents, patent applications, including with respe@atents any patent rights granted upon arsguei division, continuation or
continuation-in-part applications now or hereafiied ("Patents") by 8x88x8 agrees that it will not assert these PateramagST fo
ST's making, using, or selling the LX Technolodye MPEG4 Code, or any derivatives of the 8x8 Ctauany event this non-assert
clause applies only in favor of ST and ST custora@does not cover any third parties or partnE&ToNOTWITHSTANDING
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ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, This non-assert clauseN®N-Transferable, not assignable and will autooadily terminate in

the event of a change of control of ST. For purpasehis section, a change of control shall maamteansaction or a series of related
transactions that results in a change of controluph direct or indirect ownership of fifty perc€B0%) or more of the outstanding
shares of stock entitled to vote for the electibdiectors (other than restricted shares of stock)

All royalties payable hereunder will be due WwitBO days of the end of each of the payee's figgatters in which applicable product
was shipped. Each party is entitled to audit theoparty's records through an independent audiitrer party shall have the right for
representatives of a firm of independent accoustatip shall have signed an appropriate non dismosgreement, to which the other
party shall not unreasonably object ("Auditorstymake an examination and audit, by prior appointragreed between the Parties,
such agreement not to be unreasonably withheldhglmormal business hours, not more frequently thregze annually during the time
that a party is required to make royalty paymeanthé other party hereunder and for one year tftereaf all records and accounts as
may under recognized accounting practices contd@mmation bearing upon the royalties revenue aediumber of products sold by
either party under this Agreement. The Auditord veiport to the auditing party only upon whether thyalties paid to it by the
audited party were or were not correct, and if inect, what are the correct amounts for the rogaltThe audited party shall be
supplied with a copy of or sufficient extracts framy report prepared by the Auditors. Such auditl &e at the auditing party's
expense unless it reveals an underpayment of feyat five percent (5%) or more in which casedhbdited party shall reimburse the
auditing party for the costs of such audit, phigiiest of 12% per annum on the deficiency frontitne the royalty was due until
paid.

A. Concurrent with each royalty payment either pangkes hereunder, the paying party shall providexatanation, as mutually
agreed to, of how the payment amount was calculated

Development ScheduleST will employ commercially reasonable efforts tdider the LX Tools, the LX Technology and the MPEG
Code (together "ST Technology") within one (1) moot the Effective Date. 8x8 will employ commergyaleasonable efforts to
deliver the initial 8x8 Code within nine (9) montlnem receipt of the LX Tools and the LX Technology

Tool Updates. ST will provide 8x8 with updates and enhancemamtie LX Tools developed by ST, including but hiiited to the
new tool chain that ST is developing that is expé¢b be available at the end of 2002 and any deatation as they become availe
for the term of this Agreement. Upon delivery, sugldates and enhancements shall become part bXti®@ols as defined herein.
Update and Enhancement SharingST and 8x8 will share with each other where thatimg party has the legal ability to disclose,
such updates and enhancements either party maktes itX Technology, MPEG4 Code and 8x8 Code ("Exbarents") as those
terms are defined herein as they become available jperiod of two (2) years from the Effective ®at two (2) years from the date
on which a new, major version of the relevant tetbgy is made available whichever is later. Fomppses of this agreement, the
meaning of a new, major version shall be mutuadiyead to but would be considered , but not limitedfor the LX Technology the
initial delivery and any new version of the LX cq®vided hereunder and for the 8X8 Code the H2f2c or new H26L codec.
After that time, Enhancement sharing is to continnkess either party indicates an interest in disnaing to share such
Enhancements at which time the parties will excleahg latest updates and no further Enhancemeltsenshared. Upon delivery
such Enhancements will become part of the releiAntechnology, MPEG4 Code or 8x8 Code as thosesera defined herein.
Future DevelopmentsThe parties understand that availability of the HB@&sed 8x8 Code assumes implementation of a niytual
agreed to version of the LX Technology capablexefcating the H.26L based 8x8 Code and ratificatind acceptance of the relevant
standard currently known as the Joint Video TeawiTJJnitiative. ST and 8X8 agree to negotiate iroddaith on a case-by-case basis
the terms and conditions under which such a licemeg be provided for future cores and future codecs

Technical Support. Each party will provide the other with sufficiesgpplications engineering level technical suppedessary to
commercialize products based on the licensed tdogyndor as long as the parties continue to shatmecements to the licensed
technology.

8x8 LX Chip Customers. In the event that an 8x8 LX Chip customer wisteelicense the LX Tools or the MPEG4 Code in source
format, ST agrees to negotiate in good faith oasediy-case basis the terms and conditions undehwsbich a license may be
provided.

ST LX Customers. In the event that an ST Chip customer wishegémée the 8x8 Code in source code form, 8x8 agoemsgotiate
in good faith on a case by case basis the terms@mtitions under which such a license may be pexti

Representations and Warranties

A. 8x8 represents and warrants to ST that (a) tdo&st of its knowledge as of the Effective Dateais full power and authority to
enter into this Agreement, (b) to the best of itewledge as of the Effective Date the terms andlitioms of this Agreement,
and 8x8's obligations hereunder, do not conflichwir violate any terms or conditions of any othgreement or commitment
to which 8x8 is a signatory or by which it is boufd) to the best of its knowledge as of the EffecDate it owned or
controlled the 8x8 Code that will be licensed artivered to ST under this Agreement and (d) it wéfend and indemnify ST
against any third party claims arising out of dated to a breach of these warranties and repatsams.

B. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENBX8 MAKES NO WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS,
EXPRESSED, STATUTORY, IMPLIED, OR OTHERWISE, WITHESPECT TO THE 8x8 CODE LICENSED
HEREUNDER, AND 8x8 HEREBY DISCLAIMS THE IMPLIED WARANTIES AND CONDITIONS OF,
SATISFACTORY QUALITY, MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE WITH RESPECT
THERETO.

C. ST represents and warrants to 8x8 that (a) tbéiseof its knowledge as of the Effective Dateais full power and authority to
enter into this Agreement, (b) to the best of itewledge as of the Effective Date the terms andlitioms of this Agreement,
and ST's obligations hereunder, do not conflichwit violate any terms or conditions of any othgne@ment or commitment
which ST is a signatory or by which it is bound, t(w the best of its knowledge as of the Effecidate it owned or has
authority to license the ST Technology that willllsensed and delivered to 8x8 under this Agreeraadt(d) it will defend ar
indemnify 8x8 against any third party claims anisout of or related to a breach of these warramtiesrepresentations.

D. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENST MAKES NO WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS,
EXPRESSED, STATUTORY, IMPLIED, OR OTHERWISE, WITHESPECT TO THE ST CODE LICENSED
HEREUNDER, AND ST HEREBY DISCLAIMS THE IMPLIED WARRNTIES AND CONDITIONS OF, SATISFACTOR
QUALITY, MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE WITH RESPECT THERET



23. 8x8 Indemnification

A.

8x8 shall indemnify and hold ST, their respectbfficers, directors, employees and agents (hexeedferred individually or
collectively as "ST Indemnitees") harmless andIgbe/} all costs, damages, and reasonable attorfemgand expenses relal
to ST Indemnitees defense resulting from any slatm, demand, or other action by a third partyimgtaST Indemnitees based
upon a finding that any 8x8 Code infringes the I§h& of a third party ("ST Infringement Claim"yqgvided that: (i) ST gives
written notice to 8x8 within ten (10) business daf/sotice of such ST Infringement Claim; (ii) Slfosvs 8x8 at its expense
through attorneys of its own choice, to exclusivédfend or control the defense of any ST Infringentdaim; and (iii) ST
assists 8x8 in all reasonable aspects in suchtige¢ion and defense, and is reimbursed by 8x&ldhe reasonable costs
incurred in collaborating in such investigation alelense. The foregoing indemnity obligations shpdcifically not apply to
any claim excluded under Section (b) below. Ifaassult of a ST Infringement Claim, ST Indemnitaes enjoined from using
the 8x8 Code, or selling ST Chips, 8x8 may in d@ke sliscretion, (i) procure for ST Indemnitees tight to use the 8x8 Code
under the same terms and conditions set forthignShction or (ii) provide ST Indemnitees with nfaell 8x8 Code that is non-
infringing while still meeting substantially thersa functional specifications as the 8x8 Code.

8x8 shall have no obligation hereunder for anyiiglingement Claim which results from: (a) the damation of the 8x8 Code
with other products; (b) the modification of theB3%ode by parties other than 8x8 (or not authortze8@x8); (c) the
Enhancements of the 8x8 Code by or for ST.

THIS SECTION STATES THE ENTIRE LIABILITY OF 8x8 WD THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY OF ST WITH RESPECT
TO ANY AND ALL INFRINGEMENT CLAIMS. EXCEPT AS EXPRESLY STATED IN THIS SECTION, ALL
WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT OF ANY INTELLECTUALPROPERTY RIGHTS ARE HEREBY
DISCLAIMED BY 8x8.

24. ST Indemnification

A.

ST shall indemnify and hold 8x8, their respectifficers, directors, employees and agents (hexeedferred individually or
collectively as "8x8 Indemnitees") harmless andlgiay all costs, damages, and reasonable attorfessand expenses
relating to 8x8 Indemnitees defense resulting femy suit, claim, demand, or other action by a tpacty against 8x8
Indemnitees based upon a finding that any ST Tdolgganfringes the IP Rights of a third party ("8k8ringement Claim"),
provided that: (i) 8x8 gives written notice to STthin ten (10) business days of notice of such B8ngement Claim; (ii) 8x¢
allows ST at its expense through attorneys ofua ohoice, to exclusively defend or control theethsie of any 8x8
Infringement Claim; and (jii) 8x8 assists ST int@hsonable aspects in such investigation and siefamd is reimbursed by ST
for all the reasonable costs incurred in collabogain such investigation and defense. The foreg@idemnity obligations
shall specifically not apply to any claim excludettler Section (b) below. If, as a result of a &8ihgement Claim, 8x8
Indemnitees are enjoined from using the ST Techgyglor selling 8x8 LX Chips, ST may in its soleatistion, (i) procure for
8x8 Indemnitees the right to use the ST Technologler the same terms and conditions set forthisnShction or (ii) provide
8x8 Indemnitees with modified ST Technology thatd®- infringing while still meeting substantiallye same functional
specifications as the ST Technology.

ST shall have no obligation hereunder for any B¥Bngement Claim which results from: (a) the damation of the ST
Technology with other products ; (b) the modifioatiof the ST Technology by parties other than SThéd authorized by ST);
(c) the Enhancements of the ST Technology by 08%8&:

THIS SECTION STATES THE ENTIRE LIABILITY OF ST AN THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY OF 8x8 WITH RESPECT
TO ANY AND ALL INFRINGEMENT CLAIMS. EXCEPT AS EXPRESLY STATED IN THIS SECTION, ALL
WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT OF ANY INTELLECTUALPROPERTY RIGHTS ARE HEREBY
DISCLAIMED BY ST.

25. Term and Termination.

A.

B.

@m

This Agreement shall become effective upon thiedive Date and shall continue for a period oéf{®) years (“Term"),
extended with additional one-year renewal peridagikl the parties agree in writing.

This Agreement may be terminated by either paptyn notice if the other party (i) breaches anyemalkterm or condition of
this Agreement and fails to remedy the breach withirty (30) days after being given notice therewf(ii) becomes the subj
of any voluntary or involuntary proceeding under #pplicable national or state bankruptcy or insoby laws and such
proceeding is not terminated within sixty (60) daysts commencement.

In the event of termination of this Agreementlioeach or bankruptcy as provided herein, the fieetghts of the non-
terminated party pursuant to licenses granted nelesushall survive such termination, and the lieemghts of the terminated
party pursuant to the licenses granted hereunddirslrvive only to the extent required to protw interest of existing,
committed customers of the terminated party, arhiticular the terminated party shall have thatrig (i) complete and sell
or otherwise dispose of any work-in-progress exgsin its manufacturing plants at the time of taration, (ii) sell and
otherwise dispose of any relevant product in st¢idkcomplete any orders for relevant productstixig at the time of
termination and (iv) continue to provide technisapport to its customers.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereia,expiration or termination of this Agreement skahinish the rights of any
customer who has purchased product to continusdauod/or sell or otherwise dispose of the same.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereio expiration or termination of this Agreement shalieve either party of its
obligation to pay any sum due hereunder.

The provisions of Sections 22, 23, 24, 25, 26ad 30 shall survive any termination of this Agneat.

Furthermore, unless terminated under Section)2&{bve, the provisions of Sections 3, 4, 6, 8 Htghall survive termination
of this agreement to the extent that either pardy,mnder the terms of this Agreement (i) compéete product development
work-in-progress prior to the date of terminatiart bot initiate any new product development effming the technology
licensed hereunder; (ii) continue to make, haveufatured, commercialize, sell or otherwise dispafseroducts subject to
the licenses herein; and (iii) continue to sublgethe rights to its customers to develop, makes heanufactured,
commercialize, sell or otherwise dispose of prosititat contain the technology subject to the liesrigerein.

26. Confidentiality

A.

For the purposes of this agreement, Confidentfarination shall mean the terms of this Agreementveals as any proprietar



information and data of either party, containedviitten or tangible form which is marked as "Int@riuse Only",
"Proprietary”, "Confidential”, or similar words. ®mparty's, including its Affiliates ("Disclosing Rg'") Confidential
Information shall also include its confidentialanfmation and data orally disclosed to the othetypacluding its Affiliates
("Receiving Party")as long as such verbal disclesware marked as "Confidential" or similar wordivithin 30 days of the
verbal disclosure. However, Confidential Informatihall not include any data or information which
I. Is or becomes publicly available through no failthe Receiving Party;
Il. Is already in the rightful possession of the &eing Party prior to its receipt of such datardbrmation;
Ill. Is independently developed by the ReceivingtyPaithout reference to the Confidential Informatiof the Disclosing
Party;
IV. s rightfully obtained by the Receiving Partyfn a third party or in the public domain;
V. s disclosed with the written consent of the Parhose information it is; or
VI. Is disclosed pursuant to court order or other legatpulsion, after providing prior written noticethe Disclosing Pari
of the intended disclosure.

B. The Receiving Party shall and for a period of {E8) years following receipt of the Confidentiafdrmation, hold all
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Partydonfidence, not disclose such Confidential Infatiorato any third parties
except those with a need to know in connection witHuring the performance of this Agreement wheehaxecuted a
confidentiality agreement with terms at least atrietive with regard to the Disclosing Party'soimhation as those set forth
herein, and in general use the same degree ofaaretect the confidentiality of the Disclosingr®& Confidential
Information as it uses with respect to its own infation of a similar nature.

C. Neither 8x8 nor ST shall use the other party'sfidential Information for another or other purpdkan for the purposes set
forth in this Agreement.

D. Except as otherwise provided in Section 25(ajabaopon termination of this Agreement all of thisdlbsing Party's
Confidential Information and all copies thereotlie Receiving Party's possession or control sleaiirmediately returned to
the Disclosing Party or destroyed by the ReceiWagy at the Disclosing Party's instruction. The€ng Party shall then
certify the same in writing and that no copies hbgen retained by the Receiving Party, its emplgyA#filiates, contractors,
or other parties to whom such information is predd

E. The Receiving Party acknowledges that the unaizéha disclosure of the Disclosing Party Confidehtnformation will cause
irreparable harm and significant injury, the scopevhich is difficult to ascertain. Accordingly,étReceiving Party agrees that
the Disclosing Party shall have the right to an ediate injunction enjoining any such unauthorizegldsure.

27. Limitation of Liability

28.

29.

30.

A. EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMBENIN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE
TO THE OTHER OR TO ANY THIRD PARTY FOR ANY SPECIALNDIRECT, PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL OR
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOSS OF PROFITS), CAUSED BY ANY
BREACH OF ITS OBLIGATIONS TO THE OTHER ARISING OUDF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT,
REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER IN CONTRA OR IN TORT, EVEN IF THE BREACHING
PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCHAMAGES.

B. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE TOTAL LIABILITY OF 8x8 TO S ARISING UNDER SECTION 23 "INDEMNIFICATION"
HEREOF EXCEED THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID BY ST TO 8x8 WH RESPECT TO THE 8X8 CODE CONTAINING
THE IP RIGHTS SUBJECT MATTER OF THE CLAIM, PROVIDEDHAT SUCH TOTAL AMOUNT SHALL NOT
EXCEED THE LESSER OF THE AMOUNT OF ROYALTIES PAIDYBST TO 8x8 HEREUNDER OR FIVE HUNDRED
THOUSAND U.S. DOLLARS ($500,000).

C. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE TOTAL LIABILITY OF ST TO 838 ARISING UNDER SECTION 24 "INDEMNIFICATION"
HEREOF EXCEED THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID BY 8x8 TO ST WH RESPECT TO THE LX TECHNOLOGY
CONTAINING THE IP RIGHTS SUBJECT MATTER OF THE CLM, PROVIDED THAT SUCH TOTAL AMOUNT
SHALL NOT EXCEED THE LESSER OF THE AMOUNT OF ROYAIHES PAID BY 8X8 TO ST HEREUNDER OR FIVE
HUNDRED THOUSAND U.S. DOLLARS ($500,000).

D. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE TOTAL LIABILITY OF EITHER PARTY TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY LOSS,
DAMAGE OR LIABILITY ARISING FROM A BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT EXCEED THE LESSER OF THE SUM
TOTAL OF THE ROYALTIES PAID BY THE NON-PAYING PARTYOR FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($500,000) PROVIDED (1) THAT SUCH LIMIT SHALL NOT RPLY IN THE EVENT OF A WILLFUL MISUSE OR
WILLFULLY UNLAWFUL DISTRIBUTION OF THE TECHNOLOGY UCENSED HEREUNDER, AND (2) PROVIDED
THAT SUCH LIMITATION SHALL NOT APPLY IN THE EVENT THAT EITHER PARTY FAILS TO PAY THE
ROYALTIES DUE BY ONE PARTY TO THE OTHER AS SET FORTHEREIN, NOTWITHSTANDING THE ABOVE
LANGUAGE IN (2), THE TOTAL LIABILITY OWED IN A DISPUTE FOR ROYALTIES SHALL BE THE AMOUNT OF
ROYALTIES OWED PLUS ANY INTEREST OWED UNDER SECTIOM.

Affiliates. Both parties will be able to apply this agreememt the license herein to itself and its affiliaterpanies. Affiliate
companies shall be defined to be an entity comtiglicontrolled by, or under common control ashef Effective Date or thereafter
during the term of this Agreement, with ST or 8%3tlae case may be, provided that such entity bleatbnsidered an Affiliate only f
the time during which such control exists. For msgs of this definition "control” shall mean owrepsor control, either directly or
indirectly, of greater than 50% of the voting riglf such entity.

Public Announcements8x8 and ST will use reasonable efforts to issuaitugldly agreeable joint press release. Otherwisiher
party shall make any announcement or press retegaeding this Agreement or any terms thereof withibe other Party's prior
written consent. However, either party is freei®ith the SEC or other relevant government agenany document required to be
filed thereon advice of counsel (redacted in a fadwvised by counsel).

Assignment This Agreement may not be assigned by eitheypadr any of such party's rights or obligationssumder, to any third
party including without limitation through a U.SaBkruptcy Code Chapter 11 reorganization, withaigrpvritten consent of the ot
party. For purposes of this section, a change ofrobof a Party resulting from one transactioraaeries of related transactions shall
be deemed to result in an assignment or transfimigfAgreement. Control shall mean direct or iadirownership or control of fift



percent (50%) or more of the outstanding sharesoak entitled to vote for the election of direst¢other than restricted shares of
stock). In the event that this Agreement is assigféectively to a third party, this Agreement $hhd upon successors and assigr
the Parties hereto.

31. Force Majeure. Neither party shall be liable to the other pdatyfailure of or delay in performance of any olalilpn under this
Agreement, directly or indirectly, owing to acts@éd, war, war-like condition, embargoes, riotekstand other events beyond its
reasonable control. In the event that such faidurdelay occurs, the affected party shall notify thher party of the occurrence thereof
as soon as possible and the parties shall diskedsest way to resolve the event of force majeure.

32. Notices. All notices provided for in connection with thAgreement shall be given in writing and shall bieetive (i) upon receipt,
when served by personal delivery; or (ii) the riey following the date of transmittal when trangedtby facsimile; or (iii) on the
third day following the date of transmittal wheansmitted by express mail; or (iv) on the 7th dalofving the date of mailing when
sent by registered airmail of the sender's counttly postage prepaid, addressed to the Party ksv®| or to a changed address as the
Party shall have specified by prior written noti&d:: ST Microelectronics, Inc. at 1310 Electrorilréve Carrollton, TX 75006 USA.
Attention: General Counsel; and 8x8: 8x8, Inc. 2i#4i8sion College Blvd. Santa Clara, California 980%tention: Chief Financial
Officer.

33. Waiver. The waiver by either party of the remedy for ttieer party's breach of or its right under this égment will not constitute a
waiver of the remedy for any other similar or sufusent breach or right.

34. Severability.If any provision of this Agreement is or becomésray time or for any reason, unenforceable orlidyao other
provision of this Agreement shall be affected thgreand the remaining provisions of this Agreensrall continue with the same
force and effect as if such unenforceable or imvptovisions had not been inserted in this Agregmen

35. Amendment.No changes, modifications or alterations to thisegnent shall be valid unless reduced to writing) duly signed by
the respective authorized representative of eadl.pa

36. Governing Law.This Agreement shall be interpreted, construedearidrced in accordance with the laws of the Sthi2edaware,
USA without respect to its conflict of law provisis

37. No Partnership.In giving effect to this Agreement, no party shslor be deemed to be an agent or employee of empdinty for any
purpose, and that their relationship to each athell be that of independent contractors. Nothintihis Agreement shall constitute a
partnership or a joint venture between the parhiesparty shall have the right to enter into coctisar pledge the credit of or incur
expenses or liability on behalf of the other party.

38. 8X8 acknowledges that in consideration of tberlses granted by ST herein, 8X8 agrees thatéoféhm of the Agreement the 8X8
LX Chips shall be restricted to applications thediude audio telephony and/or video telephony fionst unless otherwise specifically
agreed to in writing between the parties. In thengé¥hat ST and 8x8 determine that 8x8 is atterggtirsell the 8x8 LX Chips and ST
is attempting to sell ST Chips to the same prospectistomer for the same application, the pag@@se to negotiate in good faith to
avoid confusing such a customer.

39. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitute the entire agreemettéen the parties and supersede all prior props)said
discussions relative to the subject matter of Agjeeement and neither of the parties shall be bdoynainy conditions, definitions,
warranties, understandings or representationsregthect to the subject matter other than as expnessvided herein. The terms and
conditions contained herein and the appendixestathhereto constitute the entire agreement bettireeparties and shall supersede
all previous communications either oral or writtetween the parties with respect to the subjectambéereof. No oral explanation or
oral information by either party hereto shall alteg meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS THEREOF , the Parties hereto have executed this AgreemetiteoEffective Date.

For STMicroelectronics N.V. For 8x8, Inc.

Name: Philippe Geyres Name: Christopher Peters

Title: Corporate Vice President, G.M. CMG  Title: Corporate Development Officer
Signature: /s/ Philippe Geyres Signature: /s/ Christopher Peters

Exhibit 10.2:
NETERGY MICROELECTRONICS, INC.

2000 STOCK OPTION PLAN

1. Purposes of the PlarThe purposes of this Stock Option Plan are taettaind retain the best available personnel feitioos
of substantial responsibility, to provide additibmecentive to Employees, Directors and Consultamid to promote the succe
of the Company's business. Options granted unéePldn may be Incentive Stock Options or Nonstagustock Options, as
determined by the Administrator at the time of gran

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions shadpéy:



" Administrator" means the Board or any of its Committees as &eadldministering the Plan in accordance with
Section 4 hereof.

" Applicable Laws' means the requirements relating to the administraf stock option plans under U.S. state
corporate laws, U.S. federal and state securiies,|the Code, any stock exchange or quotatioesysh which the
Common Stock is listed or quoted and the applickbls of any other country or jurisdiction whereti©ps are granted
under the Plan.

" Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company.

" Change in Contrdl means the occurrence of any of the following ésen
I. Any "person” (as such term is used in Sectiorgl}l&nd 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes theébeial

owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchang®,Atirectly or indirectly, of securities of the @pany
representing fifty percent (50%) or more of thalkebting power represented by the Company's thstanding
voting securities; or

II. The consummation of the sale or disposition ey Company of all or substantially all of the Comya assets;
or

lll. The consummation of a merger or consolidatibthe Company with any other corporation, othenthamerger
or consolidation which would result in the votirgcarities of the Company outstanding immediateigrpr
thereto continuing to represent (either by remajrintstanding or by being converted into votingusities of
the surviving entity or its parent) at least fiftgrcent (50%) of the total voting power represeigthe voting
securities of the Company or such surviving ertityts parent outstanding immediately after suclhgaeor
consolidation.

" Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as asdend

" Committeé' means a committee of Directors appointed by tharB in accordance with Section 4 hereof.
" Common Stock means the Common Stock of the Company.

" Company' means Netergy Microelectronics, Inc., a Califarnorporation.

" Consultant’ means any natural person who is engaged by thep@oy or any Parent or Subsidiary to render
consulting or advisory services to such entity ahd satisfies the requirements of subsection (@{Rule 701 under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

" Director" means a member of the Board.
" Disability " means total and permanent disability as defimeBidction 22(e)(3) of the Code.

" Employee" means any person, including officers and Dires;temployed by the Company or any Parent or Suby
of the Company. A Service Provider shall not caadse an Employee in the case of (i) any leavebeéace approved
by the Company or (ii) transfers between locatiofihe Company or between the Company, its PaaggtSubsidiary,
or any successor. For purposes of Incentive Stqitlofs, no such leave may exceed ninety (90) daysss
reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaed by statute or contract. If reemployment ugxquiration of a
leave of absence approved by the Company is ngaiamnteed, then three (3) months following the 8ag of such
leave, any Incentive Stock Option held by the Qi shall cease to be treated as an Incentive Stptikn and shall
be treated for tax purposes as a Nonstatutory Sigtion. Neither service as a Director nor paynuodrat director's fee
by the Company shall be sufficient to constitutepdoyment" by the Company.

" Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asdate

" Fair Market Valué' means, as of any date, the value of Common Stetdérmined as follows:

I. If the Common Stock is listed on any establisktk exchange or a national market system, inetudiithout
limitation the Nasdag National Market or The Nas&agallCap Market of The Nasdaq Stock Market, itis Fa
Market Value shall be the closing sales price tahsstock (or the closing bid, if no sales wereortgdl) as
guoted on such exchange or system on the day efrdigiation, as reported ithe Wall Sreet Journal or such
other source as the Administrator deems reliable;

II. If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by aagwized securities dealer but selling prices ateeymorted, its
Fair Market Value shall be the mean between thk hig and low asked prices for the Common Stockhen
day of determination; ¢



Il. In the absence of an established market forGbenmon Stock, the Fair Market Value thereof shall
determined in good faith by the Administrator.

" Incentive Stock Optiohmeans an Option intended to qualify as an ingergtock option within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Code.

" Nonstatutory Stock Optidhmeans an Option not intended to qualify as aemtige Stock Option.

" Option" means a stock option granted pursuant to the. Plan

" Option Agreemernit means a written or electronic agreement betwkerCompany and an Optionee evidencing the
terms and conditions of an individual Option grdrite Option Agreement is subject to the terms amtlitions of the
Plan.

" Optioned Stock means the Common Stock subject to an Option.

" Optione€" means the holder of an outstanding Option granteter the Plan.

" Parent' means a "parent corporation,” whether now or di¢ee existing, as defined in Section 424(e) ofCugle.
" Plan" means this 2000 Stock Option Plan.

" Service Providet means an Employee, Director or Consultant.

" Share" means a share of the Common Stock, as adjustectimrdance with Section 12 below.

" Subsidiary" means a "subsidiary corporation,” whether noeneafter existing, as defined in Section 424(fjhef
Code.

3. Stock Subject to the PlarSubject to the provisions of Section 12 of th@enPthe maximum aggregate number of Shares that

may be subject to option and sold under the PI&r0i80,000 Shares. The Shares may be authorizathtssued, or reacquired
Common Stock.

If an Option expires or becomes unexercisable withwaving been exercised in full, the unpurchaskdr& which we
subject thereto shall become available for futusngor sale under the Plan (unless the Plan masnated). However, Shai
that have actually been issued under the Plan, apercise of an Option, shall not be returned #&Rlan and shall not beco
available for future distribution under the Plaxcept that if Shares of restricted stock issuedsyamt to an Option &
repurchased by the Company at their original psetmice, such Shares shall become available forefigrant under the Pl

4. Administration of the Plan

A.

e

Administrator. The Plan shall be administered by the Board @ommittee appointed by the Board, which Committee
shall be constituted to comply with Applicable Laws

Powers of the AdministratorSubject to the provisions of the Plan and, indage of a Committee, the specific duties
delegated by the Board to such Committee, and sutagjghe approval of any relevant authorities, Aldeninistrator
shall have the authority in its discretion:

I. to determine the Fair Market Value;

Il. to select the Service Providers to whom Optioras/ from time to time be granted hereunder;
Ill. to determine the number of Shares to be covésedach such Option granted hereunder;
IV. to approve forms of agreement for use undeRlam;

V. to determine the terms and conditions of any @ptiranted hereunder. Such terms and conditiohsdacbut
are not limited to, the exercise price, the timéimes when Options may be exercised (which malyased on
performance criteria), any vesting acceleratiowaiver of forfeiture restrictions, and any resicator
limitation regarding any Option or the Common Stoelating thereto, based in each case on suchréaatothe
Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall detémm
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C.

VI. to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and réigukarelating to the Plan, including rules andulagions relating
to sub-plans established for the purpose of satigfggpplicable foreign laws;

VII. to allow Optionees to satisfy withholding takl@ations by electing to have the Company withHoten the
Shares to be issued upon exercise of an Optiomtimaber of Shares having a Fair Market Value etjutie
minimum amount required to be withheld. The Fairkéa VValue of the Shares to be withheld shall be
determined on the date that the amount of tax witléheld is to be determined. All elections by Opees to
have Shares withheld for this purpose shall be ntadach form and under such conditions as the Aimator
may deem necessary or advisable; and

VIII. to construe and interpret the terms of therPdmd Options granted pursuant to the Plan.

Effect of Administrator's DecisionAll decisions, determinations and interpretatiohthe Administrator shall be final
and binding on all Optionees.

Eligibility . Nonstatutory Stock Options may be granted to iSerroviders. Incentive Stock Options may be gdminly to
Employees.
Limitations.

A.

e

Incentive Stock Option Limit Each Option shall be designated in the OptioreAgrent as either an Incentive Stock
Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Howeverwititstanding such designation, to the extent thataggregate Fair
Market Value of the Shares with respect to whiatehtive Stock Options are exercisable for the finsé by the
Optionee during any calendar year (under all ptsfritke Company and any Parent or Subsidiary) exx$&60,000,
such Options shall be treated as Nonstatutory SBgatlons. For purposes of this Section 6(a), IngerStock Options
shall be taken into account in the order in whiatytwere granted. The Fair Market Value of the &hahall be
determined as of the time the Option with respestuich Shares is granted.

At-Will Employment. Neither the Plan nor any Option shall confer upop Optionee any right with respect to
continuing the Optionee's relationship as a Seviowider with the Company, nor shall it interfameany way with his
or her right or the Company's right to terminatehstelationship at any time, with or without caussed with or without
notice.

Term of Plan Subject to shareholder approval in accordande S&tction 18, the Plan shall become effective ufsoadoption
by the Board. Unless sooner terminated under Set#oit shall continue in effect for a term of {@0) years from the later of
(i) the effective date of the Plan, or (ii) the laf the most recent Board approval of an incr@afiee number of shares
reserved for issuance under the Plan.

Term of Option. The term of each Option shall be stated in thBd@pAgreement; provided, however, that the teralldhe no
more than ten (10) years from the date of granetifeln the case of an Incentive Stock Option tgdrio an Optionee who, at
the time the Option is granted, owns stock repitsgmore than ten percent (10%) of the voting poefeall classes of stock
of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, tha wfrthe Option shall be five (5) years from théedaf grant or such shorter
term as may be provided in the Option Agreement.

Option Exercise Price and Consideration

A.

Exercise Price The per share exercise price for the Shares tssbed upon exercise of an Option shall be suicke pis
is determined by the Administrator, but shall bbjsat to the following:

I. Inthe case of an Incentive Stock Option

A. granted to an Employee who, at the time of godrsuch Option, owns stock representing more than t
percent (10%) of the voting power of all classestotk of the Company or any Parent or Subsidihey,
exercise price shall be no less than 110% of tleNfarket Value per Share on the date of grant.

B. granted to any other Employee, the per Shareceseeprice shall be no less than 100% of the Fairkigt
Value per Share on the date of grant.

II. Inthe case of a Nonstatutory Stock Option

A. granted to a Service Provider who, at the timerahgof such Option, owns stock representing moae
ten percent (10%) of the voting power of all classestock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidia
the exercise price shall be no less than 110%eoFtir Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

B. granted to any other Service Provider, the per&kxercise price shall be no less than 85% of#dire
Market Value per Share on the date of gr



B.

Ill.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Options may lramgted with a per Share exercise price other tsaeguired
above pursuant to a merger or other corporateaciios.

Forms of ConsiderationThe consideration to be paid for the Shares tisdaged upon exercise of an Option, including

the method of payment, shall be determined by ttiiAistrator (and, in the case of an Incentive E@ption, shall be
determined at the time of grant). Such considematiay consist of, without limitation, (1) cash, eck, (3)
promissory note, (4) other Shares, provided Shaegsired directly from the Company (x) have been@dvby the
Optionee for more than six (6) months on the dasuoender, and (y) have a Fair Market Value endhte of
surrender equal to the aggregate exercise priteeddhares as to which such Option shall be exatcis

(5) consideration received by the Company undershless exercise program implemented by the Comipany
connection with the Plan, or (6) any combinationhaf foregoing methods of payment. In making itedination as t
the type of consideration to accept, the Administrahall consider if acceptance of such considsrahay be
reasonably expected to benefit the Company. Nostétiding the foregoing, the Administrator may péfemni Optionee
to exercise his or her Option by delivery of a-fi@ltourse promissory note secured by the purchalarks. The terms
of such promissory note shall be determined byAthainistrator in its sole discretion.

10. Exercise of Option

A.

e

o

©

Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Shareholdey Option granted hereunder shall be exercisabt®rding to the

terms hereof at such times and under such conditisrdetermined by the Administrator and set fiorthe Option
Agreement. Except in the case of Options grantaafficers, Directors and Consultants, Options shalome
exercisable at a rate of no less than 20% perguearfive (5) years from the date the Options aemted. Unless the
Administrator provides otherwise, vesting of Opti@ranted hereunder to officers and Directors dfefuspended
during any unpaid leave of absence. An Option nmaybe exercised for a fraction of a Share.

An Option shall be deemed exercised when the Coynpaceives (i) written or electronic notice of ecise (ir
accordance with the Option Agreement) from the @ermsntitied to exercise the Option, and (ii) fulyment for th
Shares with respect to which the Option is exetcisalll payment may consist of any consideratiod arethod c
payment authorized by the Administrator and peeditby the Option Agreement and the Plan. Sharedssipol
exercise of an Option shall be issued in the nafitbeoOptionee or, if requested by the Optioneeh& name of tt
Optionee and his or her spouse. Until the Sharessaued (as evidenced by the appropriate entth@mooks of th
Company or of a duly authorized transfer agenthef Company), no right to vote or receive dividendsany othe
rights as a shareholder shall exist with respethéoShares, notwithstanding the exercise of thego®pThe Compar
shall issue (or cause to be issued) such Sharesptoafter the Option is exercised. No adjustmeititbe made for
dividend or other right for which the record dageprior to the date the Shares are issued, excepravided i
Section 12 of the Plan.

Exercise of an Option in any manner shall resulaidecrease in the number of Shares thereaftelablaiboth fo
purposes of the Plan and for sale under the Opbipithe number of Shares as to which the Opti@xéscised.

Termination of Relationship as a Service Providéan Optionee ceases to be a Service Provideh ©ptionee may
exercise his or her Option within thirty (30) dayf¢ermination, or such longer period of time asdfied in the Option
Agreement, to the extent that the Option is vestethe date of termination (but in no event labamntthe expiration of
the term of the Option as set forth in the Optiagréement). If, on the date of termination, the @i is not vested as
to his or her entire Option, the Shares coverethbyunvested portion of the Option shall reveth® Plan. If, after
termination, the Optionee does not exercise higeoOption within the time specified by the Admtrégor, the Option
shall terminate, and the Shares covered by sucio®©glall revert to the Plan.

Disability of Optionee If an Optionee ceases to be a Service Providamrasult of the Optionee's Disability, the
Optionee may exercise his or her Option within(§)xmonths of termination, or such longer periodimie as specified
in the Option Agreement, to the extent the Optoudsted on the date of termination (but in no elatar than the
expiration of the term of such Option as set famtthe Option Agreement). If, on the date of teration, the Optionee
is not vested as to his or her entire Option, thar&s covered by the unvested portion of the Ostiadl revert to the
Plan. If, after termination, the Optionee doesearcise his or her Option within the time spedifieerein, the Option
shall terminate, and the Shares covered by suclo©giball revert to the Plan.

Death of Optioneelf an Optionee dies while a Service Provider,@ption may be exercised within six (6) months
following Optionee's death, or such longer peribtiroe as specified in the Option Agreement, toegRkeent that the
Option is vested on the date of death (but in renelater than the expiration of the term of sugii@n as set forth in
the Option Agreement) by the Optionee's designbéseficiary, provided such beneficiary has beeigdesed prior to
Optionee's death in a form acceptable to the Adstratior. If no such beneficiary has been designayetie Optionee,
then such Option may be exercised by the persepatsentative of the Optionee's estate or by tteopés) to whom
the Option is transferred pursuant to the Optiaedl or in accordance with the laws of descert distribution. If, at
the time of death, the Optionee is not vested &sstor her entire Option, the Shares covered bytivested portion of
the Option shall immediately revert to the PlarthE Option is not so exercised within the timecsid herein, the




Option shall terminate, and the Shares coveredibly ®ption shall revert to the Plan.

Limited Transferability of OptionsUnless determined otherwise by the Administrafiptions may not be sold, pledged,
assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposadasfy manner other than by will or the laws a$aknt and distribution, and
may be exercised during the lifetime of the Optaranly by the Optionee. If the Administrator ig #ole discretion makes an
Option transferable, such Option may only be tramsfl by (i) will, (ii) the laws of descent andtdisution, (iii) instrument to
an inter vivos or testamentary trust in which th#i@n is to be passed to beneficiaries upon théhdefethe Optionee, or (iv)
gift to a member of Optionee's immediate familygash term is defined in Rule 16a-1(e) of the ExgeaAct). In addition,
any transferable Option shall contain additionaheand conditions as the Administrator deems gpjate.

Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalizati on, Memye€hange in Control

A. Changes in CapitalizatiorSubject to any required action by the sharehsldéthe Company, the number and type of
Shares which have been authorized for issuance timel®lan but as to which no Options have yet lgganted or
which have been returned to the Plan upon caniallat expiration of an Option, and the number gip& of Shares
covered by each outstanding Option, as well aptive per Share covered by each such outstanditigr®ghall be
proportionately adjusted for any increase or deseréia the number or type of issued Shares resuftimg a stock split,
reverse stock split, stock dividend, combinatiomemiassification of the Common Stock, or any otherease or
decrease in the number of issued shares of Comtoak Effected without receipt of consideration bg Company.
The conversion of any convertible securities of@mnpany shall not be deemed to have been "effedgtbdut receipt
of consideration."” Such adjustment shall be mad#hbyBoard, whose determination in that respedt bbdinal,
binding and conclusive. Except as expressly pralitgrein, no issuance by the Company of sharetwci 8f any
class, or securities convertible into shares dfkstif any class, shall affect, and no adjustmenteagon thereof shall be
made with respect to, the number, type or pric8Blares subject to an Option.

e

Dissolution or Liquidation In the event of the proposed dissolution or ligtion of the Company, the Administrator
shall notify each Optionee as soon as practicatibe o the effective date of such proposed tratisacThe
Administrator in its discretion may provide for @ptionee to have the right to exercise his or hagidd until

fifteen (15) days prior to such transaction asltofathe Optioned Stock covered thereby, includBitares as to which
the Option would not otherwise be exercisable.dditon, the Administrator may provide that any Guany repurchas
option applicable to any Shares purchased uportiseeof an Option shall lapse as to all such Sharesided the
proposed dissolution or liquidation takes placthattime and in the manner contemplated. To thengit has not been
previously exercised, an Option will terminate intiaely prior to the consummation of such propcsetibn.

o

Change in Control In the event of a Change in Control, each outBtanoption shall automatically accelerate so that
each such option shall, immediately prior to tHea&fve date of the Change in Control, become fakgrcisable with
respect to the total number of shares of CommookSibthe time subject to such option and may lezased for any
or all of those shares as fully-vested shares ofifion Stock. However, an outstanding option shdlkocaccelerate if
and to the extent the acceleration of such ops@ubject to other limitations imposed by the Adstnator at the time
of the option grant.

Immediately following the consummation of the Charig Control, all outstanding options shall termdénand cease to
outstanding, except to the extent assumed by tteessor corporation (or parent thereof).

The portion of any Incentive Stock Option accelkedain connection with a Change in Control shall agmexercisable as
Incentive Stock Option only to the extent the aggdlle One Hundred Thousand Dollar ($100,000) litiitais not exceede
To the extent such dollar limitation is exceeddw, accelerated portion of such option shall be @sable as a Nonstatutc
Stock Option under Federal tax laws.

The outstanding options shall in no way affectrigat of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reoigaror otherwise change
capital or business structure or to merge, conatdiclissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer alhay part of its business or ass

Time of Granting OptionsThe date of grant of an Option shall, for allgaeses, be the date on which the Administrator makes

the determination granting such Option, or sucérldate as is determined by the Administrator. &éotif the determination
shall be given to each Service Provider to whor®ption is so granted within a reasonable time dfterdate of such grant.

Amendment and Termination of the Pl.an

A. Amendment and TerminatiarThe Board may at any time amend, alter, suspetetiminate the Plan.

B. Shareholder ApprovalThe Board shall obtain shareholder approval gfRlan amendment to the extent necessary anc

desirable to comply with Applicable Laws.

o

Effect of Amendment or Terminatic. No amendment, alteration, suspension or ternginaif the Plan shall impair tt




rights of any Optionee, unless mutually agreedretise between the Optionee and the Administrathickvagreement
must be in writing and signed by the Optionee &edGompany. Termination of the Plan shall not affiee
Administrator's ability to exercise the powers geahto it hereunder with respect to Options granteder the Plan prit
to the date of such termination.

15. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares

A. Legal Compliance Shares shall not be issued pursuant to the eeeofian Option unless the exercise of such Option
and the issuance and delivery of such Sharesabhalbly with Applicable Laws and shall be furthebmct to the
approval of counsel for the Company with respeaiutch compliance.

w

Investment Representations a condition to the exercise of an Option,Aldeninistrator may require the person
exercising such Option to represent and warratfiteatime of any such exercise that the Shareseing lpurchased on
for investment and without any present intentioset or distribute such Shares if, in the opingdrtounsel for the
Company, such a representation is required.

16. Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authofitym any regulatory body having jurisdiction,
which authority is deemed by the Company's coutaské necessary to the lawful issuance and saeyfthares hereunder,
shall relieve the Company of any liability in respef the failure to issue or sell such Shareoagttich such requisite author
shall not have been obtained.

17. Reservation of Share’The Company, during the term of this Plan, saidlll times reserve and keep available such nuaiber
Shares as shall be sufficient to satisfy the reauémts of the Plan.

18. Shareholder ApprovalThe Plan shall be subject to approval by theadi@ders of the Company within twelve (12) months
after the date the Plan is adopted. Such sharahaigeoval shall be obtained in the degree and eramguired under
Applicable Laws.

19. Information to OptioneesThe Company shall provide to each Optionee arghtd individual who acquires Shares pursuant tc
the Plan, not less frequently than annually dutirggperiod such Optionee has one or more Optiotsdamding, and, in the
case of an individual who acquires Shares purdoatiie Plan, during the period such individual ownsh Shares, copies of
annual financial statements. The Company shalbagequired to provide such statements to key eyppowhose duties in
connection with the Company assure their accesguovalent information.

NETERGY MICROELECTRONICS, INC
2000 STOCK OPTION PLAN
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms definetthe 2000 Stock Option Plan (the "Plan") shaléh¢éhe same defined meanings in
Stock Option Agreement.

I. NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

The undersigned Optionee has been granted an Qptiourchase Common Stock of Netergy Microelectsninc. (the "Company"), subj
to the terms and conditions of the Plan and thisd@pAgreement, as follows:

Name

Date of Grant

Vesting Commencement Date
Exercise Price per Share

Total Number of Shares Granted
Total Exercise Price

Type of Option Incentive Stock Option




Nonstatutory Stock Option

Term/Expiration Date

Vesting Schedule and Limitations

The Option shall become exercisable with respedi)towentyfive percent (25%) of the Option Shares upon Ot completion of one |
year of Service measured from the Vesting CommerogérDate and (i) the balance of the Option Shamea series of thirl-six (36,
successive equal monthly installments, subjectgtid@ee continuing to be an Employee, over thaytisix (36) month period measured fr
the first anniversary of the Vesting CommencemeateD

Following an assumption or substitution of the @ptiShares in connection with a merger or Changéantrol, if Optionee's status as
Employee of the Corporation or the successor catfor is terminated by the Corporation or successwporation as a result of
"Involuntary Termination" (as defined below) withiwo (2) years following their merger or ChangeCQantrol, Optionee shall fully vest
and have the right to exercise the option as tofalie Option Shares, including shares which wawdtlotherwise be vested or exercisable.

For this purpose, "Involuntary Termination" meaisvithout Optionee's express written consentgaificant reduction of Optionee's duties,
position or responsibilities, or the removal of s@ptionee from such position and responsibilitiedess the Optionee is provided with a
comparable position (i.e., a position of equal @ader organizational level, duties, authority, pemsation and status) relative to Optionee's
duties, position or responsibilities in effect inmairagely prior to such reduction; (ii) without Optiee's express written consent, a material
reduction by the Corporation or successor corpamati Optionee's base salary as in effect immelgiatéor to such reduction; (iii) without
Optionee's express written consent, a materialateatuby the Corporation or successor corporatiothe kind or level of employee benefits
to which Optionee is entitled immediately priorstach reduction with the result that Optionee's avdenefits package is significantly
reduced; (iv) without Optionee's express writtensamt, the relocation of Optionee to a facilityadocation more than fifty (50) miles from
his/her current location, or (v) any purported tertion of Optionee other than for "Cause" (asrudi below).

For this purpose, "Cause" means (i) any act ofqmetsdishonesty taken by Optionee in connectioh Wis or her responsibilities as an
Employee of the Corporation or successor corparatibich is intended to result in personal enrichnod©Optionee, (ii) Optionee's
conviction of a felony, (iii) any act by Optiondgat constitutes material misconduct and is injusitauthe Corporation or successor
corporation, or (iv) continued violations by Optemnof Optionee's obligations to the Corporatiosuarcessor corporation.

Termination Period

This Option shall be exercisable for thirty (30ysafter Optionee ceases to be an Employee. Uptior@e's death or Disability, this Opt
may be exercised for one (1) yedfter Optionee ceases to be an Employee. In noteway Optionee exercise this Option after
Term/Expiration Date as provided above.

IIl. AGREEMENT

1. Grant of Option The Plan Administrator of the Company hereby tgrémthe Optionee named in the Notice of Grard {tBptionee"), an
option (the "Option") to purchase the number of8haet forth in the Notice of Grant, at the exargirice per Share set forth in the Notice of
Grant (the "Exercise Price"), and subject to thmgeand conditions of the Plan, which is incorpeddterein by reference. Subject to

Section 14(c) of the Plan, in the event of a cahflietween the terms and conditions of the PlantlisdOption Agreement, the terms and
conditions of the Plan shall prevail.

If designated in the Notice of Grant as an Incenftock Option ("ISO"), this Option is intendedijaalify as an Incentive Stock Option as
defined in Section 422 of the Code. Neverthelesthe extent that it exceeds the $100,000 rulecafeCSection 422(d), this Option shall be
treated as a Nonstatutory Stock Option ("NSQO").

1. Exercise of Option

A. Right to Exercise This Option shall be exercisable during its témraccordance with the Vesting Schedule set out in
the Notice of Grant and with the applicable pravis of the Plan and this Option Agreement.

B. Method of Exercise This Option shall be exercisable by delivery ofexercise notice in the form attached as Exhibit A
(the "Exercise Notice") which shall state the atacto exercise the Option, the number of Shardis reispect to which
the Option is being exercised, and such other sgmtations and agreements as may be required IGotih@any
pursuant to the provisions of the Plan. The Exerblstice shall be accompanied by payment of theeagge Exercise
Price as to all Exercised Shares. This Option sfetleemed to be exercised upon receipt by the &aynpf such fully
executed Exercise Notice accompanied by the agtrégeercise Price.

No Shares shall be issued pursuant to the exeofiss Option unless such issuance and such execoisgly with Applicable Law:



Assuming such compliance, for income tax purposesShares shall be considered transferred to ttier@e on the date on which the Op
is exercised with respect to such Shares.
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Optionee's Representationtn the event the Shares have not been registerder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act"), at the time this Option is exeet, the Optionee shall, if required by the Conypapnncurrently with the
exercise of all or any portion of this Option, deli to the Company his or her Investment Repretient&tatement in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit.B

Lock-Up Period. Optionee hereby agrees that Optionee shall fiiet,qfledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any optis contract t
purchase, purchase any option or contract togmlht any option, right or warrant to purchased|ear otherwise transfer or
dispose of, directly or indirectly, any Common $t¢or other securities) of the Company or entes enty swap, hedging or
other arrangement that transfers to another, inewoin part, any of the economic consequenceswvoiership of any Commt
Stock (or other securities) of the Company hel®ipyionee (other than those included in the regismmafor a period specified
by the representative of the underwriters of Comi@tmtk (or other securities) of the Company naxoeed one hundred
eighty (180) days following the effective date akgistration statement of the Company filed unlerSecurities Act.

Optionee agrees to execute and deliver such otherements as may be reasonably requested by theabgnor th
underwriter which are consistent with the foregoimgwhich are necessary to give further effect @teerIn addition, |
requested by the Company or the representativeeofihderwriters of Common Stock (or other secwjtef the Compan
Optionee shall provide, within ten (10) days oftsuiequest, such information as may be requiredheyGompany or su
representative in connection with the completiorany public offering of the Company's securitiesspiant to a registratis
statement filed under the Securities Act. The ahians described in this Section shall not applg tegistration relating sole
to employee benefit plans on Form S-1 or Fori® &-similar forms that may be promulgated in theufe, or a registratic
relating solely to a Commission Rule 145 transacto Form $4 or similar forms that may be promulgated in theife. The
Company may impose stdmnsfer instructions with respect to the share€@hmon Stock (or other securities) subject t
foregoing restriction until the end of said one tad eighty (180) day period. Optionee agrees dingt transferee of a
Option shall be bound by this Section.

Method of PaymentPayment of the aggregate Exercise Price shdll/lany of the following, or a combination thereaif the
election of the Optionee:

A. cash or check;

B. consideration received by the Company undermadbrashless exercise program adopted by the Compan
connection with the Plan; or

C. surrender of other Shares which, (i) in the adsghares acquired from the Company, either diyemtl
indirectly, have been owned by the Optionee forartban six (6) months on the date of surrender(@ndave
a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender etputiie aggregate Exercise Price of the ExercisedeSh

Restrictions on ExerciseThis Option may not be exercised until such tasghe Plan has been approved by the shareholk
the Company, or if the issuance of such Shares gpolm exercise or the method of payment of conaiiter for such shares
would constitute a violation of any Applicable Law.

Non-Transferability of Option This Option may not be transferred in any mamtieerwise than by will or by the laws of
descent or distribution and may be exercised duhiedifetime of Optionee only by Optionee. Thensrof the Plan and this
Option Agreement shall be binding upon the exesytdministrators, heirs, successors and assighe @ptionee.

Term of Option. This Option may be exercised only within the tesahout in the Notice of Grant, and may be exectduring
such term only in accordance with the Plan andelras of this Option.

Tax Obligations

A. Withholding TaxesOptionee agrees to make appropriate arrangemetitshei Company (or the Parent or Subsidiary
employing or retaining Optionee) for the satisfactof all Federal, state, local and foreign incand employment tax
withholding requirements applicable to the Optiarreise. Optionee acknowledges and agrees th&@dhwany may
refuse to honor the exercise and refuse to deStares if such withholding amounts are not delivertethe time of
exercise.

Notice of Disqualifying Disposition of ISO Sharel the Option granted to Optionee herein is a@,18nd if Optionee
sells or otherwise disposes of any of the Shargsigex pursuant to the ISO on or before the latét pthe date two
years after the Date of Grant, or (2) the dateyamze after the date of exercise, the Optionee ghatlediately notify the
Company in writing of such disposition. Optioneeess that Optionee may be subject to income taxheiting by the
Company on the compensation income recognizedéptitionee.

e

Entire Agreement; Governing LawThe Plan is incorporated herein by reference.Alaa and this Option Agreement
constitute the entire agreement of the parties reisipect to the subject matter hereof and supersdteir entirety all prior
undertakings and agreements of the Company and@gtiwith respect to the subject matter hereof naaglnot be modified
adversely to the Optionee's interest except by sieéa writing signed by the Company and Optiofidés agreement is
governed by the internal substantive laws but hetchoice of law rules of Californi




2. No Guarantee of Continued Servid®®@PTIONEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTINGF SHARES
PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNEINQY BY CONTINUING AS AN EMPLOYEE AT
THE WILL OF THE COMPANY (NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF BRG HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS OPTION OR
ACQUIRING SHARES HEREUNDER). OPTIONEE FURTHER ACKN@.EDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS
AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDERND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH
HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PRASE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS AN
EMPLOYEE FOR THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR ALL, AND SHALL NOT INTERFERE IN ANY
WAY WITH OPTIONEE'S RIGHT OR THE COMPANY'S RIGHT TOERMINATE OPTIONEE'S RELATIONSHIP AS
AN EMPLOYEE AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.

Optionee acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Bfahrepresents that he or she is familiar withtéines and provisions thereof, and hel
accepts this Option subject to all of the terms prmbisions thereof. Optionee has reviewed the Blahthis Option in their entirety, has |
an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel pt® executing this Option and fully understandspabvisions of the Option. Option
hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusiveinaball decisions or interpretations of the Adisinator upon any questions arising ur
the Plan or this Option. Optionee further agreesatify the Company upon any change in the resideitress indicated below.

OPTIONEE NETERGY MICROELECTRONICS, INC.
Signature By
Print Name Title

Residence Address

EXHIBIT A
2000 STOCK OPTION PLAN
EXERCISE NOTICE
Netergy Microelectronics, In
2445 Mission College Blvd.
Santa Clara, CA 95054

Attention: |

1. Exercise of Option Effective as of today, , uthdersigned ("Optionee™) hereby elects to exercise
Optionee's option to purchase shardsed@dbmmon Stock (the "Shares") of . (thei@any") under and
pursuant to the 2000 Stock Option Plan (the "Plany) the Stock Option Agreement dated (the "Option

Agreement”).

Delivery of Payment Purchaser herewith delivers to the Company the@fuchase price of the Shares, as set forthen th
Option Agreement, and any and all withholding tastes in connection with the exercise of the Opt
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Representations of Optione®ptionee acknowledges that Optionee has receiead,and understood the Plan and the Option
Agreement and agrees to abide by and be boundeinytéinms and conditions.

Rights as ShareholdetJntil the issuance of the Shares (as evidencetidgppropriate entry on the books of the Company
of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Compang)ight to vote or receive dividends or any othights as a shareholder
shall exist with respect to the Optioned Stockwithistanding the exercise of the Option. The Shahedl be issued to the
Optionee as soon as practicable after the Optierdscised in accordance with the Option Agreem¥éatadjustment shall be
made for a dividend or other right for which thea®l date is prior to the date of issuance exceptravided in Section 12 of
the Plan.

Company's Right of First RefusaBefore any Shares held by Optionee or any trassféeither being sometimes referred to
herein as the "Holder") may be sold or otherwisedferred (including transfer by gift or operatafriaw), the Company or its
assignee(s) shall have a right of first refusglucchase the Shares on the terms and conditiofisretn this Section (the
"Right of First Refusal").

A. Notice of Proposed TransfeiThe Holder of the Shares shall deliver to the Gany a written notice (the "Notice")
stating: (i) the Holder's bona fide intention tdl se otherwise transfer such Shares; (ii) the nafeach proposed
purchaser or other transferee ("Proposed Trans)e(@d the number of Shares to be transferre@ach Proposed
Transferee; and (iv) the bona fide cash price bemtonsideration for which the Holder proposesadnsfer the Shares
(the "Offered Price"), and the Holder shall offiee Shares at the Offered Price to the Companys @siignee(s).

e

Exercise of Right of First Refusalt any time within thirty (30) days after recegdtthe Notice, the Company and/or
assignee(s) may, by giving written notice to thédeo, elect to purchase all, but not less tharohlthe Shares propos
to be transferred to any one or more of the Prapdsansferees, at the purchase price determinaddordance with
subsection (c) below.

o

Purchase PriceThe purchase price ("Purchase Price") for thee&haurchased by the Company or its assignee(&r
this Section shall be the Offered Price. If thegddfl Price includes consideration other than dashgash equivalent
value of the non- cash consideration shall be detexd by the Board of Directors of the Companyaodjfaith.

o

Payment Payment of the Purchase Price shall be madeeatgtion of the Company or its assignee(s), ih ¢ag
check), by cancellation of all or a portion of anytstanding indebtedness of the Holder to the Comgear, in the case
of repurchase by an assignee, to the assignely,amy combination thereof within thirty (30) degfter receipt of the
Notice or in the manner and at the times set fiorthe Notice.

m

Holder's Right to Transferlf all of the Shares proposed in the Notice tdrbasferred to a given Proposed Transferee
are not purchased by the Company and/or its assighas provided in this Section, then the Holday sell or
otherwise transfer such Shares to that Proposatsfenee at the Offered Price or at a higher ppoeyided that such
sale or other transfer is consummated within 13 @dter the date of the Notice, that any such satgher transfer is
effected in accordance with any applicable seasitaws and that the Proposed Transferee agreetiimg that the
provisions of this Section shall continue to applyhe Shares in the hands of such Proposed Traesfié the Shares
described in the Notice are not transferred tdRtoposed Transferee within such period, a new Nathall be given to
the Company, and the Company and/or its assigmedisagiain be offered the Right of First Refusdbbe any Shares
held by the Holder may be sold or otherwise tramste

m

Exception for Certain Family Transferénything to the contrary contained in this Sestimtwithstanding, the transfer
of any or all of the Shares during the Optiona&sime or on the Optionee's death by will or inéey to the Optionee's
immediate family or a trust for the benefit of Betionee's immediate family shall be exempt from ghovisions of thi
Section. "Immediate Family" as used herein shalim&pouse, lineal descendant or antecedent, fatiogher, brother
or sister. In such case, the transferee or otloipiest shall receive and hold the Shares so tearedd subject to the
provisions of this Section, and there shall beurther transfer of such Shares except in accordaitbethe terms of
this Section.

o)

Termination of Right of First RefusallThe Right of First Refusal shall terminate aang Shares upon the earlier of (i)
the first sale of Common Stock of the Company dbneral public, or (ii) a Change in Control inieththe successor
corporation has equity securities that are publicyged.

Tax Consultation Optionee understands that Optionee may suffegradvtax consequences as a result of Optionee€bgag
or disposition of the Shares. Optionee represéats@ptionee has consulted with any tax consult@ptsonee deems advisal
in connection with the purchase or dispositionhef Bhares and that Optionee is not relying on tiragany for any tax advice.

Restrictive Legends and Stdpansfer Orders

A. Legends. Optionee understands and agrees that the Congbafiycause the legends set forth below or leg
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substantially equivalent thereto, to be placed umoncertificate(s) evidencing ownership of ther8bdogether with
any other legends that may be required by the Cagnpaby state or federal securities laws:

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REBSFERED UNDER THE SECURITIES AC
OF 1933 (THE "ACT") AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD ORTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED (
HYPOTHECATED UNLESS AND UNTIL REGISTERED UNDER THEACT OR, IN THE OPINION Ol
COMPANY COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER OF THESEECURITIES, SUCH OFFER, SALE (
TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR HYPOTHECATION IS IN COMPLIANCEHEREWITH.

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SURJT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS O
TRANSFER AND A RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL HELD BY THESSUER OR ITS ASSIGNEE(S) AS SET FOR
IN THE EXERCISE NOTICE BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND THERDGINAL HOLDER OF THESE SHARES,
COPY OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED AT THE PRINCIPAL OFRIE OF THE ISSUER. SUCH TRANSFI
RESTRICTIONS AND RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL ARE BINDINGN TRANSFEREES OF THESE SHARES.

e

Stop Transfer Notices Optionee agrees that, in order to ensure congaiavith the restrictions referred to herein, the
Company may issue appropriate "stop transfer"uestns to its transfer agent, if any, and thathé& Company
transfers its own securities, it may make appropntations to the same effect in its own records.

o

Refusal to TransferThe Company shall not be required (i) to transfeits books any Shares that have been sold or
otherwise transferred in violation of any of theyisions of this Exercise Notice or (i) to treat@vner of such Shares
or to accord the right to vote or pay dividendamy purchaser or other transferee to whom sucheStsdrall have been
so transferred.

Successors and Assign§he Company may assign any of its rights underixercise Notice to single or multiple assignees,
and this Exercise Notice shall inure to the berdfthe successors and assigns of the Companye@&ubjthe restrictions on
transfer herein set forth, this Exercise Noticdldiebinding upon Optionee and his or her heixgcetors, administrators,
successors and assigns.

Interpretation Any dispute regarding the interpretation of thiercise Notice shall be submitted by Optioneeyothle
Company forthwith to the Administrator which shaliew such dispute at its next regular meeting fi@solution of such a
dispute by the Administrator shall be final anddiig on all parties.

Governing Law; SeverabilityThis Exercise Notice is governed by the integuddstantive laws but not the choice of law rules,
of California.

Entire Agreement The Plan and Option Agreement are incorporatedimdy reference. This Exercise Notice, the Plhe,
Option Agreement and the Investment Represent&iatement constitute the entire agreement of thtéepawith respect to tt
subject matter hereof and supersede in their éntiteprior undertakings and agreements of the gamy and Optionee with
respect to the subject matter hereof, and may eotddified adversely to the Optionee's interesepikby means of a writing
signed by the Company and Optionee.

Submitted by: Accepted by:

OPTIONEE NETERGY MICROELECTRONICS, INC.
Signature By

Print Name Title

Address: 2445 Mission College Blvd

Address Santa Clara, CA 95054

Date Received




OPTIONEE:

COMPANY:

SECURITY:

AMOUNT:

DATE:

EXHIBIT B

INVESTMENT REPRESENTATION STATEMENT

NETERGY MICROELECTRONICS, INC.

COMMON STOCK

In connection with the purchase of the above-li§edurities, the undersigned Optionee represerttetG@ompany the following:

A.

Optionee is aware of the Company's businessraféaid financial condition and has acquired swdfitinformation
about the Company to reach an informed and knowelglllg decision to acquire the Securities. Optiameequiring
these Securities for investment for Optionee's aagount only and not with a view to, or for resaleonnection with,
any "distribution” thereof within the meaning o&tBecurities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Seearhict").

Optionee acknowledges and understands that theriSes constitute "restricted securities” under Securities Act and
have not been registered under the SecuritiesmAmtliance upon a specific exemption therefrom,civlexemption
depends upon, among other things, the bona fideeaf Optionee's investment intent as expressegrhén this
connection, Optionee understands that, in the witte Securities and Exchange Commission, thetstigtbasis for
such exemption may be unavailable if Optionee'sessmtation was predicated solely upon a presagnition to hold
these Securities for the minimum capital gainsqeesipecified under tax statutes, for a deferreg, $af or until an
increase or decrease in the market price of tharBies, or for a period of one year or any ottieed period in the
future. Optionee further understands that the $esimust be held indefinitely unless they aressgjuently registered
under the Securities Act or an exemption from gegjistration is available. Optionee further ackredges and
understands that the Company is under no obligatizagister the Securities. Optionee understamatstihe certificate
evidencing the Securities will be imprinted withydagend required under applicable state secutdiss.

Optionee is familiar with the provisions of Rul@l and Rule 144, each promulgated under the Siesufict, which, in
substance, permit limited public resale of "restdcsecurities” acquired, directly or indirectlprn the issuer thereof, in
a non-public offering subject to the satisfactidrrertain conditions. Rule 701 provides that if ibsuer qualifies under
Rule 701 at the time of the grant of the Optiothi® Optionee, the exercise will be exempt fromsegtion under the
Securities Act. In the event the Company becombgstito the reporting requirements of Section 43%(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ninety (90) d&gseafter (or such longer period as any marketlstdihagreement
may require) the Securities exempt under Rule 78y bbe resold, subject to the satisfaction of certdithe conditions
specified by Rule 144, including: (1) the resalsbanade through a broker in an unsolicited "brkEansaction” or i
transactions directly with a market maker (as $ainh is defined under the Securities Exchange AtB84); and, in th
case of an affiliate, (2) the availability of cent@ublic information about the Company, (3) theoaimt of Securities
being sold during any three month period not exiteethe limitations specified in Rule 144(e), add the timely filing
of a Form 144, if applicable.

In the event that the Company does not qualify uflde 701 at the time of grant of the Option, tlie® Securities m:
be resold in certain limited circumstances subjedhe provisions of Rule 144, which requires tesate to occur n
less than one year after the later of the dat&dwirities were sold by the Company or the dat&Stwirities were sc
by an affiliate of the Company, within the meanwfgRule 144; and, in the case of acquisition of Seeurities by &
affiliate, or by a norsffiliate who subsequently holds the Securities &an two years, the satisfaction of the conds
set forth in sections (1), (2), (3) and (4) of gagagraph immediately above.

Optionee further understands that in the evdmifahe applicable requirements of Rule 701 or &delnot satisfied,
registration under the Securities Act, compliandth Regulation A, or some other registration exaorptvill be
required; and that, notwithstanding the fact thaleR 144 and 701 are not exclusive, the Staff @R&curities and
Exchange Commission has expressed its opiniorp#rabns proposing to sell private placement seesititther than in
a registered offering and otherwise than pursuaitles 144 or 701 will have a substantial burdgoroof in
establishing that an exemption from registratioavailable for such offers or sales, and that gerkons and their
respective brokers who participate in such tramsastdo so at their own risk. Optionee understdhdsno assuranci



can be given that any such other registration exempill be available in such event.

Signature of Optionee:

Date:

Exhibit 10.2:
CENTILE, INC.

2001 STOCK OPTION PLAN

1. Purposes of the PlarThe purposes of this Stock Option Plan are taettand retain the best available personnel feitipos
of substantial responsibility, to provide additibimzentive to Employees, Directors and Consultamis to promote the succe
of the Company's business. Options granted unéePldn may be Incentive Stock Options or Nonstagustock Options, as
determined by the Administrator at the time of gran

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions shadpéy:

A. " Administrator" means the Board or any of its Committees as flgadldministering the Plan in accordance with
Section 4 hereof.

B. " Applicable Laws' means the requirements relating to the administraf stock option plans under U.S. state
corporate laws, U.S. federal and state securii@s,lthe Code, any stock exchange or quotatioesysh which the
Common Stock is listed or quoted and the applickbies of any other country or jurisdiction whereti®ps are granted
under the Plan.

C. " Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company.

D. " Change in Contrdl means the occurrence of any of the following ¢sen
I.  Any "person” (as such term is used in Section@)l&8nd 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes theéfieial

owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchang8,Atirectly or indirectly, of securities of the @pany
representing fifty percent (50%) or more of thaltebting power represented by the Company's thestanding
voting securities; or

II. The consummation of the sale or dispositiontiy Company of all or substantially all of the Comya assets;
or

Ill. The consummation of a merger or consolidatibthe Company with any other corporation, othenthamerger
or consolidation which would result in the votirecarities of the Company outstanding immediateigrpr
thereto continuing to represent (either by remajrdntstanding or by being converted into votingusities of
the surviving entity or its parent) at least fifigrcent (50%) of the total voting power represeigthe voting
securities of the Company or such surviving erdityts parent outstanding immediately after suclhgaeor
consolidation.

E. " Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as asgend

F. " Committee' means a committee of Directors appointed by tharB in accordance with Section 4 hereof.
G. " Common Stock means the Common Stock of the Company.

H. " Company' means Centile, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

I. " Consultan" means any natural person who is engaged by thep@oy or any Parent or Subsidiary to rer



consulting or advisory services to such entity aha satisfies the requirements of subsection (g{Rule 701 under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

J. " Director" means a member of the Board.
K. " Disability " means total and permanent disability as defimeSdction 22(e)(3) of the Code.

L. " Employee" means any person, including officers and Direstemployed by the Company or any Parent or Suby
of the Company. A Service Provider shall not caadse an Employee in the case of (i) any leavebeéace approved
by the Company or (i) transfers between locatioiithe Company or between the Company, its PaaggtSubsidiary,
or any successor. For purposes of Incentive Stqitlofs, no such leave may exceed ninety (90) daysss
reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaed by statute or contract. If reemployment ugquiration of a
leave of absence approved by the Company is ngtia@anteed, then three (3) months following the 8ag of such
leave, any Incentive Stock Option held by the Qpim shall cease to be treated as an Incentive Stptikn and shall
be treated for tax purposes as a Nonstatutory Sigtion. Neither service as a Director nor paynodrat director's fee
by the Company shall be sufficient to constitutepdoyment" by the Company.

M. " Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, andetk

N. " Fair Market Valué' means, as of any date, the value of Common Stetdrmined as follows:

I. If the Common Stock is listed on any establiskEtk exchange or a national market system, inatudiithout
limitation the Nasdag National Market or The Nas&aaallCap Market of The Nasdaq Stock Market, its Fa
Market Value shall be the closing sales price tahsstock (or the closing bid, if no sales wereortgdl) as
guoted on such exchange or system on the day efrdigiation, as reported ithe Wall Sreet Journal or such
other source as the Administrator deems reliable;

II. If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by aagwized securities dealer but selling prices ateemorted, its
Fair Market Value shall be the mean between thk hig and low asked prices for the Common Stockhen
day of determination; or

Ill. In the absence of an established market for@Gbenmon Stock, the Fair Market Value thereof shall
determined in good faith by the Administrator.

O. "Incentive Stock Optiohmeans an Option intended to qualify as an ingergtock option within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Code.

P. " Nonstatutory Stock Optidhmeans an Option not intended to qualify as aemtize Stock Option.

Q. " Option" means a stock option granted pursuant to the. Plan

R. " Option Agreement means a written or electronic agreement betwkerCompany and an Optionee evidencing the
terms and conditions of an individual Option grarite Option Agreement is subject to the terms amdiitions of the
Plan.

S. " Optioned Stock means the Common Stock subject to an Option.

T. " Optione€' means the holder of an outstanding Option graateter the Plan.

U. " Parent' means a "parent corporation,” whether now or diftee existing, as defined in Section 424(e) ofGluele.
V. "Plan" means this 2001 Stock Option Plan.

W. " Service Providet means an Employee, Director or Consultant.

X. " Share" means a share of the Common Stock, as adjustactordance with Section 12 below.

Y. " Subsidiary" means a "subsidiary corporation,” whether nowmeneafter existing, as defined in Section 424(fthef
Code.

3. Stock Subject to the PlarSubject to the provisions of Section 12 of thenPthe maximum aggregate number of Shares that
may be subject to option and sold under the Pl&580,000 Shares. The Shares may be authorizathlsstued, or reacquire




Common Stock.

If an Option expires or becomes unexercisable withtaving been exercised in full, the unpurchaskdr& which wel
subject thereto shall become available for futuengor sale under the Plan (unless the Plan hasnated). However, Shai
that have actually been issued under the Plan, apercise of an Option, shall not be returned #&Rlan and shall not beco
available for future distribution under the Plaxcept that if Shares of restricted stock issuedsyamt to an Option &
repurchased by the Company at their original pwsetmice, such Shares shall become available forfgrant under the Ple

4. Administration of the Plan

A. Administrator. The Plan shall be administered by the Board @ommittee appointed by the Board, which Committee
shall be constituted to comply with Applicable Laws

e

Powers of the AdministratorSubject to the provisions of the Plan and, indage of a Committee, the specific duties
delegated by the Board to such Committee, and sutagjghe approval of any relevant authorities, Aldeninistrator
shall have the authority in its discretion:

I. to determine the Fair Market Value;

Il. to select the Service Providers to whom Optiorag/ from time to time be granted hereunder;
Ill. to determine the number of Shares to be covéredach such Option granted hereunder;
IV. to approve forms of agreement for use undeRiam,;

V. to determine the terms and conditions of any @ptjranted hereunder. Such terms and conditiohsdacbut
are not limited to, the exercise price, the timéimes when Options may be exercised (which malyased on
performance criteria), any vesting acceleratiowaiver of forfeiture restrictions, and any residator
limitation regarding any Option or the Common Stoelating thereto, based in each case on suchrfaasothe
Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall detéma

VI. to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and réigukarelating to the Plan, including rules andulagions relating
to sub-plans established for the purpose of satigfgpplicable foreign laws;

VII. to allow Optionees to satisfy withholding takl@ations by electing to have the Company withHoten the
Shares to be issued upon exercise of an Optiomthmber of Shares having a Fair Market Value etjutiie
minimum amount required to be withheld. The Fairkéa VValue of the Shares to be withheld shall be
determined on the date that the amount of tax witiéheld is to be determined. All elections by Opees to
have Shares withheld for this purpose shall be ntadach form and under such conditions as the Aimator
may deem necessary or advisable; and

VIII. to construe and interpret the terms of therPdmd Options granted pursuant to the Plan.

C. Effect of Administrator's DecisionAll decisions, determinations and interpretatiohthe Administrator shall be final
and binding on all Optionees.
Eligibility . Nonstatutory Stock Options may be granted to iSerroviders. Incentive Stock Options may be gdminly to
Employees.
6. Limitations.
A. Incentive Stock Option Limit Each Option shall be designated in the Optiore@grent as either an Incentive Stock
Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Howeverwitiistanding such designation, to the extent thattggregate Fair
Market Value of the Shares with respect to whiatehtive Stock Options are exercisable for the finse by the
Optionee during any calendar year (under all ptsfritke Company and any Parent or Subsidiary) exx$&60,000,
such Options shall be treated as Nonstatutory SByatlons. For purposes of this Section 6(a), IngerStock Options
shall be taken into account in the order in whinkytwere granted. The Fair Market Value of the &hahall be
determined as of the time the Option with respestuich Shares is granted.

o1

e

At-Will Employment. Neither the Plan nor any Option shall confer upop Optionee any right with respect to
continuing the Optionee's relationship as a Seiowider with the Company, nor shall it interfameany way with his

or her right or the Company's right to terminatetstelationship at any time, with or without caused with or without
notice.

7. Term of Plan Subject to shareholder approval in accordande 8&tction 18, the Plan shall become effective ufsoadoption
by the Board. Unless sooner terminated under Set#doit shall continue in effect for a term of {d®) years from the later



(i) the effective date of the Plan, or (ii) the &laf the most recent Board approval of an incr@afiee number of shares
reserved for issuance under the Plan.

8. Term of Option. The term of each Option shall be stated in thedbpAgreement; provided, however, that the teralidie no

more than ten (10) years from the date of grametifeln the case of an Incentive Stock Option tgdrio an Optionee who, at
the time the Option is granted, owns stock reptsgmore than ten percent (10%) of the voting poefeall classes of stock
of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, tha wfrthe Option shall be five (5) years from théedaf grant or such shorter
term as may be provided in the Option Agreement.

9. Option Exercise Price and Consideration

A. Exercise Price The per share exercise price for the Shares tesbed upon exercise of an Option shall be suicke pis
is determined by the Administrator, but shall bbjsat to the following:

I. Inthe case of an Incentive Stock Option

A. granted to an Employee who, at the time of godrsuch Option, owns stock representing more tean t
percent (10%) of the voting power of all classestotk of the Company or any Parent or Subsidihey,
exercise price shall be no less than 110% of tleNr@rket Value per Share on the date of grant.

B. granted to any other Employee, the per Shareceseeprice shall be no less than 100% of the Fairkigt
Value per Share on the date of grant.

II. Inthe case of a Nonstatutory Stock Option

A. granted to a Service Provider who, at the timerahgof such Option, owns stock representing maae
ten percent (10%) of the voting power of all classestock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidia
the exercise price shall be no less than 110%eoF#ir Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

B. granted to any other Service Provider, the per&kxercise price shall be no less than 85% of#ire
Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

Ill.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Options may lrargted with a per Share exercise price other tsaeguired
above pursuant to a merger or other corporateaciios.

B. Forms of ConsiderationThe consideration to be paid for the Shares tisdaged upon exercise of an Option, including
the method of payment, shall be determined by tiiaiAistrator (and, in the case of an Incentive E@ption, shall be
determined at the time of grant). Such considematiay consist of, without limitation, (1) cash, (eck, (3)
promissory note, (4) other Shares, provided Sheegsired directly from the Company (x) have been@dvby the
Optionee for more than six (6) months on the ddsuoender, and (y) have a Fair Market Value endhte of
surrender equal to the aggregate exercise priteeddhares as to which such Option shall be exatcis
(5) consideration received by the Company undexrshless exercise program implemented by the Comipany
connection with the Plan, or (6) any combinationhaf foregoing methods of payment. In making itedaination as t
the type of consideration to accept, the Administrahall consider if acceptance of such considerahay be
reasonably expected to benefit the Company. Nostétiding the foregoing, the Administrator may péfemni Optionee
to exercise his or her Option by delivery of a-fieltourse promissory note secured by the purchalsarks. The terms
of such promissory note shall be determined byAithainistrator in its sole discretion.

10. Exercise of Option

A. Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Shareholdey Option granted hereunder shall be exercisabterding to the
terms hereof at such times and under such conditisrdetermined by the Administrator and set fiorthe Option
Agreement. Except in the case of Options grantaafficers, Directors and Consultants, Options shatlome
exercisable at a rate of no less than 20% perguearfive (5) years from the date the Options aemted. Unless the
Administrator provides otherwise, vesting of Opti@ranted hereunder to officers and Directors dfefuspended
during any unpaid leave of absence. An Option nmaybe exercised for a fraction of a Share.

An Option shall be deemed exercised when the Coypaceives (i) written or electronic notice of ecise (ir
accordance with the Option Agreement) from the @ermsntitied to exercise the Option, and (ii) fulyment for th
Shares with respect to which the Option is exetcisalll payment may consist of any consideratiod arethod c
payment authorized by the Administrator and peeditby the Option Agreement and the Plan. Sharedssipol
exercise of an Option shall be issued in the nafitbeoOptionee or, if requested by the Optioneeh& name of tt
Optionee and his or her spouse. Until the Sharessaued (as evidenced by the appropriate entth@mooks of th
Company or of a duly authorized transfer agenthef Company), no right to vote or receive dividendsany othe
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rights as a shareholder shall exist with respeth@éoShares, notwithstanding the exercise of theo®pThe Compar
shall issue (or cause to be issued) such Sharegpgioafter the Option is exercised. No adjustmeititbe made for
dividend or other right for which the record daseprior to the date the Shares are issued, excepravided i
Section 12 of the Plan.

Exercise of an Option in any manner shall resulaidecrease in the number of Shares thereaftelablgiboth fo
purposes of the Plan and for sale under the Opbipithe number of Shares as to which the Opti@xéscised.

Termination of Relationship as a Service Providéan Optionee ceases to be a Service Provideh ©ptionee may
exercise his or her Option within thirty (30) dafgermination, or such longer period of time asdfied in the Option
Agreement, to the extent that the Option is vestethe date of termination (but in no event labentthe expiration of
the term of the Option as set forth in the Optiagréement). If, on the date of termination, the @ is not vested as
to his or her entire Option, the Shares coverethbyunvested portion of the Option shall revethi® Plan. If, after
termination, the Optionee does not exercise higeoOption within the time specified by the Admtrégor, the Option
shall terminate, and the Shares covered by suclo©giball revert to the Plan.

Disability of Optionee If an Optionee ceases to be a Service Providarrasult of the Optionee's Disability, the
Optionee may exercise his or her Option within(6ixmonths of termination, or such longer periodimie as specified
in the Option Agreement, to the extent the Optmwasted on the date of termination (but in no elatar than the
expiration of the term of such Option as set famtthe Option Agreement). If, on the date of teration, the Optionee
is not vested as to his or her entire Option, thar&s covered by the unvested portion of the Optiadtl revert to the
Plan. If, after termination, the Optionee doesaarcise his or her Option within the time spedifieerein, the Option
shall terminate, and the Shares covered by suclo®glhall revert to the Plan.

Death of Optioneelf an Optionee dies while a Service Provider,@ion may be exercised within six (6) months
following Optionee's death, or such longer peribtroe as specified in the Option Agreement, toaRktent that the
Option is vested on the date of death (but in renelater than the expiration of the term of sughi@n as set forth in
the Option Agreement) by the Optionee's designldeficiary, provided such beneficiary has beeigdased prior to
Optionee's death in a form acceptable to the Adstrietior. If no such beneficiary has been designiayetthe Optionee,
then such Option may be exercised by the persepatsentative of the Optionee's estate or by treopés) to whom
the Option is transferred pursuant to the Optianedl or in accordance with the laws of descerd distribution. If, at
the time of death, the Optionee is not vested &sstor her entire Option, the Shares covered bytivested portion of
the Option shall immediately revert to the PlarthE Option is not so exercised within the timecsimd herein, the
Option shall terminate, and the Shares coveredibly ®ption shall revert to the Plan.

Limited Transferability of OptionsUnless determined otherwise by the Administrafiptions may not be sold, pledged,

assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposadasfy manner other than by will or the laws a$aknt and distribution, and
may be exercised during the lifetime of the Optaranly by the Optionee. If the Administrator is #ole discretion makes an
Option transferable, such Option may only be tramsfl by (i) will, (ii) the laws of descent andtdisution, (iii) instrument to
an inter vivos or testamentary trust in which th#i@n is to be passed to beneficiaries upon théhdefethe Optionee, or (iv)
gift to a member of Optionee's immediate familygash term is defined in Rule 16a-1(e) of the ExgeaAct). In addition,
any transferable Option shall contain additionahteand conditions as the Administrator deems gpjate.

Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalizati on, MeaeChange in Control

A.

e

Changes in CapitalizationSubject to any required action by the sharehsldéthe Company, the number and type of
Shares which have been authorized for issuance timel®lan but as to which no Options have yet lgganted or
which have been returned to the Plan upon canigallat expiration of an Option, and the number gip@ of Shares
covered by each outstanding Option, as well aptive per Share covered by each such outstanditigr®ghall be
proportionately adjusted for any increase or desgréa the number or type of issued Shares resutimg a stock split,
reverse stock split, stock dividend, combinatiomemiassification of the Common Stock, or any otherease or
decrease in the number of issued shares of Commeok 8ffected without receipt of consideration bg Company.
The conversion of any convertible securities of@mnpany shall not be deemed to have been "effegtbdut receipt
of consideration.” Such adjustment shall be mad#énbyBoard, whose determination in that respedt bedinal,

binding and conclusive. Except as expressly pralitgrein, no issuance by the Company of sharetoci 8f any
class, or securities convertible into shares dfkstdf any class, shall affect, and no adjustmentelagon thereof shall be
made with respect to, the number, type or pricBhares subject to an Option.

Dissolution or Liquidation In the event of the proposed dissolution or ligtion of the Company, the Administrator
shall notify each Optionee as soon as practicatibe o the effective date of such proposed tratisacThe
Administrator in its discretion may provide for @ptionee to have the right to exercise his or haidd until

fifteen (15) days prior to such transaction aslitofahe Optioned Stock covered thereby, includ8ttares as to which
the Option would not otherwise be exercisable.dditon, the Administrator may provide that any Gmany repurchas
option applicable to any Shares purchased uportiseeof an Option shall lapse as to all such Sharesided the
proposed dissolution or liquidation takes placthattime and in the manner contemplated. To thengxt has not bee
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previously exercised, an Option will terminate indiaely prior to the consummation of such propasetibn.

o

Change in ContralIn the event of a Change in Control, each outhtanoption shall automatically accelerate so that
each such option shall, immediately prior to tHeafve date of the Change in Control, become faltgrcisable with
respect to the total number of shares of CommookSibthe time subject to such option and may lezaésed for any
or all of those shares as fully-vested shares ofit@on Stock. However, an outstanding option shdlkocaccelerate if
and to the extent the acceleration of such ops@ubject to other limitations imposed by the Adstiator at the time
of the option grant.

Immediately following the consummation of the Charig Control, all outstanding options shall terndnand cease to
outstanding, except to the extent assumed by ttmessor corporation (or parent thereof).

The portion of any Incentive Stock Option acceledain connection with a Change in Control shall agmexercisable as
Incentive Stock Option only to the extent the aggddle One Hundred Thousand Dollar ($100,000) litiitais not exceede
To the extent such dollar limitation is exceeddw, accelerated portion of such option shall be @saible as a Nonstatutc
Stock Option under Federal tax laws.

The outstanding options shall in no way affectrilght of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reoigaror otherwise change
capital or business structure or to merge, conatdictissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer albay part of its business or ass

Time of Granting OptionsThe date of grant of an Option shall, for allses, be the date on which the Administrator makes

the determination granting such Option, or sucérldate as is determined by the Administrator. &éotif the determination
shall be given to each Service Provider to whor@ation is so granted within a reasonable time dfterdate of such grant.

Amendment and Termination of the Pl.an

A. Amendment and TerminatianThe Board may at any time amend, alter, suspetetiminate the Plan.

B. Shareholder ApprovalThe Board shall obtain shareholder approval gfRian amendment to the extent necessary anc
desirable to comply with Applicable Laws.

o

Effect of Amendment or TerminatiarNo amendment, alteration, suspension or ternunaif the Plan shall impair the
rights of any Optionee, unless mutually agreedretise between the Optionee and the Administrathickvagreement
must be in writing and signed by the Optionee &edGompany. Termination of the Plan shall not affiee
Administrator's ability to exercise the powers geahto it hereunder with respect to Options gramnteder the Plan prit
to the date of such termination.

Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares

A. Legal Compliance Shares shall not be issued pursuant to the eeeofian Option unless the exercise of such Option
and the issuance and delivery of such Sharesabhalbly with Applicable Laws and shall be furthebmct to the
approval of counsel for the Company with respeaiutch compliance.

e

Investment Representationds a condition to the exercise of an Option,Aldeninistrator may require the person
exercising such Option to represent and warratiteatime of any such exercise that the Shareseing lpurchased on
for investment and without any present intentioseth or distribute such Shares if, in the opinadrtounsel for the
Company, such a representation is required.

Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authofitym any regulatory body having jurisdiction,
which authority is deemed by the Company's coutaské necessary to the lawful issuance and saeyBhares hereunder,
shall relieve the Company of any liability in respef the failure to issue or sell such Share®agitich such requisite author
shall not have been obtained.

Reservation of SharesThe Company, during the term of this Plan, shidll times reserve and keep available such nuwiber
Shares as shall be sufficient to satisfy the remuénmts of the Plan.

Shareholder ApprovalThe Plan shall be subject to approval by theedi@ders of the Company within twelve (12) months
after the date the Plan is adopted. Such sharahageoval shall be obtained in the degree and sramguired under
Applicable Laws.

Information to OptioneesThe Company shall provide to each Optionee arhth individual who acquires Shares pursuant tc
the Plan, not less frequently than annually dutiregperiod such Optionee has one or more Optiotsdanding, and, in the
case of an individual who acquires Shares purdathie Plan, during the period such individual owash Shares, copies




annual financial statements. The Company shalbagequired to provide such statements to key eyppowhose duties in
connection with the Company assure their accesguovalent information.

CENTILE, INC
2001 STOCK OPTION PLAN
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms definetthe 2001 Stock Option Plan (the "Plan") shaléh¢ghe same defined meanings in
Stock Option Agreement.

I. NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

The undersigned Optionee has been granted an Optiparchase Common Stock of Centile, Inc. (the@any"), subject to the terms ¢
conditions of the Plan and this Option Agreemesfolows:

Name

Date of Grant

Vesting Commencement Date

Exercise Price per Share

Total Number of Shares Granted

Total Exercise Price

Type of Option Incentive Stock Option
Nonstatutory Stock Option

Term/Expiration Date

Vesting Schedule and Limitations

The Option shall become exercisable with respedi)towentyfive percent (25%) of the Option Shares upon Ot completion of one |
year of Service measured from the Vesting CommepoérDate and (ii) the balance of the Option Shamea series of thiri-six (36
successive equal monthly installments, subjectgbid@ee continuing to be an Employee, over thayttsix (36) month period measured fr
the first anniversary of the Vesting CommencemeateD

Following an assumption or substitution of the @ptiShares in connection with a merger or Changéantrol, if Optionee's status as
Employee of the Corporation or the successor catfmor is terminated by the Corporation or successoporation as a result of
"Involuntary Termination" (as defined below) withiwo (2) years following their merger or ChangeCQantrol, Optionee shall fully vest
and have the right to exercise the option as tofalie Option Shares, including shares which wawdtlotherwise be vested or exercisable.

For this purpose, "Involuntary Termination" meaisvithout Optionee's express written consentgaificant reduction of Optionee's duties,
position or responsibilities, or the removal of s@ptionee from such position and responsibilitiesess the Optionee is provided with a
comparable position (i.e., a position of equal @ager organizational level, duties, authority, pemsation and status) relative to Optionee's
duties, position or responsibilities in effect inuffetely prior to such reduction; (i) without Optiee's express written consent, a material
reduction by the Corporation or successor corpamatii Optionee's base salary as in effect immelgliatéor to such reduction; (iii) without
Optionee's express written consent, a materialatemtuby the Corporation or successor corporatiothée kind or level of employee benefits
to which Optionee is entitled immediately priorstach reduction with the result that Optionee's alvdenefits package is significantly
reduced; (iv) without Optionee's express writtensamt, the relocation of Optionee to a facilityadocation more than fifty (50) miles from
his/her current location, or (v) any purported te@tion of Optionee other than for "Cause" (asrukdi below).

For this purpose, "Cause" means (i) any act ofgreisdishonesty taken by Optionee in connectioh Wi or her responsibilities as an
Employee of the Corporation or successor corparatibich is intended to result in personal enrichnod©Optionee, (ii) Optionee's
conviction of a felony, (iii) any act by Optiond®at constitutes material misconduct and is injuwitiuthe Corporation or successor
corporation, or (iv) continued violations by Opteof Optionee's obligations to the Corporatiosumcessor corporatio



Termination Period

This Option shall be exercisable for thirty (30ydafter Optionee ceases to be an Employee. Uptior@e's death or Disability, this Opt
may be exercised for one (1) yedfter Optionee ceases to be an Employee. In noteway Optionee exercise this Option after
Term/Expiration Date as provided above.

. AGREEMENT

1. Grant of Option The Plan Administrator of the Company hereby tgrém the Optionee named in the Notice of Grard {tBptionee"), an
option (the "Option") to purchase the number off8haet forth in the Notice of Grant, at the exsgrice per Share set forth in the Notice of
Grant (the "Exercise Price"), and subject to tlmgeand conditions of the Plan, which is incorpedaterein by reference. Subject to

Section 14(c) of the Plan, in the event of a cahflietween the terms and conditions of the PlantlisdOption Agreement, the terms and
conditions of the Plan shall prevail.

If designated in the Notice of Grant as an Incentock Option ("ISO"), this Option is intendedjaalify as an Incentive Stock Option as
defined in Section 422 of the Code. Neverthelesthe extent that it exceeds the $100,000 rulecafeCSection 422(d), this Option shall be
treated as a Nonstatutory Stock Option ("NSO").

1. Exercise of Option

A. Right to Exercise This Option shall be exercisable during its témraccordance with the Vesting Schedule set out in
the Notice of Grant and with the applicable pramis of the Plan and this Option Agreement.

B. Method of Exercise This Option shall be exercisable by delivery ofexercise notice in the form attached as Exhibit A
(the "Exercise Notice") which shall state the aét@tto exercise the Option, the number of Shardis reispect to which
the Option is being exercised, and such other semtations and agreements as may be required Ioi@any
pursuant to the provisions of the Plan. The Exerblstice shall be accompanied by payment of theeagge Exercise
Price as to all Exercised Shares. This Option dfetleemed to be exercised upon receipt by the &oynpf such fully
executed Exercise Notice accompanied by the agtrégeercise Price.

No Shares shall be issued pursuant to the exeofiss Option unless such issuance and such execoisgly with Applicable Law:
Assuming such compliance, for income tax purpoesShares shall be considered transferred to ttier@e on the date on which the Op
is exercised with respect to such Shares.

1. Optionee's Representations the event the Shares have not been registerder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act"), at the time this Option is exeet, the Optionee shall, if required by the Conypapnncurrently with the
exercise of all or any portion of this Option, deli to the Company his or her Investment Repretient&tatement in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit.B

™

Lock-Up Period. Optionee hereby agrees that Optionee shall fiiet,qfledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any opti contract t
purchase, purchase any option or contract togmlht any option, right or warrant to purchased|ar otherwise transfer or
dispose of, directly or indirectly, any Common $td¢or other securities) of the Company or entev enty swap, hedging or
other arrangement that transfers to another, inewoin part, any of the economic consequenceswvoiership of any Commt
Stock (or other securities) of the Company hel®ipyionee (other than those included in the regismmafor a period specified
by the representative of the underwriters of Comi@tmtk (or other securities) of the Company naxoeed one hundred
eighty (180) days following the effective date akgistration statement of the Company filed unilerSecurities Act.

Optionee agrees to execute and deliver such otherements as may be reasonably requested by theabgnor th
underwriter which are consistent with the foregoimgwhich are necessary to give further effect éteerIn addition, |
requested by the Company or the representativeeofihderwriters of Common Stock (or other secw)tef the Compan
Optionee shall provide, within ten (10) days oftsuiequest, such information as may be requiredhbyGompany or su
representative in connection with the completiorany public offering of the Company's securitiesspiant to a registratis
statement filed under the Securities Act. The ahians described in this Section shall not applg tegistration relating sole
to employee benefit plans on Form S-1 or Form $-8imilar forms that may be promulgated in the fafwr aregistratiol
relating solely to a Commission Rule 145 transacto Form $4 or similar forms that may be promulgated in theife. The
Company may impose stdmnsfer instructions with respect to the share€@hmon Stock (or other securities) subject t
foregoing restriction until the end of said one tgd eighty (180) day period. Optionee agrees déingt transferee of a
Option shall be bound by this Section.

v

Method of PaymentPayment of the aggregate Exercise Price shdlllany of the following, or a combination thereaif the
election of the Optionee:

A. cash or check;
B. consideration received by the Company undermdbrashless exercise program adopted by the Compan
connection with the Plan; «



C. surrender of other Shares which, (i) in the adsghares acquired from the Company, either diyemtl
indirectly, have been owned by the Optionee forartban six (6) months on the date of surrender(@ndave
a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender etputiie aggregate Exercise Price of the ExercisedeSh

1. Restrictions on ExerciseThis Option may not be exercised until such tasdghe Plan has been approved by the shareholk
the Company, or if the issuance of such Shares apolm exercise or the method of payment of conaiiter for such shares
would constitute a violation of any Applicable Law.

2. Non-Transferability of Option This Option may not be transferred in any marmkeerwise than by will or by the laws of

descent or distribution and may be exercised duhiedifetime of Optionee only by Optionee. Thentsrof the Plan and this

Option Agreement shall be binding upon the exesytdministrators, heirs, successors and assighe @ptionee.

Term of Option. This Option may be exercised only within the tesahout in the Notice of Grant, and may be exectburing

such term only in accordance with the Plan andelras of this Option.

Tax Obligations

|0

I~

A. Withholding TaxesOptionee agrees to make appropriate arrangemetitshei Company (or the Parent or Subsidiary
employing or retaining Optionee) for the satisfactof all Federal, state, local and foreign incand employment tax
withholding requirements applicable to the Optiarreise. Optionee acknowledges and agrees th&@dhwany may
refuse to honor the exercise and refuse to deSitvares if such withholding amounts are not deliertethe time of
exercise.

Notice of Disqualifying Disposition of ISO Sharel the Option granted to Optionee herein is a@,18nd if Optionee
sells or otherwise disposes of any of the Shargsigex pursuant to the ISO on or before the latét pthe date two
years after the Date of Grant, or (2) the dateyamze after the date of exercise, the Optionee ghatlediately notify the
Company in writing of such disposition. Optioneeess that Optionee may be subject to income taxheiting by the
Company on the compensation income recognizedéptitionee.

e

Entire Agreement; Governing Lawlhe Plan is incorporated herein by reference.Hlaa and this Option Agreement
constitute the entire agreement of the parties reisipect to the subject matter hereof and supersdteir entirety all prior
undertakings and agreements of the Company and@aiwith respect to the subject matter hereof naanglnot be modified
adversely to the Optionee's interest except by sie&a writing signed by the Company and Optiofides agreement is
governed by the internal substantive laws but lnetchoice of law rules of California.

=

No Guarantee of Continued Servic®®@PTIONEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTINGF SHARES
PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNEINQY BY CONTINUING AS AN EMPLOYEE AT
THE WILL OF THE COMPANY (NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF BRG HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS OPTION OR
ACQUIRING SHARES HEREUNDER). OPTIONEE FURTHER ACKN@.EDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS
AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDERND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH
HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROSE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS AN
EMPLOYEE FOR THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, O ALL, AND SHALL NOT INTERFERE IN ANY
WAY WITH OPTIONEE'S RIGHT OR THE COMPANY'S RIGHT TOERMINATE OPTIONEE'S RELATIONSHIP AS
AN EMPLOYEE AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.

™

Optionee acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Riahrepresents that he or she is familiar withté¢nens and provisions thereof, and he|
accepts this Option subject to all of the terms prmbisions thereof. Optionee has reviewed the Btahthis Option in their entirety, has |
an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel ptm executing this Option and fully understandspabvisions of the Option. Option
hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusiveinaball decisions or interpretations of the Adisinator upon any questions arising ur
the Plan or this Option. Optionee further agreasatify the Company upon any change in the residetress indicated below.

OPTIONEE CENTILE, INC.
Signature By
Print Name Title

Residence Address




EXHIBIT A
2001 STOCK OPTION PLAN
EXERCISE NOTICE
Centile, Inc.
2445 Mission College Blvd.
Santa Clara, CA 95054

Attention; |

1. Exercise of Option Effective as of today, , uthdersigned ("Optionee™) hereby elects to exercise
Optionee's option to purchase shardgedfdommon Stock (the "Shares") of . (treni@any") under and
pursuant to the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the "Plan{) the Stock Option Agreement dated (the "Option
Agreement").

N>

Delivery of Payment Purchaser herewith delivers to the Company the@fuchase price of the Shares, as set forthén th
Option Agreement, and any and all withholding tagtes in connection with the exercise of the Option.

v

Representations of Optione®ptionee acknowledges that Optionee has receiead,and understood the Plan and the Option
Agreement and agrees to abide by and be boundeinytéinms and conditions.

>

Rights as Shareholdetntil the issuance of the Shares (as evidencatidgppropriate entry on the books of the Compmany
of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Compang)ight to vote or receive dividends or any othights as a shareholder
shall exist with respect to the Optioned Stockwithistanding the exercise of the Option. The Shahedl be issued to the
Optionee as soon as practicable after the Optierdscised in accordance with the Option Agreem¥éatadjustment shall be
made for a dividend or other right for which thea®l date is prior to the date of issuance exceptravided in Section 12 of
the Plan.

o1

Company's Right of First RefusaBefore any Shares held by Optionee or any trassféeither being sometimes referred to
herein as the "Holder") may be sold or otherwisedferred (including transfer by gift or operatafriaw), the Company or its
assignee(s) shall have a right of first refusglucchase the Shares on the terms and conditiofisretn this Section (the
"Right of First Refusal").

A. Notice of Proposed TransfeiThe Holder of the Shares shall deliver to the Gany a written notice (the "Notice")
stating: (i) the Holder's bona fide intention tdl se otherwise transfer such Shares; (ii) the nafeach proposed
purchaser or other transferee ("Proposed Trans)e(@d the number of Shares to be transferre@éch Proposed
Transferee; and (iv) the bona fide cash price loeiotonsideration for which the Holder proposesdosfer the Shares
(the "Offered Price"), and the Holder shall offiee Shares at the Offered Price to the Companyg asiignee(s).

B. Exercise of Right of First Refusalt any time within thirty (30) days after receigdtthe Notice, the Company and/or
assignee(s) may, by giving written notice to thédeo, elect to purchase all, but not less tharoélthe Shares propos
to be transferred to any one or more of the Prapdsansferees, at the purchase price determinaddordance with
subsection (c) below.

C. Purchase PriceThe purchase price ("Purchase Price") for the&haurchased by the Company or its assignee(®r

this Section shall be the Offered Price. If thegddfl Price includes consideration other than dashgash equivalent
value of the non- cash consideration shall be detexd by the Board of Directors of the Companyaodjfaith.

D. Payment Payment of the Purchase Price shall be madeeatytion of the Company or its assignee(s), ih ¢bag

check), by cancellation of all or a portion of amytstanding indebtedness of the Holder to the Comgar, in the case
of repurchase by an assignee, to the assignely,amy combination thereof within thirty (30) degfter receipt of the
Notice or in the manner and at the times set fiorthe Notice
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Holder's Right to Transferlf all of the Shares proposed in the Notice tdrhesferred to a given Proposed Transferee
are not purchased by the Company and/or its assighas provided in this Section, then the Holday sell or
otherwise transfer such Shares to that Proposeatsfenee at the Offered Price or at a higher ppoayided that such
sale or other transfer is consummated within 13 @dter the date of the Notice, that any such satgther transfer is
effected in accordance with any applicable seasitaws and that the Proposed Transferee agreettiimg that the
provisions of this Section shall continue to applyhe Shares in the hands of such Proposed Traesfié the Shares
described in the Notice are not transferred tdRteposed Transferee within such period, a new Batiall be given to
the Company, and the Company and/or its assigiedisagiain be offered the Right of First Refusdbbe any Shares
held by the Holder may be sold or otherwise tramste

m

Exception for Certain Family Transferénything to the contrary contained in this Sectimtwithstanding, the transfer
of any or all of the Shares during the Optiong&time or on the Optionee's death by will or itiéey to the Optionee's
immediate family or a trust for the benefit of Betionee's immediate family shall be exempt froe ghovisions of thi
Section. "Immediate Family" as used herein shalim&pouse, lineal descendant or antecedent, fatiogher, brother
or sister. In such case, the transferee or otloipiest shall receive and hold the Shares so teared subject to the
provisions of this Section, and there shall beurther transfer of such Shares except in accordaitbehe terms of
this Section.

2

Termination of Right of First Refusallhe Right of First Refusal shall terminate aany Shares upon the earlier of (i)
the first sale of Common Stock of the Company ®dbneral public, or (ii) a Change in Control inieththe successor
corporation has equity securities that are publiciged.

Tax Consultation Optionee understands that Optionee may suffezradutax consequences as a result of Optioneebgng
or disposition of the Shares. Optionee represéats@ptionee has consulted with any tax consuli@ptionee deems advisal
in connection with the purchase or dispositionhef Bhares and that Optionee is not relying on tiragany for any tax advice.

Restrictive Legends and Stdpansfer Orders

A. Legends Optionee understands and agrees that the Congbafiycause the legends set forth below or legends
substantially equivalent thereto, to be placed wgoncertificate(s) evidencing ownership of therghdogether with
any other legends that may be required by the Cagnpaby state or federal securities laws:

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REBFERED UNDER THE SECURITIES AC
OF 1933 (THE "ACT") AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD ORTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED (
HYPOTHECATED UNLESS AND UNTIL REGISTERED UNDER THEACT OR, IN THE OPINION Ol
COMPANY COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER OF THESEECURITIES, SUCH OFFER, SALE (
TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR HYPOTHECATION IS IN COMPLIANCEHEREWITH.

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SURJT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS O
TRANSFER AND A RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL HELD BY THESSUER OR ITS ASSIGNEE(S) AS SET FOR
IN THE EXERCISE NOTICE BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND THERIGINAL HOLDER OF THESE SHARES,
COPY OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED AT THE PRINCIPAL OFRIE OF THE ISSUER. SUCH TRANSFI
RESTRICTIONS AND RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL ARE BINDINGN TRANSFEREES OF THESE SHARES.

B. StopTransfer Notices Optionee agrees that, in order to ensure cong®@iavith the restrictions referred to herein, the
Company may issue appropriate "stop transfer"uestsns to its transfer agent, if any, and thath& Company
transfers its own securities, it may make appropntations to the same effect in its own records.

C. Refusal to TransferThe Company shall not be required (i) to tranefeits books any Shares that have been sold or

otherwise transferred in violation of any of theyisions of this Exercise Notice or (ii) to treat@vner of such Shares
or to accord the right to vote or pay dividendany purchaser or other transferee to whom sucheStsnall have been
so transferred.

Successors and Assignshe Company may assign any of its rights undsriercise Notice to single or multiple assignees,
and this Exercise Notice shall inure to the berdfthe successors and assigns of the Companye@&ubjthe restrictions on
transfer herein set forth, this Exercise Noticdldiebinding upon Optionee and his or her heixgcetors, administrators,
successors and assigns.

Interpretation Any dispute regarding the interpretation of thisrcise Notice shall be submitted by Optioneeyoihie
Company forthwith to the Administrator which shaliew such dispute at its next regular meeting f@solution of such a
dispute by the Administrator shall be final anddiirg on all parties.

Governing Law; SeverabilityThis Exercise Notice is governed by the integuddstantive laws but not the choice of law rules,
of California.




11. Entire Agreement The Plan and Option Agreement are incorporateeitéy reference. This Exercise Notice, the Piha,
Option Agreement and the Investment Represent&iatement constitute the entire agreement of thtéepawith respect to tt
subject matter hereof and supersede in their éntiteprior undertakings and agreements of the gamy and Optionee with
respect to the subject matter hereof, and may eotddified adversely to the Optionee's interesepikby means of a writing
signed by the Company and Optionee.

OPTIONEE:

COMPANY:

SECURITY:

AMOUNT:

DATE:

Submitted by: Accepted by:
OPTIONEE CENTILE, INC.
Signature By

Print Name Title

Address: 2445 Mission College Blvd

Address Santa Clara, CA 95054

Date Received

EXHIBIT B

INVESTMENT REPRESENTATION STATEMENT

CENTILE, INC.

COMMON STOCK

In connection with the purchase of the above-li§edurities, the undersigned Optionee represerttet@ompany the following:

A.

Optionee is aware of the Company's businessraféaid financial condition and has acquired sudfitinformation
about the Company to reach an informed and knovelalg decision to acquire the Securities. Optiags@equiring
these Securities for investment for Optionee's aacount only and not with a view to, or for redaleonnection with,
any "distribution” thereof within the meaning oétBecurities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Seear#ict").

Optionee acknowledges and understands that thigriSes constitute "restricted securities" under Securities Act and
have not been registered under the SecuritiesnAmliance upon a specific exemption therefrom,civlexemption
depends upon, among other things, the bona fideenaf Optionee's investment intent as expressegrhén this
connection, Optionee understands that, in the wiktlie Securities and Exchange Commission, thatsiat basis for
such exemption may be unavailable if Optionee'sasmtation was predicated solely upon a preséatition to hold
these Securities for the minimum capital gainsqeespecified under tax statutes, for a deferreg, $af or until an
increase or decrease in the market price of tharies, or for a period of one year or any otheed period in the
future. Optionee further understands that the SEsimust be held indefinitely unless they aressgfuently registered
under the Securities Act or an exemption from gegfistration is available. Optionee further ackrenges and
understands that the Company is under no obligétioagister the Securities. Optionee understadmalsthe certificate
evidencing the Securities will be imprinted withydagend required under applicable state seculdies.



C. Optionee is familiar with the provisions of Rul@l and Rule 144, each promulgated under the Siesufict, which, in
substance, permit limited public resale of "res#dcsecurities” acquired, directly or indirectlgin the issuer thereof, in
a non-public offering subject to the satisfactidrrertain conditions. Rule 701 provides that if ibsuer qualifies under
Rule 701 at the time of the grant of the Optiothi Optionee, the exercise will be exempt fromsegtion under the
Securities Act. In the event the Company becombgstito the reporting requirements of Section 43%(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ninety (90) dawgsdafter (or such longer period as any marketstdhagreement
may require) the Securities exempt under Rule 78y bbe resold, subject to the satisfaction of certdithe conditions
specified by Rule 144, including: (1) the resalsbanade through a broker in an unsolicited "brkansaction” or i
transactions directly with a market maker (as saich is defined under the Securities Exchange AtB84); and, in th
case of an affiliate, (2) the availability of cent@ublic information about the Company, (3) theoaimt of Securities
being sold during any three month period not exiteethe limitations specified in Rule 144(e), add the timely filing
of a Form 144, if applicable.

In the event that the Company does not qualify uflde 701 at the time of grant of the Option, tiies Securities m:
be resold in certain limited circumstances subjedhe provisions of Rule 144, which requires tesafe to occur n
less than one year after the later of the dat&twirities were sold by the Company or the dat&Stwirities were sc
by an affiliate of the Company, within the meanwfgRule 144; and, in the case of acquisition of Seeurities by &
affiliate, or by a noreffiliate who subsequently holds the Securities kaan two years, the satisfaction of the conds
set forth in sections (1), (2), (3) and (4) of gagagraph immediately above.

D. Optionee further understands that in the evdmtfdhe applicable requirements of Rule 701 or &detnot satisfied,
registration under the Securities Act, compliandth Regulation A, or some other registration exaormptvill be
required; and that, notwithstanding the fact thaleR 144 and 701 are not exclusive, the Staff ®Rbacurities and
Exchange Commission has expressed its opiniorp#rabns proposing to sell private placement seesitither than in
a registered offering and otherwise than pursuaitles 144 or 701 will have a substantial burdgoroof in
establishing that an exemption from registratioavailable for such offers or sales, and that gerkons and their
respective brokers who participate in such tramsastdo so at their own risk. Optionee understahdsno assurances
can be given that any such other registration exemmvill be available in such event.

Signature of Optionee:

Date:

Exhibit 10.2¢

INVESTMENT AGREEMENT

This agreement is effective April 1, 2002 by ancbam8x8, Inc. ("8x8") and Joe Parkinson, Chairmaa @n employee of 8x8 ("Employee").

1.

INVESTMENT POOL. 8x8 will make available $1 mdh (the "Initial Pool") of its funds to Employeerfimvestment as he directs
(though Bryan Martin, CEO and David Stoll, CFO, algo authorized to make transactions, though Eyeglthen does not guarantee
against loss below the Initial Pool in the eventt tthey do; provided, however, that the CEO mayirec¢hat Employee make any
amounts available to 8x8 that the CEO deems nemefsahe operation of the company or the investhpool without affecting
Employee's guarantee against loss below the Iiittal).

GUARANTEE. At the end of each calendar quarteypon termination of this agreement, Employee paltsonally replenish the
Initial Pool to the extent that it has lost prirelipalue below $1M (but with a credit for any amtsuwithdrawn by 8x8) based on
publicly available quotes in the determinationttd CFO ("Replenishment Money"). Any subsequentgiase in value over the Initial
Pool will be returned to Employee at the end ofsegiuent calendar quarters, to the extent requiregistore Employee's past
Replenishment Money amounts.

BONUS. The Board of Directors of 8x8 intends (isutot obligated to do so), in its discretion,tt8&8 will pay Employee a bonus of
25% of the preax net positive change in value of the investnparl at the end of each quarter, to the extentshel investment po
has exceeded the value at the beginning of theeruand net of any increase that is returned tplByee to restore Employee's past
Replenishment Money amounts. It is anticipated éimgtsalary paid Employee since the date thatriti@llPool ("Inception Date") is
available for him to invest will reduce the amoohsuch bonus payable to Employee. To the extetEmployee has been paid full
bonuses for gains in the pool and the pool subsetyugeclines at the end of a quarter comparetdedeginning of the quarter, the
Employee will restore (and pay back to 8x8) 25%hefloss in value for such quarter; provided thatEmployee keeps what would
otherwise be his salary (so there is no replenistiitoethe extent of salary earned, only the portibhonus above salary). Whether



bonus is paid or not, to the extent of the 25%adhg in each quarter, that amount of gains may itrelvawn from the pool and
returned to 8x8 at the request of the CEO.

AUTHORITY AND POOL ENDS. The authority of Emplogéo enter into trades ends whenever the CEO idisisetion or
Employee decides to terminate the arrangement., ligpositions will be promptly liquidated, balascwill be rectified according to
paragraphs 2 and 3 above, and the funds returrtbe foank account of 8x8 immediately.

Agreed:
8x8, Inc. Joe Parkinson, Employee
By: /sl Bryan Martin /sl Joe Parkinson
Bryan Martin, CEO Joe Parkinson
EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT
Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation
3044007 Nova Scotia Company Nova Scotia, Canada
3044869 Nova Scotia Company Nova Scotia, Canada
Centile, Inc. Delaware, USA
Netergy Microelectronics, Inc. California, USA
Netergy Microelectronics, Ltd. United Kingdom
Netergy Networks Canada Company Nova Scotia, Ganad
Netergy Networks Canada Holding Company Delawd&A
Odisei S.A. France
UForce Holding Company Delaware, USA
Visit, Inc. California, USA
EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS



We hereby consent to the incorporation by referemt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N83-3928, 333-
32930, 333-32932, 333-49414, 333-80379 and 3332)540d Form S-8 (Nos. 333-30943, 333-50519, 88394
333-49410 and 3386296) of 8x8, Inc. of our report dated April 2902 relating to the consolidated finan
statements and financial statement schedule, vapplears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
May 21, 2002
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